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Accomplishments

Morningstar Managed Portfolios and Retirement Solutions 
showed year-over-year asset growth of approximately 55% and 
40%, respectively. Assets under management for Morningstar 
Managed Portfolios were approximately $7.3 billion as of 
December 31, 2013, up from $4.7 billion as of December 31, 
2012. Assets under management and advisement for Retirement 
Solutions were approximately $65.6 billion as of December 31, 
2013 versus $47.2 billion as of December 31, 2012. 

Although growth was slightly lower versus previous years, 
licenses for Morningstar Direct rose 15.2% to 8,514 globally. 

We launched Morningstar® for iPad®, a comprehensive mobile 
offering that helps investors monitor the markets, track 
their portfolios, and research investments using Morningstar 
data and analysis. 

We’re seeing signs of increased engagement among individual 
investors. After five years of declines, we saw a slight increase 
in U.S. Premium Membership subscriptions. 

Our research innovations continue to gain traction. We topped  
all firms in The Wall Street Journal’s 21st annual “Best on 
the Street” analysts survey with 13 winners—eight of whom 
ranked number one in their respective industries. We also rolled 
out quantitative ratings and reports for approximately 
28,000 equities globally, and we introduced the Morningstar® 
Analyst Rating™ for target-date funds. 

We increased our quarterly dividend by 36% from 12.5 cents 
to 17 cents per share. We returned $17.4 million to shareholders 
through dividends and $153.5 million through stock buybacks, 
while maintaining our strong balance sheet. 

Challenges 

We’re still developing the next-generation software for 
our investment research platforms, and the initiative has taken 
longer than expected. 

We moved to a more centralized organizational structure and 
made other changes to better serve our core customer 
groups. Adjusting to our new structure took time and focus 
throughout the company during the year. 

Companies that offer variable annuities have continued 
to face difficult market conditions, which has prompted some 
of our clients to begin managing their fund-of-funds port-
folios in-house instead of using outside subadvisors. Because 
of this trend, our Investment Advisory revenue was about 
$7.2 million lower in 2013 versus 2012, and assets 
under advisement for these services were down $10.8 billion 
over the same period. 

Despite margin improvement for the year, operating expense 
rose during the fourth quarter. 

Even though equity markets were significantly stronger in 2013, 
many of our clients remained cautious about spending. 

2013 Overview
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Operating Results
Net income (loss) from 
continuing operations 

Net income from discontinued 
operations

Net income (loss) attributable 
to Morningstar, Inc.

Diluted income (loss) per share

Weighted average shares 
outstanding—diluted

Cash Flows
Cash provided by operating 
activities

Capital expenditures

Free cash flow (1)

Balance Sheet Data
Cash, cash equivalents, and 
investments

Working capital

Total assets 

Deferred revenue

Long-term liabilities

Total equity

 $8,809 $28,882 $50,643 $73,334 $89,629 $82,129 $86,370 $98,357 $102,891 $123,529

 — — — — — — — — 5,188 —

 $8,809 $28,882 $50,643 $73,334 $89,629 $82,129 $86,370 $98,357 $108,079 $123,529

 $0.21 $0.65 $1.08 $1.52 $1.82 $1.65 $1.70 $1.92 $2.20 $2.66

 41,858 44,459 46,723 48,165 49,213 49,793 50,555 50,988 49,148 46,491

 $32,862 $48,445 $98,245 $111,037 $149,339 $101,256 $123,416 $164,976 $145,996 $186,658

      (7,730)          (7,451)          (4,722)        (11,346)        (48,519)         (12,372)        (14,771)        (23,322)        (30,039)        (33,583)

 $25,132 $40,994 $93,523 $99,691 $100,820 $88,884 $108,645 $141,654 $115,957 $153,075

 $95,463 $153,190 $163,751 $258,588 $297,577 $342,553 $365,416 $470,192 $321,418 $298,567

 16,902 90,374 70,021 149,490 179,819 236,595 254,556 341,400 217,245 166,602

 213,361 296,311 441,207 643,652 803,940 919,083 1,086,302 1,172,084 1,041,952 1,030,668

 63,363 71,155 100,525 129,302 130,270 127,114 146,267 155,494 146,015 149,225

 30,128 12,700 10,952 23,166 39,778 45,792 52,153 44,435 57,692 59,087

 64,381 167,770 262,792 402,415 530,245 665,789 781,425 857,016 726,895 691,290

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

(1) Free cash flow, which we define as cash provided by operating activities less capital expenditures, is considered a non-GAAP financial measure. 
This measure is not equivalent to any measure required to be reported under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and may not be comparable to similarly titled 
measures reported by other companies.

$179,658 $227,114 $315,175 $435,107 $502,457 $478,996

$17,735 $46,480 $77,527 $117,021 $138,876 $124,673

$25,132 $40,994 $93,523 $99,691 $100,820 $88,884

$555,351

$121,059

$108,645

$631,400

$138,415

$141,654

Revenue

Free Cash Flow1

Operating Income

Financial Highlights
(in thousands except per-share amounts)

28.8%

38.1%

15.5%
15.9%

13.7%

NMF
162.1%

66.8%
50.9%

18.7% –10.2% –2.9% 14.3%

19.1% 63.1%
128.1% 6.6% 1.1% –11.8% 22.2%

30.4%

$658,288

4.3%

$150,668

8.9%

$115,957

–18.1%

26.4%

38.8%

–4.7%

6.1%

$698,266

13.3%

$170,654

32.0%

$153,075
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Dear Morningstar shareholders,

We had another solid year in 2013. Our financial results improved, and we made 
progress on a number of key initiatives that will help set the stage for future 
growth. Our research innovations continue to gain traction, and we’ve been building 
deeper levels of customer understanding. All of these developments make me 
optimistic about our future. 

Most of our larger products fared well in 2013. Consolidated revenue rose 6% to 
$698.3 million, driven by positive results for Morningstar Direct, our institutional 
research platform. Morningstar Data, Morningstar Managed Portfolios, and Retirement 
Solutions also had positive results. We continued to face some challenges in our 
Investment Advisory business, though, where some of the firms we work with are now 
managing their fund-of-funds portfolios in-house instead of using outside subadvisors. 
Excluding negative currency effects (mainly from the weaker Australian dollar), 
organic revenue1 rose 7% for the year.

We try to moderate growth in our operating costs, and we were generally successful 
in 2013. Operating expense was up a modest 4% for the year, mainly because of higher 

Financial Overview

1Organic revenue is considered a non-GAAP financial measure. We provide a reconciliation to consolidated revenue on page 53.
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Morningstar, Inc. 2013 Annual Report 3

costs for salaries, depreciation, professional fees, and bonus expense. Operating income 
rose 13% to $170.7 million, and our operating margin was 24.4% for the year. 

Costs were higher during the fourth quarter, reflecting a step up in hiring as well as 
additional legal and professional fees. We’ve also been investing in a number of promising 
initiatives that we think will drive long-term growth. 

Morningstar generated free cash flow2 of $153.1 million in 2013, reflecting cash provided 
by operating activities of $186.7 million and $33.6 million of capital spending. 
Our capital expenditures were mainly for computer hardware and software, capitalized 
software development, and leasehold improvements for some of our offices. 

We used about $14.6 million in cash to acquire the remaining ownership stake in 
Morningstar Sweden, increasing our ownership position from 24% to 100%. 
We’ve been providing investment data and other research tools for investors in Sweden for 
more than a decade, and we’ve now fully integrated Morningstar Sweden with our other 
Nordic operations.

We’ve also returned money to shareholders via both buybacks and dividends. We paid a 
total of $17.4 million in dividends during 2013—an amount that reflects only three 
dividends instead of four because we moved up the timing of one dividend originally 
scheduled for 2013 into 2012 given the pending rise in tax rates. More recently, our board of 
directors increased our quarterly dividend from 12.5 cents to 17 cents per share. 
On the repurchase side, we purchased $153.5 million in shares during 2013, and the board 
approved an additional $200 million for our share repurchase authorization.

We generally favor buybacks over dividends, as long as we’re able to purchase shares 
at a price lower than our estimate of fair value. Buying back shares effectively 
increases the ownership percentage for each shareholder as the total number of shares 
declines. We finished the year with 45.0 million shares outstanding and $250.2 million 

2 Free cash flow is also considered a non-GAAP measure. Please refer to page 1 for reconciliation to cash provided by operating activities.
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Letter to Shareholders

remaining under our share repurchase authorization. Buybacks also give shareholders 
more control over the timing of when to realize taxable events. 

Morningstar’s balance sheet remains pristine. We finished the year with $298.6 million 
in cash and investments. That’s down slightly from $321.4 million at the end of 2012, 
but still gives us ample flexibility to pursue opportunities that can help us build value. 

Our major strategic goal is to widen Morningstar’s “economic moat,” or sustainable 
competitive advantage, which should translate into higher shareholder value over time. 
We’ve identified three main sources of moat for Morningstar:  

Our independent ratings, research, and design fuel the analytical frameworks 
that set Morningstar apart and power our brand, adding value to our intangible assets; 
Our software, data, design, and analytical frameworks help build loyalty with our 
customers, making them more likely to stay with our solutions for the long haul; and
Our focus on serving investors first creates a network effect with financial 
advisors, asset management firms, and retirement plan sponsors and providers 
because their clients rely on Morningstar as a trusted source.

We aim to widen our economic moat by focusing on three key objectives: 

Develop the next-generation software for our investment research platforms 
with an elegant and intuitive user experience for our customers; 
Deliver the most effective investment data, research, and ratings to help investors 
reach their financial goals; and 
Be a world-class investment management organization based on our 
proprietary research.

We apply these objectives to four major customer groups where we see the 
greatest opportunities for Morningstar: advisor, asset management, retirement, and 
individual investor. We made good progress in each of these areas in 2013.

Strategy 
and Key Objectives
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Morningstar, Inc. 2013 Annual Report 5

Advisor
We reach about 260,000 financial advisors globally, and our products and tools are deeply 
embedded in many parts of their daily workflows. Combined licenses for Morningstar 
Advisor Workstation and Morningstar Office, our flagship offerings for financial advisors, 
rose about 4% to approximately 170,000 in 2013. Revenue for Principia, a CD-ROM-based 
product we plan to discontinue in 2014, was down about $4.8 million. We also 
completed the migration of all clients in the United States to our new Morningstar Advisor 
Workstation 2.0 platform, which will help us in our efforts to consolidate and simplify 
our product lines.

Our Morningstar Managed Portfolios service is another popular offering for financial 
advisors. It’s a fee-based discretionary asset management service that financial advisors 
can offer to their clients. By outsourcing portfolio management to our programs, 
advisors can free up more time to focus on client service and relationship management. 
Assets under management and advisement rose more than 55% to $7.3 billion in 2013. 

Portfolio performance was mixed in 2013. Diversification doesn’t always play well in 
market rallies, and slightly more than half of our portfolios lagged their benchmarks as the 
market surged. For the trailing five-year period, though, the majority of our portfolios 
have generated better risk-adjusted returns versus their benchmarks. 

To build this business, we plan to focus on helping advisors with a broad range of tasks. 
We’re expanding our mobile solutions, upgrading the Managed Portfolios platform, 
and closely integrating our software with client data, custodians, and clearing firms to 
support advisors in their work with individual investors. 

Asset management 
We have client relationships with about 1,500 asset management firms globally. 
Our clients here include individuals involved in sales, marketing, product development, and 
distribution, as well as investment management (the “buy side”), which includes portfolio 
management, research, and securities analysis.

Major Customer 
Groups
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Letter to Shareholders

Morningstar Direct was a star performer again in 2013. The number of global licenses 
rose to about 8,500 by the end of 2013, compared with about 7,400 at the end of 
2012 and 6,100 at the end of 2011. Revenue for Morningstar Data, which is our largest 
product and gives institutions access to a full range of proprietary data spanning 
numerous investment databases, was up about 12% for the year. 

On the negative side, companies that offer variable annuities have faced tough times 
for the past couple of years. This trend has led some of our clients to begin 
managing their fund-of-funds portfolios in-house instead of using outside subadvisors. 
As a result, our Investment Advisory revenue was about $7.2 million lower in 2013 
versus 2012, and assets under advisement for these services were down $10.8 billion 
over the same period.

In addition to our next-generation software architecture, other major initiatives for this 
customer group include developing more solutions related to exchange-traded funds 
and other passively managed portfolios, building our regulatory thought leadership, 
and creating new proprietary metrics and data points for stocks and other securities. 
 
Retirement
We currently reach about 24 million retirement plan participants through 
approximately 237,000 plan sponsors and 26 plan providers. We believe we’re uniquely 
positioned in the market as the only company that offers a full range of scalable, 
customizable retirement solutions driven by proprietary investment methodologies. 
We also help retirement plan sponsors enhance their investment lineups, meet their 
fiduciary obligations, and help their employees better prepare for retirement. 

Total assets under management and advisement for Retirement Solutions rose about 
40% to $65.6 billion in 2013. We entered into an agreement with Charles 
Schwab to add Morningstar to Schwab’s Index Advantage program, which uses 
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Morningstar, Inc. 2013 Annual Report 7

low-cost investments (index funds or ETFs) with professional management from 
Morningstar to provide an effective way to help participants prepare for retirement.

We’re focusing on managed retirement accounts, which is the largest and fastest-growing 
product offering within our Retirement Solutions business. We plan to enhance our 
user interface, add solutions that allow investors to save for multiple goals, and 
incorporate a broader range of factors for retirement planning, such as health-care costs. 
We also plan to expand our offerings in a few select markets outside the United States. 

Individual investor
We reach approximately 9.3 million individual investors globally, mainly through our retail 
investment website, www.morningstar.com. In the wake of the financial crisis in 
2008 and 2009, we saw several years of declining activity among individual investors, but 
their interest level rekindled as the market posted strong gains in 2013. Based on 
data from ComScore, aggregate page views to financial and investment sites rose about 
9% in 2013, while the number of unique users was up about 11%. Revenue for Morningstar.
com increased about 4% for the year, thanks to stronger advertising sales and a small 
uptick in Premium Memberships.

We recently launched Morningstar for iPad, a comprehensive mobile offering that helps 
investors monitor the markets, track their portfolios, and research investments using 
Morningstar data and analysis. We believe this app sets a high standard for visual design, 
technology, and user experience. Feedback from users has been positive, too. 

We’re continuing to improve the user experience for all of our retail offerings. Our work for 
individual investors has important synergies in driving the “network effect” I mentioned 
earlier. Because so many investors rely on Morningstar’s research and tools, our extensive 
reach also drives demand from our other customer groups. We also reach millions of 
individual investors through our partnership with other websites (such as Yahoo Finance, 
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Letter to Shareholders

MSN Money, and Google Finance) and through our investment management 
offerings (including Investment Advisory, Retirement Solutions, and Morningstar 
Managed Portfolios). 

Research
Innovative, proprietary research is a key differentiator for us. While many other 
companies offer software, data, or investment management, what sets us apart is our 
focus on creating new frameworks that deliver insight at every step in the 
investment decision-making process. Our proprietary research adds value to our brand, 
helps build customer loyalty, and creates network effects with our four major 
customer groups. 

Our research innovations continue to gain traction. We topped all firms in 
The Wall Street Journal’s 21st annual “Best on the Street” analysts survey with 13 
winners—eight of whom ranked number one in their respective industries. 
We also rolled out quantitative ratings and reports for approximately 28,000 equities 
globally, and we introduced the Morningstar Analyst Rating for target-date funds.

Our structured credit research and ratings unit did well last year, too. New-issue 
volume for commercial mortgage-backed securities has been strong, and we plan to 
expand our research and ratings on other structured credits, such as residential 
mortgage-backed securities. Leading these efforts is Vickie Tillman, who comes to us 
with more than 30 years of experience at McGraw-Hill’s Standard & Poor’s 
Rating Services business. She joined Morningstar as president of Morningstar Credit 
Ratings, LLC, in September 2013 and will help us build our credit research and 
ratings business. We see a great growth opportunity in this area and plan to invest to 
expand our offerings.

Our research and data teams are now part of the same group within the company, 
which is a win for both areas as we can use our proprietary data to enhance our 
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research insights, and vice versa. We’ve also been working to consolidate and streamline 
our investment databases, which will help us deliver consistent, easily accessible data 
to our clients. 

Technology, Sales, and Operations
The new software architecture we’re developing for our investment research platforms 
will allow us to create capabilities and tools that take our software to a much higher 
design standard that’s more intuitive, elegant, and easy to use and helps ensure a more 
consistent, cohesive “signature Morningstar” user experience. It also has several 
technological advantages, including a more streamlined design and development process 
for commonly used Morningstar capabilities such as portfolio management tools. 

This is a major initiative, and we plan to start rolling it out as part of Morningstar Direct 
in 2014. The new framework will be a significant upgrade to our user interfaces 
and the way we deliver technology applications to our clients. We’ve also made numerous 
improvements to our technology infrastructure for database management, content 
management, financial systems and sales, and other areas.

Quality is another major area of focus for us, and we’re leveraging our expertise in Lean 
Six Sigma and other quality disciplines from our data operations to all parts of our 
organization. We’re also focusing on developing long-term relationships with our clients 
and empowering people at all levels of the company to help our clients. 

Management and Board Changes
As I mentioned in last year’s letter, we moved to a more centralized organizational 
structure during 2013 and made other changes to better serve our core customer groups. 
Adjusting to these changes took time and focus throughout during the year, but the new 
structure should give us a strong foundation for future growth. Clients have 
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Letter to Shareholders

responded well as we’ve been able to bring them more relevant solutions and develop 
a deeper understanding of their needs.

Stéphane Biehler, formerly chief accounting officer for NYSE Euronext, became 
our new CFO in November 2013. He has a wealth of experience at global technology 
and financial services firms and has already made significant contributions to our 
finance operations.

Two of our long-time leaders, Don Phillips and Chris Boruff, decided to scale 
back their positions and work part time. I’m happy to report that they’ll both be staying 
with Morningstar in different roles, and we’re fortunate to have a deep bench of 
management talent to draw from. 

Haywood Kelly, who most recently headed up our equity, credit, and structured 
credit research teams, took over Don’s role as global head of Research. Haywood is a 
22-year Morningstar veteran and has led numerous key initiatives for us, including 
significantly expanding our equity research coverage, launching corporate 
credit ratings, and most recently, leading our structured credit unit. Haywood is a 
brilliant researcher and strong leader who is a natural fit for this role.

Kunal Kapoor, who has led our Client Solutions group for the past year, is now wearing 
two hats as head of both the Information Products and Client Solutions groups. 
Kunal is an outstanding leader who has held many key positions at Morningstar over 
the past 17 years. He brings extensive experience in investment research, software, 
and business development to his expanded role.
 
We were also pleased to welcome Gail Landis to our board of directors in May 2013. 
Gail was a founding partner of Evercore Asset Management, LLC and has had 
a 30-year career on Wall Street as an investor, business leader, and entrepreneur. 
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Conclusion
We’ll celebrate our 30th anniversary in May this year. I’m incredibly proud of how 
Morningstar has helped make the world a better place for investors over the past three 
decades, and even more excited about our prospects for the future. Just three 
days before Morningstar officially turns 30, we’ll hold our annual shareholders’ meeting at 
9 a.m. on Tuesday, May 13 at our offices in Chicago. As always, we’re planning an 
informative meeting with plenty of time for any questions you’d like to ask about our 
strategy and financial results. I hope you can join us.

Sincerely,

Joe Mansueto
Chairman and CEO
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Part I

Item 1. Business

Overview

Morningstar is a leading provider of independent investment 
research in North America, Europe, Australia, and Asia. Our mission 
is to create great products that help investors reach their financial 
goals. We offer an extensive line of products and services for fin-
ancial advisors, asset managers, retirement plan providers and  
sponsors, and individual investors. In addition to our U.S.-based 
products and services, we offer local versions of our products 
designed for investors in Asia, Australia, Canada, Europe, Latin 
America, and South Africa. Morningstar serves approximately 
260,000 financial advisors, 1,500 asset management firms, 26  
retirement plan providers, 237,000 retirement plan sponsors, and 
9.3 million individual investors. We have operations in 27 countries.

In the third quarter of 2013, we revised our segment reporting to 
reflect our shift to a more centralized organizational structure. We 
now report our results in a single reportable segment and have 
changed the presentation of our prior-period results to reflect our 
new segment structure.

We maintain a series of comprehensive databases on many types 
of investments, focusing on investment vehicles that are widely 
used by investors globally. After building these databases, we add 
value and insight to the data by applying our core skills of research, 
technology, and design. As of December 31, 2013, we provided 
extensive data on approximately 420,000 investments, including:

UU 155,000 open-end mutual funds globally;
UU 10,700 exchange-traded funds (ETFs);
UU 6,300 closed-end funds;
UU 34,500 stocks;
UU 5,800 hedge funds;
UU 10,300 separate accounts and collective investment trusts;
UU 115,400 variable annuity/life subaccounts and policies;
UU 61,900 insurance, pension, and life funds;
UU 14,000 unit investment trusts; and
UU 4,600 state-sponsored college savings plan portfolios  
(commonly known as Section 529 College Savings Plans).

Our investment database also includes:

UU 87 years of capital markets data capturing performance  
of several major asset classes;
UU extensive cash flow, ownership, and biographical data  
on directors and officers;
UU security-level identification information;
UU regulatory documents, disclosure filings,  
and conference-call transcripts;
UU real-time market data on more than 9 million  
exchange-traded equities, derivatives, commodities,  
futures, foreign exchanges, precious metals, news,  
company fundamentals, and analytics; and
UU real-time price quotes for global foreign currencies.

Our business model is based on leveraging our investments in these 
databases by selling a wide variety of products and services to 
individual investors, financial advisors, asset managers, and retire-
ment plan providers and sponsors around the world.

Our data and proprietary analytical tools such as the Morningstar 
Rating for mutual funds, which rates past performance based on 
risk- and cost-adjusted returns, and the Morningstar Style Box, which 
provides a visual summary of a mutual fund’s underlying investment 
style, have become important tools that millions of investors and 
advisors use in making investment decisions. We’ve created  
other tools, such as the Ownership Zone, Sector Delta, and Market 
Barometer, which allow investors to see how different investments 
work together to form a portfolio and to track its progress. Our 
popular Portfolio X-Ray tool helps investors reduce risk and  
understand the key characteristics of their portfolios based on  
nine different factors. In 2012, we published research on “Gamma,” 
an innovative measure that quantifies how much additional retire-
ment income investors can generate by making better financial 
planning decisions.

As part of our research efforts on individual stocks, we popularized 
the concepts of economic moat, a measure of competitive advantage 
originally developed by Warren Buffett, and margin of safety, which 
reflects the size of the discount in a stock’s price relative to its 
estimated value. The Morningstar Rating for stocks is based on the 
stock’s current price relative to our analyst-generated fair value 
estimates, as well as the company’s level of business risk and economic 
moat. Our analysts cover approximately 1,600 stocks, using a con-
sistent, proprietary methodology that focuses on fundamental analysis, 
competitive advantage assessment, and intrinsic value estimation. 
In 2013, 12 of our equity analysts were included in The Wall Street 
Journal’s 21st annual “Best on the Street” analysts survey.
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Quantitative Rating

Our quantitative equity ratings are generated by a statistical 
model based on analyst-driven measures, including Morningstar’s  
Economic Moat Rating and other factors.

Portfolio X-Ray

Our popular Portfolio X-Ray tool helps investors reduce risk  
and understand the key characteristics of their portfolios based  
on nine different factors.

The Morningstar Style Box

The Morningstar Style Box is a nine-square grid that illustrates  
the “investment style” of stocks and mutual funds. It classifies  
securities based on their market capitalization (the vertical axis)  
and growth and value factors (the horizontal axis). 

The Morningstar Analyst Rating

The Morningstar Analyst Rating for funds is a global, qualitative  
measure based on our analyst research.

The Morningstar Rating

We provide Morningstar ratings for funds (based on historical risk
and returns) and stocks (based on our fair value estimates).
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Gamma Methodology

Our new research on Gamma quantifies the value of financial  
planning and incorporates five key components that can improve  
retirement income.

Human Capital

We use the concept of human capital—or potential future  
earning ability—to provide a more complete picture of  
an investor’s financial worth and optimize the asset mix for  
retirement portfolios. 

Market Valuation

Our market valuation graph compares current market prices 
with our analyst-generated fair value estimates for a given sector  
or market index. 
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In 2013, we significantly expanded our equity coverage with the 
launch of quantitative ratings and reports for 28,000 companies 
globally. These quantitative equity ratings are forward-looking and 
generated by a statistical model based on our analyst-driven equity 
ratings and quantitative statistics.

We offer a variety of qualitative measures such as Stewardship 
Grades, which help investors identify companies and fund firms that 
have demonstrated a high level of commitment to shareholders and 
stewardship of investors’ capital. In 2012, we introduced a new 
global Stewardship Rating for stocks that places more emphasis 
on management decisions that directly improve returns on invested 
capital and shareholder investment. In 2011, we introduced our 
forward-looking Morningstar Analyst Rating for funds, a global, 
qualitative measure based on our analyst research. We also offer 
qualitative research and ratings on alternative funds, exchange-
traded funds, closed-end funds, 529 plans, and target-date funds.

In addition, we publish credit ratings and associated research on 
corporate debt issuers. We currently provide ratings on about 600 
issuers and also provide research and ratings on commercial mort-
gage-backed securities. In 2012, we began publishing analyst 
research on municipal bonds. Our fundamental municipal research 
is designed to assess relative credit quality and fiscal distress using 
a proprietary, analyst-driven methodology.

We’ve also developed in-depth advice on security selection and 
portfolio construction to meet the needs of investors and profes-
sionals looking for integrated portfolio solutions. We believe many 
investors rely on these tools because they offer a useful framework 
for comparing potential investments and making decisions. Our 
independence and our history of innovation make us a trusted 
resource for investors.

Strategy and Key Objectives

Our strategy is to widen our economic moat, or sustainable com-
petitive advantage, and build shareholder value by focusing on our 
three key objectives, which we describe in more detail below.

1. Develop the next-generation software for our investment 
research platforms, which will offer the most elegant and intuitive 
user experience for our customers.

We believe our customers’ technology needs are rapidly evolving, 
and our clients increasingly want integrated solutions as opposed 
to using different research tools for different parts of their portfolios. 
To meet this, we’re rebuilding our core software architecture to  
accelerate delivery of our products, allow us to innovate more rap-
idly, and drive rich web-based user experiences for our clients.

We’re currently building the next-generation software architecture 
that will eventually underlie most of our software products. The 
new software architecture uses an underlying framework that allows 
us to create capabilities or tools that take our software to a much 
higher design standard that’s more intuitive, elegant, and easy-to-
use and helps ensure a more consistent, cohesive “signature 
Morningstar” user experience. It also has several technological 
advantages, including a more streamlined design and development 
process for commonly used Morningstar capabilities such as port-
folio management tools and a more consistent user experience across 
Morningstar’s platforms.

The new software architecture will also address the growing need 
for mobile-optimized capabilities to extend the desktop experience 
onto mobile devices, as well as clients’ increasing preference for 
cloud-based deployment, which eliminates the need for desktop 
software installations and allows immediate access to new features. 
The new software framework will be easier for clients to implement 
and configure through seamless programming interfaces and web 
services. It will also allow us to innovate more rapidly and more 
easily configure our software solutions to meet client needs.

We plan to introduce this new architecture as part of Morningstar 
Direct in 2014, beginning with new versions of many of our core 
capabilities. Over time, we expect the majority of our software 
solutions to use this single technology architecture. By moving all 
of our core research products to a common software architecture, 
we’ll be able to leverage our development resources, give our cus-
tomers a more unified and consistent Morningstar experience, and 
better showcase our innovative research and analytical tools.
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2. Deliver the most effective investment data, research, and ratings 
to help investors reach their financial goals.

We believe that our leadership position in independent investment 
research offers a competitive advantage that would be difficult  
for competitors to replicate. Our goal is to continue producing  
insights that empower investors and focus our research efforts in 
three major areas:

UU Extend leadership position in global fund research. In recent years, 
we have expanded our analyst coverage outside of the United 
States. We’ve built an integrated team of locally based fund 
experts to expand our research coverage in additional markets 
around the world. As of December 31, 2013, we had 105 fund 
analysts globally, including teams in North America, Europe, Asia, 
and Australia. We currently produce qualitative analyst research 
and Morningstar Analyst Ratings on about 4,000 funds around 
the world. We plan to continue expanding the number of funds 
that have Morningstar Analyst Ratings and in-depth qualitative 
research reports.

UU Continue leveraging our capabilities in stocks. Our equity research 
complements our approach to mutual fund analysis, where we 
focus on analyzing the individual stocks that make up each fund’s 
portfolio. As of December 31, 2013, we provided analyst research 
on about 1,600 companies globally. We also provide quantitative 
ratings and reports for approximately 28,000 companies globally 
 
We’re committed to maintaining the broad, high-quality coverage 
we’ve become known for as one of the largest providers of inde-
pendent equity research. We’re working to expand distribution 
of our equity research through a variety of channels, including 
financial advisors, institutional investment firms, and companies 
outside of the United States. We believe that investors’ increas-
ing awareness of the value of independent research will 
strengthen our business over the long term. We’ve also expanded 
our proprietary stock database, which we view as an important 
complement to our analyst research.

UU Build business in credit research and ratings. We began publish-
ing research and ratings on corporate credit issuers in 2009 and 
currently produce research and ratings on about 600 corporate 
credit issuers. In 2012, we began publishing research on more 
than 100 municipal bond issuers. We view credit ratings as a 
natural extension of the equity research we’ve been producing 
for the past decade. We believe we have a unique viewpoint  
to offer on company default risk that leverages our cash-flow 
modeling expertise, proprietary measures like economic moat,  
 

and in-depth knowledge of the companies and industries we 
cover. In 2013, we also published research reports analyzing pen-
sion plan assets and liabilities for pension plans administered 
by all 50 states and 25 major cities.  
 
 We’re including this research on our software platforms to provide 
investors with an additional perspective on fixed-income invest-
ments. We also plan to monetize the ratings through enterprise 
licenses and subscriptions to our institutional equity research 
clients, who have access to the forecasts, models, and scores 
underlying the ratings.  
 
We also offer fixed-income capabilities through Morningstar Credit 
Ratings, LLC, a Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating 
Organization (NRSRO) that specializes in research and ratings on 
commercial mortgage-backed securities (CMBS) and residential 
mortgage-backed securities (RMBS). We believe investors are 
looking for better research on these securities and that we’re 
well-positioned to meet this need.

3. Be a world-class investment management organization based on 
our proprietary research.

We believe assembling and evaluating multimanager portfolios is 
a natural extension of our expertise in understanding managed 
investment products. Our investment advisory programs combine 
managed investment vehicles—typically mutual funds—in portfo-
lios designed to help investors meet their financial goals. When we 
create portfolios made up of other funds, our goal is to simplify the 
investment process and help investors access portfolios that match 
their level of risk tolerance, time horizon, and long-term investment 
objectives. We draw on our extensive experience analyzing funds 
and combine quantitative research with a qualitative assessment 
of manager skill and investment style. We had a total of $83.5 bil-
lion in assets under advisement in our Investment Advisory business 
as of December 31, 2013.
 
Our advisory business focuses on relationships and agreements 
where we act as a portfolio construction manager or asset allocation 
program designer for a mutual fund or variable annuity and receive 
a basis-point fee. We plan to further develop this business by expand-
ing outside of the United States, building our capabilities in areas 
such as alternative investment strategies, developing more ways 
to incorporate risk protection and insurance, reaching additional 
client segments, and focusing on performance and client support.
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We also offer managed retirement account services through our 
Retirement Solutions platform and had $31.7 billion in assets under 
management in our managed retirement accounts as of December 
31, 2013. We offer these services for retirement plan participants 
who choose to delegate management of their portfolios to our man-
aged retirement programs, which are based on quantitative systems 
that select investment options and make retirement planning choices 
for the participants. We believe retirement plan participants will 
continue to adopt managed accounts because of the complexity 
involved in retirement planning.

Morningstar Managed Portfolios is a fee-based discretionary asset 
management service that includes a series of mutual fund, ETF,  
and stock portfolios tailored to meet specific investment time hori-
zons and risk levels. As of December 31, 2013, there were $7.3 
billion in assets under management and advisement in Morningstar 
Managed Portfolios.

Develop the next-generation 
software for our investment 
research platforms

Deliver the most effective 
investment data, research, 
and ratings 

Be a world-class 
investment management 
organization based on 
our proprietary research 

.....

Advisor RetirementAsset
Management

Individual
Investor

Major Customer Groups
Given the core capabilities discussed above, we’re focusing on four
primary customer groups:

UU Advisor (including independent financial advisors as well as 
those affiliated with broker-dealers, other intermediaries, and 
retail brokerage firms);
UU Asset management (including fund companies, insurance 
companies, and other companies that build and manage 
portfolios of securities for their clients);
UU Retirement (including retirement plan providers and plan 
sponsors); and
UU Individual investor.

We describe each of these four customer groups in the section below.

Advisor

Financial advisors work with individual investors to help them reach 
their financial goals. This customer group includes several different 
types of advisors, including independent advisors at registered 
investment advisor (RIA) firms, advisors affiliated with independent 
broker-dealers, dually registered advisors, and “captive” advisors 
who are employees of a broker-dealer. Captive broker-dealers include 
wirehouses, regional broker-dealers, and banks. Cerulli Associates 
estimates there were approximately 300,000 financial advisors in 
the United States as of the end of 2013.

There has also been an industry-wide shift in favor of fee-based 
planning, as opposed to commission models. We add value by help-
ing advisors make more efficient use of their time and deliver better 
investment outcomes for their clients. We also offer a comprehen-
sive and integrated set of solutions, including proprietary investment 
methodologies, portfolio- and security-level research, and investment 
management. We believe our products and tools are deeply embed-
ded in many portions of financial advisors’ daily workflow.

We sell our advisor-related solutions both directly to independent 
financial advisors and through enterprise licenses, which allow finan-
cial advisors associated with the licensing firm to use our products.

To build this business, we plan to focus on helping advisors with a 
broad range of tasks, including investment decision-making, new 
client acquisition, client monitoring and reporting, and practice 
management. We’re expanding our mobile solutions to reach advi-
sors wherever they are—including at a desktop, on a mobile device, 
participating in social networking sites, or attending conferences 
and events. We plan to build comprehensive advisory solutions that 
incorporate both retirement and non-retirement assets and continue 
expanding our reach with both independent advisors and those 
affiliated with larger firms.

Our main products for financial advisors are Morningstar Advisor 
Workstation (including Morningstar Office), Morningstar Managed 
Portfolios, and Principia.

Asset management

Asset management firms create, market, and distribute investment 
portfolios. We estimate that there are approximately 2,700 asset 
management firms globally, ranging from large, global firms that 
each manage more than $1 trillion to firms with small fund lineups 
and operations in a single market or region. The asset management 
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customer group includes individuals involved in sales, marketing, 
product development, and distribution, as well as investment man-
agement (the “buy side”), which includes portfolio management, 
research, and securities analysis.

Our asset management offerings help companies connect with inves-
tors by applying Morningstar’s intellectual capital and brand to 
reinforce the value propositions of their own financial products. We 
offer a global reach and have earned investors’ trust in our unbiased 
approach, investor-centric mission, thought leadership, and exper-
tise in data and investment management.

Our strategy for the asset management customer group includes 
expanding the range of services we offer, driving our thought lead-
ership, helping clients adapt to regulatory change, and tailoring our 
offerings to meet the needs of asset management firms of various 
sizes. We also plan to expand our offerings to meet the growing 
need for research, data, and tools related to ETFs and other passively 
managed portfolios, as well as enhancing our derivatives coverage 
and capabilities to help investors better analyze and understand 
the rapidly increasing universe of alternative investments.

For the buy side, we provide award-winning equity and credit 
research for active fundamental portfolio managers who want action-
able, unbiased ideas that improve performance. We deliver focused 
ideas proven to drive long-term performance and consistent global 
research methodologies that can integrate with portfolio managers’ 
and analysts’ workflow.

Our goal is to expand the number of asset management firms and 
individuals at these firms who employ Morningstar’s research offer-
ings to help them achieve better results for their clients. We also 
plan to incorporate our proprietary research methodologies in our 
data, analytics, and tools to continue developing differentiated 
software and data offerings.

The key products we offer for asset management firms include 
Morningstar Direct, Morningstar Data, Integrated Web Tools, 
Investment Profiles, and Investment Advisory services. For the  
buy side, key products include Morningstar Equity and Credit 
Research, Structured Credit Research and Ratings, Morningstar Data, 
and Morningstar Direct.

Retirement

In the retirement market, millions of investors are now charged with 
planning for their own retirement, as more companies have shifted 
from traditional pension plans to self-directed retirement plans such 
as 401(k) plans. Total assets in 401(k) plans have increased to $4.0 
trillion as of September 30, 2013 based on data from the Investment 
Company Institute. In the wake of the financial crisis in 2008 and 
2009, we believe individual investors, financial advisors, employers, 
and government organizations have all become more aware of the 
need for advice and guidance that helps individuals build assets for 
retirement and beyond.

Our retirement offerings help retirement plan participants of all 
ages plan and invest for retirement. We offer these services both 
through retirement plan providers (typically third-party asset man-
agement companies that offer proprietary mutual funds) and directly 
to plan sponsors (employers that offer retirement plans to their 
employees). We currently reach approximately 24 million plan  
participants through approximately 237,000 plan sponsors and 26 
plan providers.

We help plan providers manage their risk and costs while differen-
tiating themselves in an increasingly competitive market. We believe 
that we’re uniquely positioned as the only company that offers a 
full range of scalable, customizable retirement solutions driven by 
proprietary investment methodologies. We also help retirement plan 
sponsors enhance their investment lineups, meet their fiduciary 
obligations, and help their employees prepare for retirement.

We’re continuing to enhance our managed retirement accounts, 
which is the largest and fastest-growing product offering within 
our Retirement Solutions business. We plan to continue improving 
our user interface, add solutions that allow investors to save  
for multiple goals, and incorporate a broader range of factors for 
retirement planning, such as health-care costs. We also plan to 
expand our offerings in select markets outside the United States.

Our major products for the retirement customer group are Retirement 
Solutions, Investment Advisory services, and Investment Profiles.

Individual investor

We also offer products for individual investors who invest to build 
wealth and save for other goals, such as retirement or college tuition. 
While the number of individual investors in the United States has 
declined from peak levels, Gallup’s annual Economics and Personal 
Finance Survey released in May 2013 found that approximately 52%  
of individuals in the United States invest in the stock market either 
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directly or through mutual funds or self-directed retirement plans. 
On a global basis, McKinsey Global Institute estimates that households 
own approximately $85.2 trillion in financial assets, with approxi-
mately 28.1% invested in equities and 71.9% in other investments 
including cash, money-market funds, and fixed-income securities.

Most of our products for individual investors are designed for moti-
vated people who are actively involved in the investing process and 
want to take charge of their own investment decisions. We also 
reach individuals who want to learn more about investing and inves-
tors who seek out third-party sources to validate the advice they 
receive from brokers or financial advisors. Our independent invest-
ment research, proprietary ratings, and proven portfolio strategies 
enable investors to make sensible plans, select investments to meet 
their needs, and monitor their portfolios through changing markets 
with more confidence and clarity.

We support our offerings for individual investors with a staff of 
analysts and investment strategists who continuously monitor, rate, 
and provide valuable perspective on stocks, funds, and other invest-
ments using a consistent, proven methodology. As an independent 
investment research provider, we’re uniquely positioned and trusted 
to support the needs of individual investors. Because many indi-
vidual investors trust Morningstar’s research and tools, our extensive 
reach with individual investors also drives demand for our other 
customer groups.

Our main product for individual investors is Morningstar.com, which 
includes both paid Premium Memberships and free content available 
to registered users and visitors. We also reach investors through a 
series of investment newsletters, iPad and mobile applications, and 
through partnerships with other websites, such as Yahoo Finance, 
MSN Money, and Google Finance. We also reach millions of indi-
vidual investors indirectly through our investment management 
offerings, including Investment Advisory, Retirement Solutions, and 
Morningstar Managed Portfolios.

Acquisitions and Divestitures

Since our founding in 1984, we have focused primarily on organic 
growth by introducing new products and services and expanding 
our existing offerings. From 2006 through 2010, we also completed 
24 acquisitions to support our growth objectives (as detailed above). 
During the second quarter of 2013, we acquired an additional 76% 
interest in Morningstar Sweden AB to become sole owner.

For more information about the acquisitions and divestitures, refer to 
Notes 6 and 7 of the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Major Products and Services

The section below describes some of our major products and services 
(ranked in order of size based on their 2013 revenue).

Morningstar Data

Morningstar Data gives institutions access to a full range of invest-
ment data spanning numerous investment databases, including 
real-time pricing data and commodity data. We offer data packages 
that include access to our proprietary statistics, such as the 
Morningstar Style Box and Morningstar Rating, and a wide range 
of other data, including information on investment performance, 
risk, portfolios, operations data, fees and expenses, cash flows, and 
ownership. Institutions can use Morningstar Data in a variety of 
investor communications, including websites, print publications, and 
marketing fact sheets, as well as for internal research and product 
development. We deliver Morningstar Data through password-
protected websites, data feeds, and software and provide daily 
updates to clients.

Morningstar Data for equities is used by many leading asset man-
agement firms, media companies, broker dealers, and other large 
institutions to support internal research functions, power investment 
tools, and deliver meaningful information and analysis to investors. 
Our continuously expanding global data services feature financial 
statement data, consolidated industry statistics, stock ownership 
information, and proprietary Morningstar statistics.

In 2013, our UK-based subsidiary, Morningstar UK Limited, received  
the Best Investment Data Provider award at the Professional  
Adviser Awards.

Also in 2013, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA) 
selected Morningstar to provide financial data, technology and 
design for the re-launch of FINRA’s Market Data Center. FINRA’s 
Market Data Center makes available to retail investors a wealth of 
information on a broad spectrum of financial instruments. We 
designed the new Market Data Center and provide comprehensive 
intra-day pricing and fundamental data for U.S. fixed income secu-
rities, equities, options, indexes, mutual funds and ETFs.

Pricing for Morningstar Data is based on the number of funds, mar-
ket indexes, stocks, commodities, or other securities covered; the 
amount and depth of information provided for each security; and 
the number of users and level of distribution.
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For Morningstar Data, our primary competitors are Financial Express, 
Informa Investment Solutions, and Thomson Reuters.

Morningstar Data was our largest product in 2013 and accounted 
for 18.5%, 17.5%, and 16.5% of our consolidated revenue in 2013, 
2012, and 2011, respectively.

U.S. Advisor Workstation and Morningstar Office Licenses

157,395148,392

2009 2010

160,287

2011

162,904

2012

169,592

2013

Morningstar Advisor Workstation

Morningstar Advisor Workstation, a web-based investment planning 
system, provides financial advisors with a comprehensive set of 
tools for conducting their core business—including investment 
research, planning, and presentations. It allows advisors to build 
and maintain a client portfolio database that can be fully integrated 
with the firm’s back-office technology and resources. Moreover, it 
helps advisors create customized reports for client portfolios that 
combine mutual funds, stocks, separate accounts, variable annuity/
life subaccounts, ETFs, hedge funds, closed-end funds, fixed-income 
securities, unit investment trusts, 529 plans, offshore funds, and 
pension and life funds.

As of December 31, 2013, approximately 170,000 advisors in the 
United States were licensed to use Advisor Workstation, which is 
available in two versions: Morningstar Office for independent finan-
cial advisors and an enterprise version for financial advisors affiliated 
with larger firms.

Morningstar Office is our complete practice and portfolio manage-
ment system for independent financial advisors. This single, all-
inclusive platform is designed to support the core aspects of an 
advisor’s practice. It features robust portfolio management and 
performance reporting, advanced research capabilities, sophisticated 
investment planning, and customer relationship management (CRM) 
tools for batch reporting and client communications.

The enterprise version includes four core modules: Clients & 
Portfolios, Research, Sales/Hypotheticals, and Planning. We also 
offer a variety of other applications, including tools for defined 
contribution plans; Morningstar Document Library, which helps firms 
comply with pre- and post-sale document delivery requirements  
by providing access to prospectuses and supplements in HTML  
or PDF formats; Analyst Research Center, which complements  
the quantitative data in Advisor Workstation with independent, 
qualitative research on stocks, mutual funds, ETFs, and initial  
public offerings; and Presentation Library, which gives advisors 
access to compelling client presentation materials. These applica-
tions can be purchased as stand-alone products or combined as part 
of a full Workstation license.

In 2013, we completed the migration of all of our clients in the United 
States to Morningstar Advisor Workstation 2.0, a platform we 
launched in 2010 that incorporates significant technology upgrades 
along with interface and usability improvements. This migration 
will allow us to fully retire the previous version and enhance our 
efforts to simplify and consolidate our product lines. Pricing for 
Morningstar Advisor Workstation varies based on the number of 
users, as well as the level of functionality. We typically charge 
annual fees of about $3,400 per licensed user for a base configura-
tion of Morningstar Advisor Workstation, but pricing varies signifi-
cantly based on the scope of the license. For clients who purchase 
more limited tools-only licenses, the price per user is substantially 
less. We generally charge $5,700 per user for an annual license for 
Morningstar Office.

Major competitors for Morningstar Advisor Workstation and 
Morningstar Office include Advent Software, Charles Schwab, 
Standard & Poor’s, SunGard, Tamarac (a division of Envestnet), and 
Thomson Reuters.

Morningstar Advisor Workstation is our second-largest product  
based on revenue and made up 13.3%, 13.1%, and 12.6% of our 
consolidated revenue in 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively.
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Morningstar Direct

Morningstar Direct is an institutional investment research platform 
that provides professionals with advanced analytical tools to perform 
research on the complete range of securities in Morningstar’s global 
database, as well as privately held investments and data from  
third-party providers. This comprehensive platform empowers  
portfolio managers, investment consultants, financial product  
managers, wealth managers, and other finance professionals world-
wide to develop, select, and monitor investments. These profes-
sionals use the qualitative and quantitative content available on 
Morningstar Direct—including data on current and historical per-
formance data, operations, portfolio holdings, and asset flows—to 
conduct advanced performance comparisons and in-depth analyses 
of an investment’s underlying investment style. Morningstar Direct 
also allows users to transform investment data into custom- 
branded reports and presentations to support internal audiences 
and marketing and sales groups.

Over the past several years, we have expanded the range of third-
party content included in Morningstar Direct, including indexes from 
all major providers and the HFR hedge fund database. We recently 
entered into an agreement to make separate account and hedge 
fund data from eVestment Alliance available to Morningstar Direct 
users. This database of more than 22,000 separate accounts and 
23,000 hedge funds will be available for an additional annual fee 
to Morningstar Direct users in 2014.

Morningstar Direct’s primary competitors are eVestment Alliance, 
FactSet Research Systems, and Thomson Reuters.

Morningstar Direct had approximately 8,500 licensed users world-
wide as of December 31, 2013.

Pricing for Morningstar Direct is based on the number of licenses 
purchased. For clients in the United States, we generally charge an 
annual fee of $17,000 for the first user, $10,500 for the second user, 
and $9,000 for each additional user.

Morningstar Direct is our third-largest product based on revenue 
and accounted for 11.4%, 9.9%, and 8.3% of our consolidated rev-
enue in 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively.

Morningstar Direct Licenses

U.S.

*revised

Non-U.S.

3,524

4,773

6,134*

7,388*

8,514

    2009  2010  2011  2012  2013

U.S.  2,175  2,789  3,523  4,207  4,830
Non-U.S.  1,349  1,984  2,611  3,181  3,684

Investment Advisory

Our Investment Advisory business provides institutional investment 
consulting, investment advisory, and management services for asset 
management firms, broker-dealers, and insurance providers. We 
offer Investment Advisory services through Morningstar Associates, 
Inc.; Morningstar Associates Korea Co., Ltd.; Morningstar Associates, 
LLC; Morningstar Investment Management Europe, Ltd; Ibbotson 
Associates, Inc.; Ibbotson Associates Australia Limited; Ibbotson 
Associates Japan KK; OBSR Advisory Services Limited; and 
Morningstar Investment Consulting France SAS (formerly Seeds 
Finance). All of these entities are wholly owned or majority-owned 
subsidiaries of Morningstar, Inc., and are authorized to provide 
investment advisory services by the appropriate regulatory agency 
in their applicable jurisdictions.

Drawing on our proprietary research and methodologies, we deliver 
four core service offerings: asset allocation, manager evaluation, 
portfolio management, and 15(c) board consulting services. We focus 
on delivering customized solutions that improve the investor expe-
rience and help our clients build their businesses. Many of our 
Investment Advisory agreements focus on investment monitoring 
and asset allocation for multimanager portfolios made up of man-
aged investment products, such as mutual funds, separate accounts, 
and variable insurance trusts. We focus on relationships where 
we’re paid a fee expressed as a percentage of assets under manage-
ment for ongoing investment management and advice, as opposed 
to one-time relationships where we’re paid a flat fee.

Morningstar, Inc. 2013 Annual Report 23

 PMSCG11
 Angle@53

 PMS632
 Angle@53

137847BDY_12_102_r1_13AR_140314_01.indd   23 3/18/14   8:46 AM



We offer these advisory services to clients in most of our major 
operations globally, including insurance companies, investment man-
agement companies, mutual fund companies, and broker-dealers.

Our Investment Advisory business competes primarily with Mercer, 
Mesirow Financial, Russell Investments, Thomson Reuters, and Wilshire 
Associates, as well as some smaller firms in the retirement consulting 
business and various in-house providers of investment advisory services.

Pricing for our Investment Advisory is based on the scope of work, 
our degree of investment discretion, and the level of service required. 
In the majority of our contracts, we receive asset-based fees, reflect-
ing our work as a portfolio construction manager or subadvisor for 
multimanager portfolios made up of managed investment products.

Investment Advisory was our fourth-largest product based on revenue 
in 2013 and accounted for 8.5%, 10.1%, and 11.3% of our consolidated 
revenue in 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively.

Morningstar.com

Our largest website for individual investors is Morningstar.com in 
the United States. Revenue for this product offering includes both 
Premium Memberships (which made up about 60% of Morningstar.
com’s revenue base in 2013) and Internet advertising sales (which 
made up the remaining 40%). As of December 31, 2013, the free 
membership services offered through Morningstar.com had approx-
imately 9.3 million registered users worldwide, who have access 
to comprehensive data on stocks, mutual funds, ETFs, closed-end 
funds, 529 plans, commodities, options, bonds, and other invest-
ments to help them conduct research and track performance. In 
addition, Morningstar.com features extensive market data, articles, 
proprietary portfolio tools, and educational content to help investors 
of all levels access timely, relevant investment information.

Morningstar.com has been named one of the best investing websites 
by publications such as Kiplinger’s Personal Finance and The American 
Association of Individual Investors.

We also offer more than 40 regional investing websites customized 
to the needs of investors worldwide. Many of these sites feature 
coverage in local languages with tools and commentary tailored to 
specific markets. In 2013, the London Times included our UK-based 
site, Morningstar.co.uk, in its list of 50 top websites to help people 
save money.

We use our free content as a gateway into paid Premium Membership, 
which includes access to written analyst reports on more than 1,400 
stocks, 1,200 mutual funds, 400 ETFs, and 120 closed-end funds, as 

well as our Portfolio X-Ray, asset allocation and portfolio manage-
ment tools, proprietary stock data, Stewardship Grades and Ratings, 
and premium stock and fund screeners. We currently offer Premium 
Membership services in Australia, Canada, China, Italy, the United 
Kingdom, and the United States.

In 2013, we introduced Morningstar® for iPad, a comprehensive 
personal investing app that allows users to monitor the markets, 
evaluate their portfolios, and research securities. We believe  
this app sets a high standard for visual design, technology, and  
user experience.

Morningstar.com competes with The Motley Fool, Seeking Alpha, 
TheStreet.com, and Yahoo! Finance as well as other finance sites, 
such as AOL Money & Finance, Google Finance, Marketwatch.com, 
MSN Money, and The Wall Street Journal Online.

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately 124,000 paid 
Premium subscribers for Morningstar.com in the United States plus 
an additional 6,000 paid Premium subscribers in Australia, Canada, 
China, Italy, and the United Kingdom. We currently charge $23.95 
for a monthly subscription, $199 for an annual subscription, $339 
for a two-year subscription, and $439 for a three-year subscription 
for Morningstar.com’s Premium Membership service in the United 
States. We also sell advertising on Morningstar.com.

Morningstar.com (including local versions outside of the United 
States) is our fifth-largest product based on revenue and accounted 
for 8.0% of our consolidated revenue in 2013, compared with 8.2% 
in 2012 and 8.9% in 2011.

Morningstar.com Premium Memberships (U.S.)

150,473

2009

138,149

2010

130,354
123,899

2011 2012

124,027

2013
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Retirement Solutions

Our Retirement Solutions offerings help retirement plan participants 
plan and invest for retirement. We offer these services both through 
retirement plan providers (typically third-party asset management 
companies that offer proprietary mutual funds) and directly to plan 
sponsors (employers that offer retirement plans to their employees). 
Clients can select either a hosted solution or our installed software 
advice solution. We design these solutions to help retirement plan 
participants accumulate wealth, transition into retirement, and 
manage income during retirement.

Morningstar Retirement Manager is our advice and managed 
accounts program that helps plan participants with their retirement 
goals. It helps investors determine how much to invest and which 
investments are most appropriate for their portfolios. The program 
gives guidance explaining whether participants’ suggested plans 
are on target to meet their retirement goals. As part of this service, 
we deliver personalized recommendations for a target savings goal, 
a recommended contribution rate to help achieve that goal, a port-
folio mix based on risk tolerance, and specific investment recom-
mendations. Participants can elect to have their accounts managed 
by us through our managed account service or build their own port-
folios using our recommendations as a guide.

Morningstar Retirement Manager also helps plan sponsors meet 
their fiduciary obligations. Morningstar works with plan sponsors 
to help them better understand their fiduciary obligations and stay 
ahead of changes in the marketplace. We can act as an ERISA 
fiduciary by, for example, selecting and monitoring a broad range 
of diversified plan options. As part of this service, we can construct 
and monitor the investment lineup, document our investment process, 
create an Investment Policy Statement, and furnish the plan with 
detailed quarterly investment and performance reports.

In 2013, we introduced the next-generation version of Morningstar 
Retirement Manager, which incorporates our latest institutional 
asset allocation methodologies. It also includes Income Secure, a 
program that provides individualized, tax-efficient retirement income 
drawdown advice.

We also entered into an agreement with Charles Schwab to add 
Morningstar to Schwab’s Index Advantage program, which uses 
low-cost investments (index funds or ETFs) with professional man-
agement from Morningstar to provide a low-cost, yet effective 
program to help participants prepare for retirement.

As of December 31, 2013, approximately 24 million plan participants 
had access to Retirement Solutions through approximately 237,000 
plan sponsors and 26 plan providers. Pricing for Retirement Solutions 
depends on several different factors, including the level of services 
offered (including whether or not such services cause us to be an 
ERISA fiduciary), the number of participants, the level of systems 
integration required, and the availability of competing products.

In the retirement advice market, we compete primarily with Financial 
Engines and Guided Choice.

Morningstar Integrated Web Tools

Morningstar Integrated Web Tools is a set of tools and capabilities 
that help institutional clients build customized websites or enhance 
their existing solutions with Morningstar’s online tools and  
components. We offer a series of components, editorial content, 
and reports that investment firms can license to build or enhance 
their websites for financial advisors and individual investors. Outside 
the United States, clients can customize our offerings with capa-
bilities tailored to regional markets, multiple languages, and local 
currencies. Our suite of components can be customized to analyze 
sets of investments, focus on client-defined data points and  
methodologies, or perform calculations required by specific  
products or services. We also offer licenses for investment research, 
editorial content, and portfolio analysis and comparison tools that 
allow users to drill down into the underlying data when researching 
a potential investment.

Competitors for Integrated Web Tools include Advisor Software, 
Inc., Financial Express, Interactive Data Corporation, Markit on 
Demand, and Thomson Reuters.

Pricing for Integrated Web Tools consists of both ongoing license 
fees and one-time development fees and depends on the customer, 
the level of distribution, and the scope of information and function-
ality licensed.

Morningstar Managed Portfolios

We offer the Morningstar Managed Portfolios program through 
Morningstar Investment Services, Inc., a registered investment advi-
sor, registered broker-dealer, member of the Financial Industry 
Regulatory Authority, Inc. (FINRA), and wholly owned subsidiary of 
Morningstar, Inc. The target customer for Morningstar Managed 
Portfolios is fee-based independent financial advisors. These advi-
sors are often affiliated with the corporate registered investment 
arms of insurance companies and independent and registered 
broker-dealers.
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Morningstar Managed Portfolios is a fee-based discretionary asset 
management service that includes a series of mutual fund, ETF, and 
stock portfolios tailored to meet specific investment time horizons 
and risk levels. This program is only available through financial 
advisors. Our team of investment professionals uses a disciplined 
process for asset allocation, security selection, and risk management. 
We complement these asset management services with online 
client-management functions such as risk profiling and access to 
client statements, transaction capabilities, and performance reports.

We had approximately $7.3 billion in assets under management 
with about 4,600 financial advisors using the service as of December 
31, 2013. We charge asset-based fees for Morningstar Managed 
Portfolios. The management fee is typically based on a tiered sched-
ule that depends on the client’s average daily portfolio balance. 
Fees for our mutual fund and ETF portfolios generally range from 
20 to 40 basis points. We charge 40 to 55 basis points for Select 
Stock Baskets, which is a managed account service that incorporates 
customizable stock portfolios based on Morningstar’s proprietary 
equity research and indexes.

For Morningstar Managed Portfolios, our primary competitors are 
Assetmark, Brinker Capital, Curian Capital, Envestnet PMC, Loring 
Ward, and SEI Investments. We also compete with in-house research 
teams at independent broker-dealers who build proprietary portfo-
lios for use on brokerage firm platforms, as well other registered 
investment advisors that provide investment strategies or models 
on these platforms.

Other Products and Services

In addition to the products described above, we offer a variety of 
other products and services, including:

UU Equity and Credit Research: our fundamental research on  
approximately 1,600 companies worldwide plus credit ratings 
and analysis for about 600 of the largest corporate bond  
issuers worldwide;
UU Structured Credit Ratings and Research, offered through Morningstar 
Credit Ratings, LLC, a Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating 
Organization (NRSRO) that provides timely new issue and  
surveillance ratings and analysis for commercial and residential 
mortgage-backed securities, as well as operational risk assess-
ment services;
UU Morningstar Investment Profiles: pre-made or custom-generated 
investment fact sheets institutions can use to help investors 
understand, compare, and differentiate investment offerings;

UU Morningstar Commodity Data: high-quality market data and  
analytical products for energy data management systems,  
financial and agricultural data management, historical analysis, 
trading, risk management and forecasting;
UU Principia: our CD-ROM-based investment research and planning 
software for financial planners;
UU Morningstar Indexes: a comprehensive set of investment  
indexes that can be used to benchmark the market and create 
investment products;
UU Financial Communications materials;
UU Morningstar Enterprise Data Management: customized data 
aggregation and performance reporting solutions that help  
clients integrate data more effectively;
UU Market data and desktop software;
UU Other investment software for financial advisors and   
institutions; and
UU Print and online publications.

Marketing and Sales

We promote our products and services with a staff of sales and 
marketing professionals, as well as an in-house public relations 
team. Our sales team includes several strategic account managers 
who oversee all aspects of our largest institutional client relation-
ships. We also have a sales operations staff, which focuses on 
tracking and forecasting sales and other tasks to support our  
sales team. We have a regional sales team responsible for  
expanding relationships for Morningstar Managed Portfolios.  
We also have a client solutions team responsible for developing  
a deep understanding of our customers and creating solutions to 
meet their needs. Across our business, we focus on high levels of 
customer support to help our clients use our products effectively. 
We had approximately 500 sales and marketing professionals on 
staff as of December 31, 2013.

We incurred approximately $6.9 million of advertising expense in 
2013, including expenses incurred for various print and Internet ads, 
search engine fees, and direct mail campaigns.

International Operations

We conduct our business operations outside of the United States 
through wholly owned or majority-owned operating subsidiaries 
doing business in each of the following 26 countries: Australia, 
Brazil, Canada, Chile, Denmark, France, Germany, India, Italy,  
Japan, Korea, Luxembourg, Mexico, the Netherlands, New Zealand, 
Norway, People’s Republic of China (both Hong Kong and the  
mainland), Singapore, South Africa, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, 
Taiwan, Thailand, United Arab Emirates, and the United Kingdom. 
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See Note 4 of the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements 
for additional information concerning revenue from customers  
and long-lived assets from our business operations outside the 
United States.

As of December 31, 2013, we also held a minority ownership position 
(approximately 34% of the outstanding shares) in Morningstar Japan 
K.K. (MJKK); this share had a market value of approximately $95 
million. MJKK is publicly traded under ticker 4765 on the Osaka 
Stock Exchange “Hercules Market.” See Note 8 of the Notes to our 
Consolidated Financial Statements for information about our invest-
ments in unconsolidated entities.

To enable these companies to do business in their designated ter-
ritories, we provide them with the rights to the Morningstar name 
and logo and with access to certain of our products and technology. 
Each company is responsible for developing marketing plans tailored 
to meet the specific needs of investors within its country and work-
ing with Morningstar’s data collection and development centers to 
create and maintain databases, develop new products, and enhance 
existing products.

See Item 1A—Risk Factors for a discussion of the risks related to 
our business operations outside of the United States.

Intellectual Property and Other Proprietary Rights

We treat our brand, product names and logos, software, technology, 
databases, and other products as proprietary. We try to protect this 
intellectual property by using trademark, copyright, patent and trade 
secrets laws; licensing and nondisclosure arrangements; and other 
security measures. For example, in the normal course of business, 
we only provide our intellectual property to third parties through 
standard licensing agreements. We use these agreements to define 
the extent and duration of any third-party usage rights and provide 
for our continued ownership in any intellectual property furnished.

Because of the value of our brand name and logo, we have tried to 
register one or both of them in all of the relevant international 
classes under the trademark laws of most of the jurisdictions in 
which we maintain operating companies. As we move into new 
countries, we consider adding to these registrations. We have  
registered the Morningstar name and/or logo in numerous  
countries and the European Union and have applied for registrations 
in various other countries. In some jurisdictions, we also register 
certain product names.

“Morningstar” and the Morningstar logo are registered marks of 
Morningstar in the United States and in certain other jurisdictions. 
The table below includes some of the trademarks and service marks 
that we use:

Trademarks and Service Marks

Ibbotson Associates®

Morningstar® Advisor WorkstationSM

Morningstar Analyst RatingTM

Morningstar® Analyst Research CenterSM

Morningstar DirectSM

Morningstar® Integrated Web ToolsSM

Morningstar® for iPad®

Morningstar® Managed PortfoliosSM

Morningstar Market BarometerSM

Morningstar OfficeSM

Morningstar® Ownership ZoneSM

Morningstar® Portfolio X-Ray®

Morningstar® Principia®

Morningstar RatingTM

Morningstar® Retirement ManagerSM

Morningstar® Stewardship GradeSM

Morningstar Style BoxTM

Morningstar.com®

In addition to trademarks, we currently hold several patents in the 
United States and Canada. We believe these patents represent our 
commitment to developing innovative products and tools for investors.

License Agreements

We license our products and/or other intellectual property to our 
customers for a fee. We generally use our standard agreements, 
whether in paper or electronic form, and we do not provide our 
products and services to customers or other users without having 
an agreement in place.

We maintain licensing agreements with all of our operating com-
panies. We put these agreements in place so these companies can 
use our intellectual property, such as our products and trademarks, 
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to market our products and develop and sell country-specific variants 
of products under the Morningstar name in their operating territories.

In the ordinary course of our business, we obtain and use intel-
lectual property from a wide variety of sources, including licensing 
it from third-party sources, developing it internally, and obtaining 
it directly from public filings.

Seasonality

We believe our business has a minimal amount of seasonality. Some 
of our smaller products, such as our Financial Communications 
materials and our annual investment conference in Chicago, gener-
ate the majority of their revenue in the first or second quarter of the 
year. We sell most of our products with subscription or license terms 
of at least one year, though, and we recognize revenue ratably over 
the term of each subscription or license agreement. This tends to 
moderate seasonality in sales patterns for individual products.

We believe market movements generally have more influence on 
our performance than seasonality. The revenue we earn from asset-
based fees depends on the value of assets on which we provide 
advisory services, and the size of our asset base can increase or 
decrease along with trends in market performance.

Largest Customer

In 2013, our largest customer accounted for less than 2% of our 
consolidated revenue.

Competitive Landscape

The economic and financial information industry has been marked 
by increased consolidation over the past several years, with the 
strongest players generally gaining market share at the expense of 
smaller competitors. Some of our major competitors include 
Bloomberg; Standard & Poor’s, a division of McGraw Hill Financial; 
and Thomson Reuters. These companies have financial resources 
that are significantly greater than ours. We also have a number of 
smaller competitors, which we discuss in Major Products and 
Services above.

We believe the most important competitive factors in our industry 
are brand and reputation, data accuracy and quality, breadth of data 
coverage, quality of investment research and analytics, design, 
product reliability, and value of the products and services provided.

Research and Development

A key aspect of our growth strategy is to expand our investment 
research capabilities and enhance our existing products and services. 
We strive to rapidly adopt new technology that can improve our 
products and services. We have a flexible technology platform  
that allows our products to work together across a full range of 
investment databases, delivery formats, and market segments.  
As a general practice, we manage our own websites and build our 
own software rather than relying on outside vendors. This allows 
us to control our development and better manage costs, enabling 
us to respond quickly to market changes and to meet customer needs 
efficiently. As of December 31, 2013, our technology team consisted 
of approximately 900 programmers and technology and infrastruc-
ture professionals.

Government Regulation

United States

Investment advisory and broker-dealer businesses are subject  
to extensive regulation in the United States at both the federal  
and state level, as well as by self-regulatory organizations.  
Financial services companies are among the nation’s most  
extensively regulated. The Securities and Exchange Commission 
(SEC) is responsible for enforcing the federal securities  
laws and oversees federally registered investment advisors  
and broker-dealers.

As of December 31, 2013, three of our subsidiaries, Ibbotson 
Associates, Inc., Morningstar Associates, LLC, and Morningstar 
Investment Services, Inc. are registered as investment advisors  
with the SEC under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as  
amended (Advisers Act). As registered investment advisors,  
these companies are subject to the requirements and regulations 
of the Advisers Act. Such requirements relate to, among other  
things, record-keeping, reporting, and standards of care, as  
well as general anti-fraud prohibitions. As registered investment 
advisors, all three subsidiaries are subject to on-site examination 
by the SEC.

In addition, because these three subsidiaries provide investment 
advisory services to retirement plans and their participants, they 
may be acting as fiduciaries under the Employee Retirement Income 
Security Act of 1974 (ERISA). As fiduciaries under ERISA, they have 
duties of loyalty and prudence, as well as duties to diversify invest-
ments and to follow plan documents to comply with the applicable 
portions of ERISA.
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Morningstar Investment Services is a broker-dealer registered under 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act) and a member 
of FINRA. The regulation of broker-dealers has, to a large extent, 
been delegated by the federal securities laws to self-regulatory 
organizations, including FINRA. Subject to approval by the SEC, 
FINRA adopts rules that govern its members. FINRA and the SEC 
conduct periodic examinations of the brokerage operations of 
Morningstar Investment Services. Broker-dealers are subject to 
regulations that cover all aspects of the securities business, includ-
ing sales, capital structure, record-keeping, and the conduct of 
directors, officers, and employees. Violation of applicable regulations 
can result in the revocation of a broker-dealer license, the imposition 
of censures or fines, and the suspension or expulsion of a firm or 
its officers or employees. Morningstar Investment Services is sub-
ject to certain net capital requirements under the Exchange Act. The 
net capital requirements, which specify minimum net capital levels 
for registered broker-dealers, are designed to measure the financial 
soundness and liquidity of broker-dealers.

Morningstar Credit Ratings, LLC is registered with the SEC as a 
Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organization (NRSRO) 
specializing in rating structured finance investments. As an NRSRO, 
Morningstar Credit Ratings, LLC is subject to the requirements and 
regulations under the Exchange Act. Such requirements relate to, 
among other things, record-keeping, reporting, governance, and 
conflicts of interest. As part of its NRSRO registration, Morningstar 
Credit Ratings is subject to annual examinations by the SEC.

Australia

Our subsidiaries that provide financial information services and 
advice in Australia, Morningstar Australasia Pty Limited and Ibbotson 
Associates Australia Ltd., are registered and hold an Australian 
Financial Services license and are subject to oversight by the 
Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC). This 
license requires them to, among other things, maintain positive net 
asset levels and sufficient cash resources to cover three months of 
expenses and to comply with the audit requirements of the ASIC.

United Kingdom

Throughout 2013, Morningstar Investment Management Europe 
Limited and OBSR Advisory Services Limited were authorized and 
regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) to provide advi-
sory services in the United Kingdom. As authorized firms, these 
companies are subject to the requirements and regulations of the 
FCA. Such requirements relate to, among other things, financial 
reporting and other reporting obligations, record-keeping, and cross-
border requirements. In February 2014, OBSR Advisory Services 
Limited submitted an application to the FCA to cancel its investment 
advice permission. If the FCA confirms the cancellation request, 
OBSR Advisory Services Limited will no longer be subject to FCA’s 
oversight, requirements, and regulations. Morningstar Investment 
Management Europe Limited will maintain its investment advice 
permission and remain subject to FCA’s oversight, requirements, 
and regulations.

Other Regions

We have a variety of other entities (including in Canada, Japan, 
Korea, Thailand, and France) that are registered with their respec-
tive regulatory bodies; however, the amount of business conducted 
by these entities related to the registration is relatively small.

Additional legislation and regulations, including those relating to 
the activities of investment advisors and broker-dealers, changes 
in rules imposed by the SEC or other U.S. or non-U.S. regulatory 
authorities and self-regulatory organizations, or changes in the 
interpretation or enforcement of existing laws and rules may 
adversely affect our business and profitability. Our businesses may 
be materially affected not only by regulations applicable to it as an 
investment advisor or broker-dealer, but also by regulations that 
apply to companies generally.

Employees

We had approximately 3,565 employees as of December 31, 2013, 
including approximately 660 data analysts, 70 designers, 380 invest-
ment analysts (including consulting and quantitative research  
analysts), 900 programmers and technology staff, and 500 sales 
and marketing professionals. Our U.S.-based employees are not 
represented by any unions, and we have never experienced a walk-
out or strike.
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Executive Officers

As of February 28, 2014, we had 11 executive officers. The table 
below summarizes information about each of these officers.

Name Age  Position

Joe Mansueto 57   Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, 
and Director

Stéphane Biehler 46  Chief Financial Officer

Bevin Desmond 47   Head of Global Markets  
and Human Resources

Catherine Gillis Odelbo 51   Head of Corporate Strategy  
and Partnerships

Greg Goff 42  Chief Technology Officer

Thomas Idzorek 43   President, Morningstar  
Investment Management

Kunal Kapoor 38   Head of Information Products  
and Client Solutions

Haywood Kelly 45  Head of Global Research

Richard Robbins 51   General Counsel and  
Corporate Secretary

James Tanner 53   Head of Global Business  
Development and Sales
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Joe Mansueto

Joe Mansueto founded Morningstar in 1984. He has served as our 
chairman since our inception and as our chief executive officer from 
1984 to 1996 and from 2000 to the present.

Joe holds a bachelor’s degree in business administration from The 
University of Chicago and a master’s degree in business administra-
tion from The University of Chicago Booth School of Business.

Stéphane Biehler

As chief financial officer, Stéphane Biehler is responsible for corpo-
rate finance, accounting, tax, and investor relations. He joined us 
in 2013 and previously served as executive vice president, chief 
accounting officer, and corporate controller for NYSE Euronext, a 
global operator of financial markets, since 2007. Before the 2007 
merger between NYSE Group with Euronext to form NYSE Euronext 
and the 2006 merger of Archipelago Holdings with the New York 
Stock Exchange to form NYSE Group, he joined Archipelago Holdings 
as managing director and corporate controller in 2004.

Stéphane holds a master’s degree in international business from 
the University of Haute-Alsace in France.

Bevin Desmond

Bevin Desmond is head of global markets and human resources  
for Morningstar, a role she has held since 2010. She is responsible 
for identifying and developing new markets, managing and  
directing operations, and overseeing human resources functions  
for all of Morningstar’s global operations. Previously, she was head 
of international operations from 2001 until 2010. She joined 
Morningstar in 1993.

Bevin holds a bachelor’s degree in psychology from St. Mary’s College.

Catherine Gillis Odelbo

Catherine Gillis Odelbo is head of corporate strategy and partner-
ships, responsible for working with Morningstar’s senior manage-
ment team on the company’s overall strategic planning process, 
mergers and acquisitions, and major partnerships. She has been  
in this role since 2012. Previously, she was president of equity  
and credit research from 2009 to 2012. Cathy joined Morningstar  
in 1988.

She holds a bachelor’s degree in American history from The University 
of Chicago and a master’s degree in business administration from 
The University of Chicago Booth School of Business.

Greg Goff

Greg Goff is our chief technology officer and is responsible for 
Morningstar’s global technology strategy. Before joining us in 2011, 
he was senior vice president of global platform technology for The 
Nielsen Company since 2009. He joined The Nielsen Company in 
2004 as vice president of data warehousing. He has also worked 
for Accenture and BlueMeteor, Inc. in Chicago.

He holds a bachelor’s degree in electrical engineering from the 
University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign.

Thomas Idzorek

Thomas Idzorek is president of Morningstar Investment Management. 
He is responsible for our global investment advice, consulting, retire-
ment solutions, and index businesses. From 2006 until taking on his 
current role in May 2012, Tom was global chief investment officer 
for Morningstar Investment Management. Previously, he was direc-
tor of research and product development for Ibbotson Associates, 
which we acquired in 2006. He began his career as a senior quan-
titative research for Zephyr Associates.

30

2013 10-K: Part I

 PMSCG11
 Angle@53

 PMS632
 Angle@53

137847BDY_12_102_r1_13AR_140314_01.indd   30 3/18/14   8:46 AM



He holds a bachelor’s degree in marketing from Arizona State 
University, a master’s degree in business administration from 
Thunderbird School of Global Management, and the Chartered 
Financial Analyst (CFA) designation.

Kunal Kapoor

Kunal Kapoor is head of Information Products and Client Solutions. 
The Information Products group is responsible for product develop-
ment, manufacturing, and innovation. Client Solutions is respon-
sible for building deep client segment expertise and leading our 
efforts to bundle products and capabilities into solutions for our 
customers. Kunal became head of our global Client Solutions group 
starting in 2013 and took on additional responsibility for Information 
Products in February 2014. For part of 2013, he was president of our 
Data Division, and from 2010 until 2012, he was president of Equity 
and Market Data/Software. In 2009 and 2010, he was president of 
Individual Software. Kunal joined Morningstar in 1997.

He holds a bachelor’s degree in economics and environmental policy 
from Monmouth College and a master’s degree in business admin-
istration from The University of Chicago Booth School of Business. 
He also holds the Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) designation.

Haywood Kelly

Haywood Kelly is head of global research for Morningstar and over-
sees our global fund, equity, and credit research and data operations. 
Before taking on his current role in January 2014, he was head of 
equity and credit research since 2009 and took on additional respon-
sibility for equity data in 2013. Haywood joined Morningstar in 1991.

He holds a bachelor’s degree in economics from the University of 
Chicago, where he graduated as a member of Phi Beta Kappa. He 
also holds the CFA designation.

Richard Robbins

Richard Robbins is our general counsel and corporate secretary. He 
is responsible for directing Morningstar’s legal department and 
managing our relationships with outside counsel. He also oversees 
our compliance and corporate communications departments. From 
1999 until he joined Morningstar in 2005, he was a partner at Sidley 
Austin Brown & Wood LLP (now Sidley Austin LLP), which he joined 
as an associate in 1991.

He holds bachelor’s and master’s degrees in computer science and 
electrical engineering from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology 
and a juris doctor degree from The University of Chicago Law School.

James Tanner

James Tanner is head of global business development and sales for 
Morningstar. He joined us in January 2013. Previously he served as 
vice chairman of business development for Markit On Demand, an 
Internet technology company he founded as Wall Street On Demand 
in 1991. In addition to his role as CEO, he also served in various  
roles for firms that have owned Wall Street On Demand, including 
head of sales for eBridge and head of distribution and vice chairman 
of business development for Markit, a UK-based global financial 
information company.

Jim holds a bachelor’s degree in Russian language and literature 
from Haverford College and a master’s degree in business admin-
istration from Harvard University.

David W. Williams

David W. Williams is head of design and marketing for Morningstar. 
He is responsible for corporate design and its application to brand 
identity, products, communications, and the workplace. He joined 
us in 1993 and has been instrumental in establishing design as one 
of our recognized core capabilities.

David holds a bachelor’s degree in industrial design from The Ohio 
State University and a master’s degree in fine arts from the Yale 
University School of Art.

Company Information

We were incorporated in Illinois on May 16, 1984. Our corporate 
headquarters are located at 22 West Washington Street, Chicago, 
Illinois, 60602.

We maintain a website at http://corporate.morningstar.com. Our 
Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current 
reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to any of these documents 
are available free of charge on this site as soon as reasonably 
practicable after the reports are filed with or furnished to the SEC. 
We also post quarterly press releases on our financial results and 
other documents containing additional information related to our 
company on this site. We provide this website and the information 
contained in or connected to it for informational purposes only. That 
information is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the risks described below and all of 
the other information included in this Form 10-K when deciding 
whether to invest in our common stock or otherwise evaluating our 
business. If any of the following risks materialize, our business, 
financial condition, or operating results could suffer. In this case, 
the trading price of our common stock could decline, and you may 
lose all or part of your investment.

Our investment advisory operations may subject us to liability 
for any losses that result from a breach of our fiduciary duties.

Three of our subsidiaries, Ibbotson Associates, Inc., Morningstar 
Associates, LLC, and Morningstar Investment Services, Inc. are 
registered as investment advisors with the SEC under the Investment 
Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (Advisers Act). As registered 
investment advisors, these companies are subject to the require-
ments and regulations of the Advisers Act. Such requirements relate 
to, among other things, record-keeping, reporting, and standards of 
care, as well as general anti-fraud prohibitions. As registered invest-
ment advisors, all three subsidiaries are subject to on-site examina-
tion by the SEC.

In addition, because these three subsidiaries provide investment 
advisory services to retirement plans and their participants, they 
may be acting as fiduciaries under the Employee Retirement Income 
Security Act of 1974 (ERISA). As fiduciaries under ERISA, they have 
obligations to act in the best interest of their clients. They also have 
duties of loyalty and prudence, as well as duties to diversify invest-
ments and to follow plan documents to comply with the applicable 
portions of ERISA.

Our subsidiaries outside the United States that have investment 
advisory operations are subject to similar requirements.

We may face liabilities for actual or claimed breaches of our fiduciary 
duties, particularly in areas where we provide retirement advice 
and managed retirement accounts. In some of our retirement con-
tracts, we act as an ERISA fiduciary by, for example, selecting and 
monitoring a broad range of diversified plan options. As part of  
this service, we can construct and monitor the investment  
lineup, document our investment process, create an Investment 
Policy Statement, and furnish the plan with detailed quarterly  
investment and performance reports. We also provide a managed 
account service for retirement plan participants who elect to have 
their accounts managed by our programs. As of December 31, 2013, 
we had $31.7 billion in assets under management in our managed 
retirement accounts.

We rely on automated investment technology for our retirement 
advice and managed retirement accounts services. The Wealth 
Forecasting Engine is our core advice and managed accounts engine 
that determines appropriate asset allocations for retirement plan 
participants and assigns individuals to portfolios. We also rely on 
automated portfolio construction tools. Problems could arise if these 
programs assigned retirement plan participants to the wrong  
portfolios, particularly if we failed to detect program errors over  
an extended period. We may not be able to prevent clients from 
taking legal action against us for an actual or claimed breach  
of a fiduciary duty. If we make an error, we may be subject to  
potentially large liabilities for make-whole payments and/or  
litigation. We cannot quantify the potential size of these liabilities 
with any level of precision.

In addition, we may face other legal liabilities based on the quality 
and outcome of our investment advisory recommendations, even  
in the absence of an actual or claimed breach of fiduciary duty.  
In total, we provided investment advisory and management services 
on nearly $160 billion in assets as of December 31, 2013. We could 
face substantial liabilities related to our work on these assets.

Failing to differentiate our products and continuously create 
innovative, proprietary research tools may harm our competitive 
position and business results.

We attribute much of our company’s success over the past 29 years 
to our ability to develop innovative, proprietary research tools, such 
as the Morningstar Rating, Morningstar Style Box, Ownership Zone, 
and Portfolio X-Ray. We believe these proprietary tools continue to 
provide us with a competitive advantage, but if tools similar to them 
become available through other channels, our competitive position 
and business results may suffer. Our competitive position and busi-
ness results may also suffer if other companies are able to success-
fully introduce innovative, proprietary research tools that gain a 
wide following. We believe lower technology costs and the growth 
of open software platforms have lowered the barriers to entry for 
new competitors, making it easier for new players to enter the 
market. Smaller companies may be able to introduce new research 
tools that gain a wide following. If we fail to introduce innovative, 
proprietary research tools at the same rate as in the past, we may 
not generate enough enthusiasm with potential clients to win new 
business. We cannot guarantee that we will continue to successfully 
develop new product features and tools that differentiate our prod-
uct offerings from those of our competitors.
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Failing to respond to technological change, keep pace with  
new technology developments, or adopt a successful  
technology strategy may negatively affect our competitive 
position and business results.

We believe the technology landscape has been changing at an 
accelerating rate over the past several years. Changes in technology 
are fundamentally changing the ways investors access data and 
content. Examples include the shift from local network to computing 
to cloud-based systems, the proliferation of wireless mobile devices, 
and rapid acceleration in the use of social media platforms. We are 
in the process of building the next-generation software architecture 
that will eventually underlie of our investment research platforms, 
but we have not yet incorporated this software in our products. 
While some changes in technology may offer opportunities for 
Morningstar, we cannot guarantee that we will successfully adapt 
our product offerings to meet evolving customer needs. We believe 
our history of rapid technological innovation and expertise in tech-
nology have historically given us a competitive advantage. As men-
tioned above, though, we believe that lower technology costs and 
growth in open software platforms have lowered barriers to entry 
for new competitors. Our competitors may also be able to introduce 
new technology more rapidly than we are to meet changing market 
needs. Our competitive position and business results may suffer if 
we fail to develop new technologies to meet client demands, or if 
we adopt a technology strategy that doesn’t align with changes in 
the market.

An outage of our database and network facilities could result  
in reduced revenue and the loss of customers.

The success of our business depends upon our ability to deliver 
time-sensitive, up-to-date data and information. We rely on our 
computer equipment, database storage facilities, and other network 
equipment, much of which is geographically concentrated in our 
Chicago headquarters and other backup locations in the United 
States. We also have extensive information systems outside the 
United States. Our mission-critical databases and networks are 
increasingly complex and interdependent. Many of our client con-
tracts contain service-level agreements that require us to meet 
certain obligations for delivering time-sensitive, up-to-date data 
and information. We may not be able to meet these obligations in 
the event of failure or downtime in our information systems.  
Our operations and those of our suppliers and customers are  
vulnerable to interruption by fire, earthquake, power loss, telecom-
munications failure, terrorist attacks, wars, Internet failures or 
disruptions, computer viruses, and other events beyond our control.  

Our database and network facilities may also be vulnerable to exter-
nal attacks that misappropriate our data, corrupt our databases, or 
limit access to our information systems.

We maintain off-site back-up facilities for our database and network 
equipment, but we cannot guarantee that these facilities will oper-
ate as expected during an interruption that affects our headquarters. 
There may be single points of failure that affect our core databases, 
data transfer interfaces, or storage area networks. We may not be 
able to fully recover data or information lost during a database or 
network facility outage. Any losses, service disruption, or damages 
incurred by us could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
operating results, or financial condition.

Our business relies heavily on electronic delivery systems and 
the Internet. Any failures or disruptions could result in reduced 
revenue and the loss of customers.

Most of our products and services depend heavily on our electronic 
delivery systems and the Internet. Our ability to deliver information 
using the Internet may be impaired because of infrastructure failures, 
service outages at third-party Internet providers, malicious attacks, 
or other factors. If disruptions, failures, or slowdowns of our elec-
tronic delivery systems or the Internet occur, our ability to distribute 
our products and services effectively and to serve our customers 
may be impaired.

We could face liabilities and/or damage to our reputation  
as a result of some of our currently pending litigation.

From time to time, we are subject to legal or regulatory proceedings 
in the ordinary course of our business. These include proceedings 
relating to aspects of our businesses that are specific to us and 
proceedings that are typical in the asset management and financial 
information businesses in which we operate.

We are currently defendants in two cases that we describe in Item 
3—Legal Proceedings of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The 
plaintiffs are seeking large and/or indeterminate amounts of dam-
ages. Litigation is inherently unpredictable, and the outcome of any 
particular proceeding can never be predicted with certainty. An 
adverse litigation outcome could have a materially adverse effect 
on our financial condition.
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In addition to its potential financial impact, litigation can have a 
significant adverse reputational impact. We depend to a large extent 
on our reputation for integrity and high-caliber professional services. 
Allegations of improper conduct made by private litigants or regula-
tors, whether the ultimate outcome is favorable or unfavorable to 
us, as well as negative publicity and press speculation about us, 
whether valid or not, may harm our reputation, which may be dam-
aging to our business.

We could face liability related to our storage of personal 
information about our users.

Customers routinely enter personal investment and financial  
information, including portfolio holdings and credit card information, 
on our websites. We also handle an increasing volume of  
personally sensitive information through our Portfolio Management 
Service, Enterprise Data Management, managed retirement  
accounts, and other areas of our business. Contractual commitments 
to customers as well as laws and industry regulations related  
to data protection, system availability, and privacy require us to 
safeguard critical data. We are also required to take appropriate 
steps to safeguard credit card numbers, social security numbers, 
and other personally identifiable information. We may suffer  
malicious attacks seeking to penetrate our network and databases 
to gain access to personal data. We could be subject to liability  
if we were to inappropriately disclose any user’s personal informa-
tion or if third parties were able to penetrate our network security 
or otherwise gain access to any user’s name, address, portfolio 
holdings, or credit card information.

Downturns in the financial sector, global financial markets,  
and global economy may adversely impact our business.

We believe ongoing economic weakness continues to cause uncer-
tainty and pressure on consumer discretionary spending. The finan-
cial crisis of 2008 and 2009, as well as more recent financial and 
economic uncertainty, has led to spending cutbacks among asset 
management firms and other financial services companies, which 
make up a large percentage of our client base. Some institutional 
clients have also implemented additional review processes for  
new contracts or began to provide certain services, particularly 
investment advisory services, in-house rather than hiring  
outside service providers. Some institutional clients have also 
reduced the scope of their operations. For example, several large 
insurers withdrew from the variable annuity market in recent  
years, while others curtailed their new sales efforts. This has had 
a negative effect on the services we provide to institutional clients 
that offer variable annuities.

In 2010 and 2011, rising government debt levels around the world 
as well as downgrades in sovereign debt issues for some European 
countries led to market fears about a potential crisis in global sov-
ereign debt. Some European countries have been unable to suc-
cessfully refinance their debts, leading European finance officials 
to take measures during 2010 and 2011 to stabilize financial condi-
tions across Europe. While conditions in Europe have improved, 
many European countries have continued to experience weak eco-
nomic growth. In addition, many companies in the financial services 
industry have been subject to increasing government regulation, 
which may increase their operating costs and cause them to reduce 
spending in other areas.

In addition, if financial markets around the world experience  
negative performance and volatility, demand for our products and 
services may decline, and our revenue, operating income, and  
other financial results could suffer. Our business results may also 
be hurt by negative trends in Internet advertising sales. Our  
structured credit rating business is subject to volatility from  
trends in new issuance of commercial mortgage-backed securities 
and other structured credits. The financial markets and many  
businesses operating in the financial services industry are highly 
volatile and are affected by factors, such as U.S. and foreign  
economic conditions and general trends in business and finance, 
that are beyond our control.

Our revenue from asset-based fees may be adversely  
affected by market declines as well as the effect of cash 
outflows from portfolios that we help manage.

In 2013, revenue from asset-based fees made up approximately 13% 
of our consolidated revenue and a greater percentage of our oper-
ating income. The amount of revenue we earn from asset-based 
fees depends on the value of assets on which we provide advisory 
services, and the size of our asset base can increase or decrease 
along with trends in market performance. The value of assets under 
advisement may show substantial declines during periods of sig-
nificant market volatility. The size of these portfolios can also be 
affected if net inflows into the portfolios on which we provide invest-
ment advisory services drop or if these portfolios experience redemp-
tions. If the level of assets on which we provide investment advisory 
services goes down, we expect our fee-based revenue to show a 
corresponding decline.

34

2013 10-K: Part I

 PMSCG11
 Angle@53

 PMS632
 Angle@53

137847BDY_12_102_r1_13AR_140314_01.indd   34 3/18/14   8:46 AM



Failing to maintain and protect our brand, independence, and  
reputation may harm our business. Our reputation and business  
may also be harmed by allegations made about possible 
conflicts of interest.

We believe that independence is at the core of our business, and 
our reputation is our greatest corporate asset. We offer products 
and services to our institutional clients, which include banks, broker-
age firms, insurance companies, mutual fund companies, media 
outlets, and retirement plan providers and sponsors. Our institutional 
clients have generated a significant percentage of our consolidated 
revenue in recent years. We provide ratings, analyst research, and 
investment recommendations on mutual funds and other investment 
products offered and securities issued by our institutional clients. 
We also provide investment advisory and investment management 
services. The fact that our institutional clients pay us for certain 
products and services, as well as the fact that in some cases we 
make investment recommendations within the framework of client 
constraints, may create the perception that our ratings, research, 
and recommendations are not impartial.

This perception may undermine the confidence of our customers and 
potential customers in our reputation as a provider of independent 
research. Any such loss of confidence or damage to our reputation 
could hurt our business.

Any failure to uphold our high ethical standards and ensure that our 
customers have a consistently positive experience with us (either 
intentionally or inadvertently) could damage our reputation as an 
objective, honest, and credible source for investment research and 
information.

Our reputation may also be harmed by factors outside of our control, 
such as news reports about our clients or adverse publicity about 
certain investment products.

Changes in laws applicable to our investment advisory  
or credit rating operations, compliance failures, or regulatory 
action could adversely affect our business.

Our investment advisory operations are a growing part of our over-
all business. The securities laws and other laws that govern our 
activities as a registered investment advisor are complex. The 
activities of our investment advisory operations are primarily  
subject to provisions of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940  
(the Advisers Act) and the Employee Retirement Income Security  
Act of 1974 (ERISA). In addition, Morningstar Investment Services 

is a broker-dealer registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934 (the Exchange Act) and is subject to the rules of FINRA. We 
also provide investment advisory services in other areas around the 
world, and our operations are subject to additional regulations in 
markets outside the United States. If we fail to establish required 
licenses or regulatory approvals for our investment advisory opera-
tions, we may be subject to fines or other events that could have a 
negative effect on our business.

Over the past several years, we have also made significant invest-
ments in our credit rating business. We began publishing  
credit ratings and associated research on corporate debt issuers  
in 2009. Although our corporate credit rating business is not  
currently regulated as a Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating 
Organization (NRSRO), credit rating and research providers have 
been under increasing regulatory scrutiny. We cannot predict the 
future impact of potential future regulatory changes on our corporate 
credit rating business.

We also expanded our credit rating business operations with our 
May 2010 acquisition of Realpoint, LLC (now known as Morningstar 
Credit Ratings, LLC), an NRSRO that specializes in structured finance. 
As an NRSRO, Morningstar Credit Ratings is subject to various 
requirements and regulations under the Exchange Act relating to, 
among other things, record-keeping, reporting, governance, and 
conflicts of interest. As part of its NRSRO registration, Morningstar 
Credit Ratings is subject to annual examination by the SEC.

It is difficult to predict the future effect of the broad and expanding 
legislative and regulatory requirements affecting our business. The 
laws, rules, and regulations applicable to our business may change 
in the future, and we may not be able to comply with any such 
changes. If we fail to comply with any applicable law, rule, or 
regulation, we could be fined, sanctioned, or barred from providing 
investment advisory or credit rating services in the future, which 
could materially adversely affect our business, operating results, or 
financial condition.
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Competition could reduce our share of the investment research 
market and hurt our financial performance.

We operate in a highly competitive industry, with many investment 
research providers competing for business from individual investors, 
financial advisors, and institutional clients. We compete with many 
different types of companies that vary in size, product scope, and 
media focus, including large and well-established distributors of 
financial information, such as Bloomberg; Standard & Poor’s, a divi-
sion of McGraw Hill Financial; and Thomson Reuters. We compete 
with a variety of other companies in different areas of our business, 
which we discuss in greater detail in the Major Products and Services 
section in Item 1—Business.

Many of our competitors have larger customer bases and significantly 
greater resources than we do. This may allow them to respond more 
quickly to new technologies and changes in demand for products 
and services, devote greater resources to developing and promoting 
their services, and make more attractive offers to potential clients, 
subscribers, and strategic partners. They may also be able to offer 
better customer service and support. Industry consolidation may also 
lead to more intense competition. Increased competition could result 
in price reductions, reduced margins, or loss of market share, any of 
which could hurt our business, operating results, or financial condition.

The investment information industry is dominated by a few large 
players, and industry consolidation has increased in the past several 
years. If providers of data and investment analysis continue to con-
solidate, our competitive position may suffer.

Our results could suffer if the mutual fund industry continues to 
experience slower growth, or if actively managed equity funds 
continue to attract less investor attention.

We generate a significant portion of our revenue from products and 
services related to mutual funds. The mutual fund industry has 
experienced substantial growth over the past 30 years, but suffered 
along with the market downturn in 2008 and early 2009. Since then, 
fund assets have increased, but at a slower rate than in previous 
years. Based on Morningstar’s estimates for U.S. mutual fund asset 
flows, long-term open-end funds had positive net inflows of approx-
imately $270 billion in 2013.

A significant portion of our fund research has historically focused 
on equity-related funds. In addition, we are best-known for our data 
and analyst research on actively managed equity funds. Over the 
past several years, passively managed index funds have seen  
greater investor interest. This trend continued in 2013, as passively 
managed vehicles (both mutual funds and ETFs) had about $300 
billion in net inflows, compared with $150 billion of net inflows  
for active products. Overall, we estimate that passively managed 
assets now account for more than one-fourth of combined mutual 
fund and ETF assets.

Continued downturns or volatility in the financial markets, increased 
investor interest in other investment vehicles, or a lack of investor 
confidence could continue to reduce investor interest and  
investment activity. In addition, a continued lessening of investor 
interest in actively managed equity funds could decrease demand 
for our products.

Our operations outside of the United States are expanding and 
involve additional challenges that we may not be able to meet.

Our operations outside of the United States generated $197.5  
million in revenue in 2013, or about 28% of our consolidated revenue. 
There are risks inherent in doing business outside the United  
States, including challenges in reaching new markets because of 
established competitors and limited brand recognition; difficulties 
in staffing, managing, and integrating non-U.S. operations; difficul-
ties in coordinating and sharing information globally; differences 
in laws and policies from country to country; exposure to varying 
legal standards, including intellectual property protection laws; 
potential tax exposure related to transfer pricing and other issues; 
heightened risk of fraud and noncompliance; and currency exchange 
rates and exchange controls. These risks could hamper our ability 
to expand around the world, which may hurt our financial perfor-
mance and ability to grow.

As our non-U.S. revenue increases as a percentage of consolidated 
revenue, fluctuations in foreign currencies present a greater poten-
tial risk. We don’t engage in currency hedging or have any positions 
in derivative instruments to hedge our currency risk. Our reported 
revenue could suffer if certain foreign currencies decline relative 
to the U.S. dollar, although the impact on operating income may be 
offset by an opposing currency impact on locally based operating 
expense. In addition, because we use the local currency of our sub-
sidiaries as the functional currency, our financial results are affected 
by the translation of foreign currencies into U.S. dollars.
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The concentration of data and development work carried  
out at our offshore facilities may have a negative effect on our 
business operations, products, and services.

We now have approximately 900 employees working in our data 
and technology development center in Shenzhen, China, or about 
one-fourth of our total workforce. Because China has a restrictive 
government under centralized control, we cannot predict the level 
of political and regulatory risk that may affect our operations. The 
concentration of development and data work carried out at this 
facility also involves operational risks for our network infrastructure. 
Any difficulties that we face in successfully maintaining our devel-
opment center in China may harm our business and have a negative 
impact on the products and services we provide, particularly because 
we rely on employees in this facility to maintain and update our 
mutual fund database.

We have approximately 360 employees who work at our data col-
lection facility in Mumbai, India, which may also be subject to 
regulatory and political risk (including potential terrorist acts). Like 
the Shenzhen operation, these facilities also involve operational 
risks for our network infrastructure.

We could face liability for the information we publish, including 
information based on data we obtain from other parties.

We may be subject to claims for securities law violations, defama-
tion (including libel and slander), negligence, or other claims relat-
ing to the information we publish, including our research and ratings 
on corporate credit issuers. For example, investors may take legal 
action against us if they rely on published information that contains 
an error, or a company may claim that we have made a defamatory 
statement about it or its employees. We could also be subject to 
claims based on the content that is accessible from our website 
through links to other websites. We rely on a variety of outside 
parties as the original sources for the information we use in our 
published data. These sources include securities exchanges, fund 
companies, hedge funds, transfer agents, and other data providers. 
Accordingly, in addition to possible exposure for publishing incorrect 
information that results directly from our own errors, we could face 
liability based on inaccurate data provided to us by others. Defending 
claims based on the information we publish could be expensive and 
time-consuming and could adversely impact our business, operating 
results, and financial condition.

Our future success depends on our ability to recruit and retain 
qualified employees.

We experience competition for analysts and other employees from 
financial institutions and financial services organizations. These 
organizations generally have greater resources than we do and 
therefore may be able to offer significantly more attractive compen-
sation packages to potential employees. Competition for these 
employees is intense, and we may not be able to retain our existing 
employees or be able to recruit and retain other highly qualified 
personnel in the future.

Our future success also depends on the continued service of our 
executive officers, including Joe Mansueto, our chairman, chief 
executive officer, and controlling shareholder. Joe is heavily  
involved in our day-to-day operations, business strategy, and over-
all company direction. The loss of Joe or other executive officers 
could hurt our business, operating results, or financial condition. 
We do not have employment agreements, non-compete agreements, 
or life insurance policies in place with any of our executive officers. 
They may leave us and work for our competitors or start their own 
competing businesses.

Failure to protect our intellectual property rights could harm our 
brand and ability to compete effectively.

The steps we have taken to protect our intellectual property may 
not be adequate to safeguard our proprietary information. Further, 
effective trademark, copyright, and trade secret protection may not 
be available in every country in which we offer our services. Our 
continued ability to market one or more of our products under their 
current names could be adversely affected in those jurisdictions 
where another person registers, or has a pre-existing registration 
on one or more of them. Failure to adequately protect our intel-
lectual property could harm our brand, devalue our proprietary 
content, and affect our ability to compete in the marketplace.

From time to time, we encounter jurisdictions in which one or more 
third parties have a pre-existing trademark registration in certain 
relevant international classes that may prevent us from registering 
our own marks in those jurisdictions. It is possible that our contin-
ued ability to use the “Morningstar” name or logo, either on a stand-
alone basis or in association with certain products or services, could 
be compromised in those jurisdictions because of these pre-existing 
registrations. Similarly, from time to time, we encounter situations 
in certain jurisdictions where one or more third parties are already 
using the Morningstar name, either as part of a registered corporate  
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name, a registered domain name or otherwise. Our ability to effec-
tively market certain products and/or services in those locations 
could be adversely affected by these pre-existing usages.

Control by a principal shareholder could adversely  
affect our other shareholders.

As of December 31, 2013, Joe Mansueto, our chairman and chief 
executive officer, owned approximately 55% of our outstanding 
common stock. As a result, he has the ability to control substantially 
all matters submitted to our shareholders for approval, including 
the election and removal of directors and any merger, consolidation, 
or sale of our assets. He also has the ability to control our manage-
ment and affairs. This concentration of ownership may delay or 
prevent a change in control; impede a merger, consolidation, take-
over, or other business combination involving Morningstar; discour-
age a potential acquirer from making a tender offer or otherwise 
attempting to obtain control of the company; or result in actions 
that may be opposed by other shareholders.

Fluctuations in our operating results may negatively  
affect our stock price.

We believe our business has relatively large fixed costs and low 
variable costs, which magnify the impact of revenue fluctuations 
on our operating results. As a result, a decline in our revenue may 
lead to a larger decline in operating income. A substantial portion 
of our operating expense is related to personnel costs, marketing 
programs, office leases, and other infrastructure spending, which 
generally cannot be adjusted quickly. Our operating expense levels 
are based on our expectations for future revenue. If actual revenue 
falls below our expectations, or if our expenses increase before 
revenues do, our operating results would be materially and adversely 
affected. In addition, we do not provide earnings guidance or hold 
one-on-one meetings with institutional investors and research ana-
lysts. Because of this policy and limited analyst coverage on our 
stock, our stock price may be volatile. If our operating results or 
other operating metrics fail to meet the expectations of outside 
research analysts and investors, the market price of our common 
stock may decline.

The future sale of shares of our common stock may negatively 
affect our stock price.

If our shareholders sell substantial amounts of our common stock, 
the market price of our common stock could fall. A reduction in 
ownership by Joe Mansueto or any other large shareholder could 
cause the market price of our common stock to fall. In addition, the 
average daily trading volume in our stock is relatively low. The lack 
of trading activity in our stock may lead to greater fluctuations in 
our stock price. Low trading volume may also make it difficult for 
shareholders to make transactions in a timely fashion.

Our shareholders may experience dilution  
in their ownership positions.

In the past, we’ve granted options to employees as a significant 
part of their overall compensation package. In 2006, we began grant-
ing restricted stock units to our employees and non-employee direc-
tors. As of December 31, 2013, our employees and non-employee 
directors held options to acquire 433,531 shares of common stock, 
399,008 of which were exercisable at a weighted average price of 
approximately $27.91 per share. As of December 31, 2013, there 
were 696,684 restricted stock units outstanding, which have an 
average remaining vesting period of 33 months. Generally speaking, 
the company issues a share of stock when a restricted stock unit 
vests. To the extent that option holders exercise outstanding options 
to purchase common stock and we issue shares with the vesting of 
restricted stock units vest, there will be further dilution. Future 
grants of stock options or restricted stock units may also result in 
dilution. We may raise additional funds through future sales of our 
common stock. Any such financing would result in additional dilution 
to our shareholders.

Stock option exercises, share repurchases, and other factors 
may create volatility in our cash flows.

Part of our cash provided by financing activities consists of proceeds 
from stock option exercises and excess tax benefits related to stock 
option exercises and vesting of restricted stock units. Excess tax 
benefits occur at the time a stock option is exercised if the intrinsic 
value of the option (the difference between the exercise price of 
the option and the fair value of our stock on the date of exercise) 
exceeds the fair value of the option at the time of grant. Similarly, 
excess tax benefits are generated upon vesting of restricted stock  
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units when the market value of our common stock at vesting is 
greater than the grant price of the restricted stock units. These 
excess tax benefits reduce the cash we pay for income taxes in the 
year they are recognized. It is not possible to predict the timing of 
stock option exercises or the intrinsic value that will be realized. 
Because of this uncertainty, there may be additional volatility in our 
cash flows from financing activities.

In addition, our board of directors has authorized a share repurchase 
program allowing for the repurchase of up to $700 million of our 
outstanding common stock, of which approximately $230 million 
remains available for future repurchases as of February 21, 2014. 
We may repurchase shares from time to time at prevailing market 
prices on the open market or in private transactions in amounts  
that management deems appropriate. Changes in the amount of 
repurchase activity from period to period may also cause volatility 
in our cash flows.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

We do not have any unresolved comments from the Staff of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission regarding our periodic or cur-
rent reports under the Exchange Act.

Item 2. Properties

As of December 31, 2013, we leased approximately 334,000 square 
feet of office space for our U.S. operations, primarily for our office 
located in Chicago, Illinois. We also lease approximately 357,000 
square feet of office space in 26 other countries around the world, 
including 141,000 square feet in Shenzhen, China. We believe that 
our existing and planned office facilities are adequate for our needs 
and that additional or substitute space is available to accommodate 
growth and expansion.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Life’s Good S.T.A.B.L. Hedge Fund

In September 2011, three individual investors in Life’s Good S.T.A.B.L. 
Mortgage hedge fund (LG), Marta Klass, Gregory Martin, and Richard 
Roellig, filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the 
Eastern District of Pennsylvania against LG, its principal Robert 
Stinson, and several other parties, including Morningstar, Inc. (the 
Klass Matter). The plaintiffs claim that Morningstar committed fraud 
and aided and abetted the other defendants’ breach of fiduciary 
duty through the 5-star rating LG obtained from Morningstar. The 
plaintiffs seek unspecified damages. Hedge fund managers self-
report their performance data to Morningstar. More than a year 
before the Klass Matter, in June 2010, the SEC filed suit against LG 
and other entities claiming they were part of a Ponzi scheme oper-
ated by Stinson. As a result, LG and the other entities were placed 
in court-appointed receivership. Morningstar was not part of the 
SEC suit or receivership. Since that time, the Receiver, as part of 
his duties, has been investigating whether to assert claims against 
third parties. Morningstar is aware of 14 lawsuits filed by the 
Receiver seeking to recover money for the fund.

In November 2011, Morningstar filed a motion to dismiss the Klass 
Matter. On behalf of the entities in receivership, the Receiver filed 
a motion to stay the proceedings because the Receivership Order 
does not permit suits against the entities in receivership without 
court permission. The court granted the Receiver’s motion and stayed 
the Klass Matter. In April 2012, the Receiver filed a complaint against 
Morningstar, in which the Receiver claims that Morningstar is liable 
for contribution and aiding and abetting Stinson’s breach of fiduciary 
duty and fraud through the 5-star rating LG obtained from Morningstar. 
The same day the Receiver filed his complaint, Morningstar sought 
leave from the court to file a counter suit against Stinson and two 
of his entities-Keystone State Capital Corporation and LG for, among 
other things, fraud, misrepresentation, and breach of user agree-
ments. In June 2012, the court denied Morningstar’s motion for  
leave to file suit. The court took no position on the merits of 
Morningstar’s claims, and did not preclude us from renewing our 
motion to file a complaint at a later time, but deferred to the 
Receiver’s request not to subject the receivership estate to additional 
litigation at this early point in the receivership. A bench trial related  
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to the Receiver’s claims against Morningstar was held between 
January 13 and January 28, 2014. At trial, the Receiver claimed that 
Morningstar is liable under a contribution theory for all or part of a 
$14.5 million disgorgement judgment that the SEC obtained against 
the entities and individuals in receivership. Morningstar contested 
liability and damages at trial and believes it is not liable for any 
amount. The parties will file post-trial proposed findings of fact and 
conclusions of law in early March 2014. It is not known when the 
court will issue its decision.

We believe the allegations against Morningstar by the Klass plain-
tiffs and the Receiver have no legal or factual basis and we plan to 
continue to vigorously contest the claims. We also intend to refile 
our affirmative claims against Stinson, Keystone, and LG at a later 
time consistent with the court’s order. We cannot predict the outcome 
of the proceedings.

We have not provided an estimate of loss or range of loss in con-
nection with this matter because no such estimate can reasonably 
be made.

Business Logic Holding Corporation

In November 2009, Business Logic Holding Corporation filed a com-
plaint in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois against Ibbotson 
Associates, Inc. and Morningstar, Inc. relating to Ibbotson’s prior 
commercial relationship with Business Logic. Business Logic is 
alleging breach of contract and trade secret misappropriation in 
connection with Ibbotson’s development of a proprietary web-service 
software and user interface that connects plan participant data with 
the Ibbotson Wealth Forecasting Engine. Ibbotson and Morningstar 
answered the complaint, and Ibbotson asserted a counterclaim 
against Business Logic alleging trade secret misappropriation and 
breach of contract, also seeking damages and injunctive relief. 
Business Logic filed a motion for summary judgment on its breach 
of contract claim, which was denied on October 1, 2013.

Business Logic’s complaint seeks, among other things, compensatory 
damages, punitive damages, attorneys’ fees, and injunctive relief. 
With regard to compensatory damages, based on the analysis of 
Ibbotson’s retained damages expert (who has assumed, solely  
for purposes of his analysis, that Business Logic will prevail with 
regard to the issue of liability), and recognizing the uncertainty  
inherent in litigation and our intention to continue to vigorously 
defend the claims made by Business Logic, our best estimate of the 
range of possible loss is between $0 and $5.4 million, excluding 
punitive damages or attorneys’ fees, both of which are recoverable 
in certain circumstances under the Illinois Trade Secrets Act. 
Business Logic’s retained damages expert (who has also assumed 
for purposes of her estimate that Business Logic will prevail with 
regard to the issue of liability) has, however, estimated compensa-
tory damages of $84 million, excluding punitive damages or attorneys’ 
fees. We dispute the conclusions reached and the methods employed 
by Business Logic’s expert.

With regard to Business Logic’s claim for injunctive relief, no reason-
able estimate of loss or range of loss is possible.

Morningstar and Ibbotson continue to vigorously contest all the 
claims against them in this matter. We cannot, however, predict the 
outcome of the proceeding.

In addition to these proceedings, we are involved in legal proceed-
ings and litigation that have arisen in the normal course of our 
business. Although the outcome of a particular proceeding can never 
be predicted, we do not believe that the result of any of these other 
matters will have a material adverse effect on our business, operat-
ing results, or financial position.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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Part II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, 
Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases 
of Equity Securities

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market 
under the symbol “MORN.”

The following table shows the high and low price per share of our 
common stock for the periods indicated, as reported on the Nasdaq 
Global Select Market:

        2013    2012

      High  Low  High  Low

First Quarter   $ 71.14 $ 61.31 $ 63.25 $ 56.23
Second Quarter    77.83  63.01  63.57  54.71
Third Quarter    80.00  74.19  63.08  56.35
Fourth Quarter    85.97  73.40  65.62  60.69

As of February 21, 2014, the last reported price on the Nasdaq Global 
Select Market for our common stock was $83.15 per share, and 
there were 1,412 shareholders of record for our common stock.

The following table shows dividends declared and paid for the  
periods indicated:

        2013    2012

     Dividends Dividends  Dividends  Dividends 
     declared paid  declared  paid

First Quarter   $ 0.125 $ — $ 0.10 $ 0.10
Second Quarter    0.125  0.125  0.10  0.10
Third Quarter    —  0.125  0.10  0.10
Fourth Quarter    0.295  0.125  0.125  0.225

We paid three dividends during 2013 as we opted to pay our January 
2013 dividend in December 2012. While subsequent dividends will 
be subject to board approval, we expect to pay a regular quarterly 
dividend of 17.0 cents per share in 2014.

Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the 
discretion of our board of directors and will be dependent upon our 
results of operations, financial condition, contractual restrictions, 
restrictions imposed by applicable law, and other factors deemed 
relevant by the board of directors. Future indebtedness and loan 
facilities could also prohibit or restrict our ability to pay dividends 
and make distributions to our shareholders.

See Note 11 of the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements 
for a description of our equity compensation plans.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities*

The following table presents information related to repurchases of common stock we made through September 30, 2013 and during the 
three months ended December 31, 2013:

      Total number of Approximate dollar 
      shares purchased value of shares  
      as part of publicly that may yet be 
    Total number of Average price announced  purchased under 
Period:   shares purchased paid per share programs (1) the programs (1)

Cumulative through September 30, 2013     5,885,886 $ 60.99  5,885,886 $ 140,936,469
October 1, 2013 – October 31, 2013     152,139  74.75  152,139 $ 129,560,608
November 1, 2013 – November 30, 2013     —  —  — $ 129,560,608
December 1, 2013 – December 31, 2013     1,029,981  77.01  1,029,981 $ 250,216,174

Total      7,068,006 $ 63.62  7,068,006

 * Subject to applicable law, we may repurchase shares at prevailing market prices directly on the open market or in privately negotiated transactions in amounts that we deem appropriate.

(1) In September 2010, our board of directors approved a share repurchase program that authorized the purchase of up to $100 million of the outstanding common stock with an  
expiration date of December 31, 2012. In December 2011, the board approved a $200 million increase to this program. In December 2012, the board authorized the company to repurchase 
up to an additional $200 million in shares of our outstanding common stock and extended the expiration date of the program to December 31, 2014. In December 2013, the board approved 
another $200 million increase in the program.
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Rule 10b5-1 Sales Plans
Our directors and executive officers may exercise stock options or 
purchase or sell shares of our common stock in the market from 
time to time. We encourage them to make these transactions through 
plans that comply with Exchange Act Rule 10b5-1(c). Morningstar 
will not receive any proceeds, other than proceeds from the exercise 
of stock options, related to these transactions. The following table, 
which we are providing on a voluntary basis, shows the Rule 10b5-1 
sales plans entered into by our directors and executive officers that 
were in effect as of February 15, 2014:

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected historical financial data shown below should be read 
in conjunction with Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations and our Consolidated 
Financial Statements and related notes included elsewhere in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K. We have derived our Consolidated 
Statements of Income Data and Consolidated Cash Flow Data for 
the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 and Consolidated 
Balance Sheet Data as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 from  
our audited Consolidated Financial Statements included in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K. The Consolidated Statements of  
Income Data and Consolidated Cash Flow Data for the years ended 
December 31, 2010 and 2009 and Consolidated Balance Sheet  
Data as of December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 were derived from  
our audited Consolidated Financial Statements, that are not included 
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Name and  
Position

Date of  
Plan

Plan  
Termination  

Date

Number of  
Shares to be  

Sold under  
the Plan Timing of Sales under the Plan

Number of  
Shares Sold  

under the Plan  
through  

February 15, 2014

Projected  
Beneficial  

Ownership (1)

Jack Noonan
Director

11/15/2012 5/2/2015 24,000 Shares to be sold under the 
plan if the stock reaches 
specified prices

13,000 58,232

David W. Williams
Head of Design and 
Marketing

11/25/2013 4/1/2015 7,500 Shares to be sold under the 
plan if the stock reaches 
specified prices

— 36,943

During the fourth quarter, the previously disclosed Rule 10b5-1 sales plans for Bevin Desmond and her spouse, Steve Kaplan, Richard Robbins, 
and David W. Williams, completed or expired in accordance with their terms.

(1) This column reflects an estimate of the number of shares each identified director and executive officer will beneficially own following the sale of all shares under the Rule 10b5-1 
sales plans identified above. This information reflects the beneficial ownership of our common stock on December 31, 2013, and includes shares of our common stock subject to options 
that were then exercisable or that will have become exercisable by March 1, 2014 and restricted stock units that will vest by March 1, 2014. The estimates do not reflect any changes 
to beneficial ownership that may have occurred since December 31, 2013. Each director and executive officer identified in the table may amend or terminate his Rule 10b5-1 sales plan 
and may adopt additional Rule 10b5-1 plans in the future.
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Consolidated Statements of Income Data
(in thousands except per share amounts) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Revenue $ 478,996 $ 555,351 $ 631,400 $ 658,288 $ 698,266
Operating expense 354,323 434,292 492,985 507,620 527,612

Operating income 124,673 121,059 138,415 150,668 170,654
Non-operating income, net 2,934 6,732 1,709 2,957 7,356

Income before income taxes and equity in net income 127,607 127,791 140,124 153,625 178,010
of unconsolidated entities

Equity in net income of unconsolidated entities 1,165 1,422 1,848 2,027 1,428
Income tax expense 46,775 42,756 43,658 52,878 56,031

Consolidated net income from continuing operations 81,997 86,457 98,314 102,774 123,407
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax — — — 5,188 —

Consolidated net income 81,997 86,457 98,314 107,962 123,407
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests 132 (87) 43 117 122

Net income attributable to Morningstar, Inc. $ 82,129 $ 86,370 $ 98,357 $ 108,079 $ 123,529

Net income per share attributable to Morningstar, Inc.:
Basic:
Continuing operations $ 1.71 $ 1.75 $ 1.96 $ 2.12 $ 2.68
Discontinued operations — — — 0.11 —

Total $ 1.71 $ 1.75 $ 1.96 $ 2.23 $ 2.68

Diluted:
Continuing operations $ 1.65 $ 1.70 $ 1.92 $ 2.10 $ 2.66
Discontinued operations — — — 0.10 —

Total $ 1.65 $ 1.70 $ 1.92 $ 2.20 $ 2.66

Dividends per common share:
Dividends declared per common share $ — $ 0.05 $ 0.25 $ 0.425 $ 0.545
Dividends paid per common share $ — $ — $ 0.20 $ 0.525 $ 0.375

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 48,112 49,249 50,032 48,497 46,158
Diluted 49,793 50,555 50,988 49,148 46,491
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Other Consolidated Financial Data 
($000) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Stock-based compensation expense (1):
Restricted stock units $ 10,591 $ 12,545 $ 12,765 $ 13,451 $ 14,163
Restricted stock — 1,248 2,196 5,013 388
Stock options 1,002 — 342 441 492

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 11,593 $ 13,793 $ 15,303 $ 18,905 $ 15,043

Cash provided by (used for) investing activities (2) $ (174,675) $ (87,949) $ (110,767) $ 80,192 $ (14,861)
Cash provided by (used for) financing activities (3) $ 25,320 $ 12,525 $ (32,596) $ (265,176) $ (166,372)

Cash provided by operating activities $ 101,256 $ 123,416 $ 164,976 $ 145,996 $ 186,658
Capital expenditures (12,372) (14,771) (23,322) (30,039) (33,583)

Free cash flow (4) $ 88,884 $ 108,645 $ 141,654 $ 115,957 $ 153,075

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data
As of December 31 ($000) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Cash, cash equivalents, and investments  $ 342,553 $ 365,416 $ 470,192 $ 321,418 $ 298,567
Working capital   236,595  254,556  341,400  217,245  166,602
Total assets   919,083  1,086,302  1,172,084  1,041,952  1,030,668
Deferred revenue (5)   127,114  146,267  155,494  146,015  149,225
Long-term liabilities   45,792  52,153  44,435  57,692  59,087
Total equity   665,789  781,425  857,016  726,895  691,290

(1) We account for our stock-based compensation expense in accordance with FASB ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation. Our stock-based compensation expense  
reflects grants of restricted stock units, restricted stock, and stock options. Please see Note 11 of the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on our stock-
based compensation.

(2) Cash provided by (used for) investing activities consists primarily of cash used for acquisitions, purchases of investments, net of proceeds from the sale of investments, capital 
expenditures, purchases of equity and cost- method investments, and proceeds from the sale of businesses. The level of investing activities can vary from period to period depending on 
the level of activity in these categories. Refer to Item 7—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources for 
more information concerning cash used for investing activities.

(3) Cash provided by (used for) financing activities consists primarily of cash used to repurchase outstanding common stock through our share repurchase program and dividend payments. 
These cash outflows are offset by proceeds from stock-option exercises and excess tax benefits. Refer to Item 7—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources, for more information concerning cash provided by financing activities.

(4) Free cash flow is considered a non-GAAP financial measure under SEC regulations. We present this measure as supplemental information to help investors better understand  
trends in our business results over time. Our management team uses free cash flow to evaluate our business. Free cash flow is not equivalent to any measure required to be reported 
under GAAP, nor should this data be considered an indicator of liquidity. Moreover, the free cash flow definition we use may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported  
by other companies.

(5) We frequently invoice or collect cash in advance of providing services or fulfilling subscriptions for our customers. These amounts are recorded as deferred revenue on our 
Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The discussion included in this section, as well as other sections of 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, contains forward-looking state-
ments as that term is used in the Private Securities Litigation Reform 
Act of 1995. These statements are based on our current expectations 
about future events or future financial performance. Forward-looking 
statements by their nature address matters that are, to different 
degrees, uncertain, and often contain words such as “may,” “could,” 

“expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “seek,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” 
“predict,” “potential,” or “continue.” These statements involve known 
and unknown risks and uncertainties that may cause the events we 
discuss not to occur or to differ significantly from what we expect. 
For us, these risks and uncertainties include, among others:

UU liability for any losses that result from an actual or claimed 
breach of our fiduciary duties;
UU failing to differentiate our products and continuously create  
innovative, proprietary research tools;
UU failing to respond to technological change, keep pace with  
new technology developments, or adopt a successful 
technology strategy;
UU a prolonged outage of our database and network facilities;
UU any failures or disruptions in our electronic delivery systems  
and the Internet;
UU liability and/or damage to our reputation as a result  
of some of our pending litigation;
UU liability related to the storage of personal information  
about our users;
UU general industry conditions and competition, including global 
financial uncertainty, trends in the mutual fund industry, and 
continued growth in passively managed investment vehicles;
UU the impact of market volatility on revenue from  
asset-based fees;
UU failing to maintain and protect our brand, independence,  
and reputation;
UU changes in laws applicable to our investment advisory  
or credit rating operations, compliance failures,  
or regulatory action; and
UU challenges faced by our non-U.S. operations, including  
the concentration of development work at our offshore 
facilities in China and India.

A more complete description of these risks and uncertainties can 
be found in Item 1A—Risk Factors of this Annual Report on Form 
10-K. If any of these risks and uncertainties materialize, our actual 
future results may vary significantly from what we expected. We 
do not undertake to update our forward-looking statements as a 
result of new information or future events.

All dollar and percentage comparisons, which are often accompanied 
by words such as “increase,” “decrease,” “grew,” “declined,” “was 
up,” “was down,” “was flat,” or “was similar” refer to a comparison 
with the same period in the prior year unless otherwise stated.

Understanding Our Company

Key Business Characteristics

Our mission is to create great products that help investors reach 
their financial goals. We offer an extensive line of products and 
services for financial advisors, asset managers, retirement plan 
providers and sponsors, and individual investors. Many of our  
products are sold through subscriptions or license agreements.  
As a result, we typically generate recurring revenue.

In the third quarter of 2013, we revised our segment structure to 
reflect our shift to a more centralized organizational structure.  
We now report our results in a single segment, which is consistent 
with how management allocates resources and evaluates our  
financial results.

Revenue

We generate revenue by selling a variety of investment-related 
products and services. We sell most of our investment information 
products and services, including Morningstar Data, Morningstar 
Advisor Workstation, Morningstar Direct, Morningstar Equity 
Research, Retirement Solutions, and some of our structured credit 
research and ratings offerings, through license agreements. Our 
license agreements typically range from one to three years. We sell 
some of our other products, such as Premium Membership service 
on Morningstar.com, Principia software, and newsletters, via sub-
scriptions. These subscriptions are mainly offered for a one-year 
term, although we also offer terms ranging from one month to three 
years. We also sell advertising on our websites throughout the 
world. In our structured credit research and rating business, we 
generate transaction-based revenue for our ratings on new issues 
of commercial mortgage-backed securities.
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Our investment management business has multiple fee structures, 
which vary by client. In general, we seek to receive asset-based 
fees for any work we perform that involves managing investments 
or acting as a subadvisor to investment portfolios. For any indi-
vidual contract, we may receive flat fees, variable asset-based fees, 
or a combination of the two. Some of our contracts include minimum 
fee levels that provide us with a flat payment up to a specified asset 
level, above which we also receive variable asset-based fees. In 
the majority of our contracts that include variable asset-based fees, 
we bill clients quarterly in arrears based on average assets for the 
quarter. The method of calculation varies by client; some contracts 
include provisions for calculating average assets based on daily 
data, while others use weekly or monthly data. Other contracts may 
include provisions for monthly billing or billing based on assets as 
of the last day of the billing period rather than on average assets.

In our Retirement Solutions business, our contracts may include 
one-time setup fees, technology licensing fees, asset-based fees 
for managed retirement accounts, fixed and variable fees for advice 
and guidance, or a combination of these fee structures. Our 
Retirement Solutions business also includes plan sponsor and cus-
tom target-date consulting arrangements. Fees for these services 
may be based on the level of assets under advisement.

We do not disclose a fee range for our Investment Advisory Services 
and Retirement Solutions businesses because our fee structures 
vary by client. In addition, we believe disclosing a fee range would 
be detrimental to our competitive position. We disclose changes in 
the nature of the underlying services we provide or their associated 
fee structures (for example, a change from flat fees to asset-based 
fees) in our SEC filings to the extent that they are material to our 
financial results.

For Morningstar Managed Portfolios, we charge asset-based fees, 
which are based on a tiered schedule that depends on the client’s 
account balance. Fees for our mutual fund and ETF portfolios gener-
ally range from 20 to 40 basis points. We charge fees of 55 basis 
points for our customized stock portfolios.

Deferred Revenue

We frequently invoice our clients and collect cash in advance of 
providing services or fulfilling subscriptions for our customers. As 
a result, we use some of this cash to fund our operations and invest 
in new product development. Deferred revenue is the largest  
liability on our Consolidated Balance Sheets and totaled $149.2 
million at the end of 2013 and $146.0 million at the end of 2012.  
We expect to recognize this deferred revenue in future periods as 
we fulfill the service obligations under our subscription, license, 
and service agreements.

Significant Operating Leverage

Our business requires significant investments to create and maintain 
proprietary databases and content. We strive to leverage these 
costs by selling a wide variety of products and services to multiple 
customer groups, through multiple media, and in many geographical 
markets. In general, our businesses have high fixed costs, and  
we expect our revenue to increase or decrease more quickly than 
our operating expense. We believe that while the fixed costs of the 
investments in our business are relatively high, the variable  
cost of adding customers is considerably lower, particularly as a 
significant portion of our products and services focus on Internet-
based platforms and assets under management. At times, we may 
make investments in building our databases and content that will 
hurt our short-term operating results. During other periods, our 
profitability may improve because we are able to increase revenue 
without increasing our cost base at the same rate. When revenue 
decreases, however, the operating leverage in our business may 
reduce our profitability.

Operating Expense

We classify our operating expense into separate categories for  
cost of revenue, sales and marketing, general and administrative, 
and depreciation and amortization, as described below. We  
include stock-based compensation expense, as appropriate, in each 
of these categories.

UU Cost of revenue. This category includes compensation expense 
for employees who produce the products and services we deliver 
to our customers. For example, this category covers production 
teams and analysts who write investment research reports. It 
also includes compensation expense for programmers, designers, 
and other employees who develop new products and enhance 
existing products. In some cases, we capitalize the compensation 
costs associated with certain software development projects. 
This reduces the expense that we would otherwise report in this 
category. Cost of revenue also includes other expense such  
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as third-party data purchases and data lines. We now include 
development expense in the cost of revenue category, which we 
previously referred to as cost of goods sold. We have reclassified 
development expense to include it in cost of revenue for all 
periods presented.

UU Sales and marketing. This category includes compensation 
expense for our sales teams, product managers, and other mar-
keting professionals. We also include the cost of advertising, 
direct mail campaigns, and other marketing programs to promote 
our products in this category.

UU General and administrative. This category consists mainly of 
compensation expense for our management team, as well as 
corporate functions (including employees in our human resources, 
finance, and legal departments). The category also includes com-
pensation expense for senior management and other corporate 
costs, including corporate systems, finance and accounting, legal, 
compliance, and facilities expense.

UU Depreciation and amortization. Our capital expenditures primar-
ily consist of information technology equipment, leasehold 
improvements, and capitalized software development costs. We 
depreciate property and equipment primarily using the straight-
line method based on the useful lives of the assets, which range 
from three to seven years. We amortize leasehold improvements 
over the lease term or their useful lives, whichever is shorter. We 
amortize capitalized software development costs over their esti-
mated economic life, which is generally three years. We also 
include amortization related to intangible assets, which is mainly 
driven by acquisitions, in this category. We amortize intangible 
assets using the straight-line method over their estimated eco-
nomic useful lives, which range from one to 25 years.

International Operations

As of December 31, 2013, we had majority-owned operations in  
26 countries outside of the United States and included their results 
of operations and financial condition in our consolidated financial 
statements. We account for our minority-owned investments in 
Japan and Sweden using the equity method.

How We Evaluate Our Business

When our analysts evaluate a stock, they focus on assessing the 
company’s estimated intrinsic value, which represents the com-
pany’s future cash flows, discounted to their value in today’s dollars. 
Our approach to evaluating our own business works the same way.

Our goal is to increase the intrinsic value of our business over time, 
which we believe is the best way to create value for our sharehold-
ers. We do not make public financial forecasts for our business 
because we want to avoid creating any incentives for our manage-
ment team to make speculative statements about our financial results 
that could influence our stock price, or to take actions that help us 
meet short-term forecasts but may not be in the long-term interest 
of building shareholder value.

We provide three specific measures that can help investors gener-
ate their own assessment of how our intrinsic value has changed 
over time:

UU Revenue (including organic revenue);
UU Operating income (loss); and
UU Free cash flow, which we define as cash provided by or used for 
operating activities less capital expenditures.

Organic revenue is considered a non-GAAP financial measure under 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) regulations. We define 
organic revenue as consolidated revenue excluding acquisitions, 
divestitures, and foreign currency translations. We present organic 
revenue because we believe it helps investors better compare our 
period-to-period results, and our management team uses this mea-
sure to evaluate the performance of our business.

Free cash flow is also considered a non-GAAP financial measure. 
We present this measure as supplemental information to help inves-
tors better understand trends in our business results over time. Our 
management team uses free cash flow to evaluate our business. 
Free cash flow is not equivalent to any measure required under U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and should not be 
considered an indicator of liquidity. Moreover, the free cash flow 
definition we use may not be comparable to similarly titled measures 
reported by other companies.

To evaluate how successful we’ve been in maintaining existing busi-
ness for products and services that have renewable revenue, we 
calculate a retention rate. We use two different methods for calcu-
lating retention. For subscription-based products (including our print 
newsletters, Morningstar.com Premium Membership service, and 
Principia software), we track the number of subscriptions retained 
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during the year. For products sold through contracts and licenses, 
we use the contract value method, which is based on tracking the 
dollar value of renewals compared with the total dollar value of 
contracts up for renewal during the period. We include changes in 
the contract value in the renewal amount, unless the change spe-
cifically results from adding a new product that we can identify. We 
also include variable-fee contracts in this calculation and use the 
previous quarter’s actual revenue as the base rate for calculating 
the renewal percentage. The retention rate excludes setup and 
customization fees, migrations to other Morningstar products, and 
contract renewals that were pending as of January 31, 2014.

The Year 2013 in Review

We monitor developments in the economic and financial infor mation 
industry on an ongoing basis. We use these insights to help  
inform our company strategy, product development plans, and  
marketing initiatives.

Despite a temporary government shutdown and periodic concerns 
about the Federal Reserve tapering off its efforts to stimulate the 
economy, the U.S. stock market showed unusually strong gains in 
2013. Morningstar’s U.S. Market Index, a broad market benchmark, 
ended the year up 33.1%. Global markets also closed out the year 
with strong returns; Morningstar’s Global Markets ex-U.S. Index 
posted a 16.1% gain for the year.

The fund industry enjoyed healthy growth in 2013 as a slowly  
improving global economy help lead to more positive investor sen-
timent. Total U.S. mutual fund assets rose to $15.0 trillion as of 
December 31, 2013, compared with $13.0 trillion as of December 31, 
2012, based on data from the Investment Company Institute  
(ICI). Based on Morningstar’s analysis of fund flow trends, equity 
mutual funds had estimated net inflows of about $220 billion in 
2013, up from about $100 billion in 2012. In contrast to the past 
several years, when investors heavily favored bond funds, some 
fixed-income fund categories experienced net outflows as rising 
interest rates led to negative total returns. Global mutual fund assets 
showed a similar trend.

Investors have also continued to favor passively managed index 
funds rather than actively managed portfolios. In 2013, passively 
managed vehicles had more than $300 billion in net inflows, com-
pared with about $150 billion of net inflows for active products (both 
mutual funds and ETFs).

The number of mutual funds in the United States rose slightly to 
about 7,700 in 2013 (excluding multiple share classes), compared 
with about 7,600 in 2012 based on ICI data. The number of global 
mutual funds rose to about 75,300 as of September 30, 2013, up 
from about 73,500 as of September 30, 2012, based on ICI data.

ETFs continued to increase in popularity relative to traditional mutual 
funds. The U.S. ETF industry closed out 2013 with about $1.7 trillion 
in assets under management based on ICI data, up from about $1.3 
trillion at the end of 2012.

Based on data from ComScore, aggregate page views to financial 
and investment sites rose about 9% in 2013, while the number of 
unique users was up about 11%. The number of pages viewed per 
visit and time spent per visit increased by about 17% and 21%, 
respectively. We believe these trends reflect a higher level of inter-
est in financial- and investment-related content among individual 
investors as the market rose during 2013. For Morningstar.com, 
metrics such as unique users and aggregate page views were up 
slightly for the year, while pages viewed per visit and time spent 
per visit showed a more significant increase.

Amid these trends, we believe online advertising spending by finan-
cial services companies rose moderately in 2013. Although Magna 
Global, a division of Interpublic Group, estimates that global online 
advertising revenue rose about 16% across all industries in 2013, 
we believe spending in the financial services industry rose at a more 
moderate pace.

In the wake of the financial crisis of 2008 and 2009, regulators have 
continued to implement new rules for financial services companies 
globally. Many of these relate to financial advisor compensation, 
fees and expenses, investor disclosure, and the use of hedge funds 
and alternative investments. In the United Kingdom, for example, 
the Retail Distribution Review (RDR), which emphasizes increased 
regulation of advisory fees, higher professional standards for  
financial advisors, and an emphasis on “whole of market” investment  
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solutions, became effective in January 2013. Advisors are now 
required to give clients a choice of all investment vehicles (includ-
ing funds, ETFs, and other products) and demonstrate that they 
consider different investment options without bias. Financial advi-
sors are also required to fully disclose and have clients agree on 
fees for advice and charge separately for any funds or investments. 
Beginning in April 2014, online investment platforms will also be 
required to charge separate fees for investors who make transac-
tions through them and provide additional disclosures about the 
fees they charge.

In the European Union, Undertakings for Collective Investments in 
Transferable Securities (UCITS) is a set of directives designed to 
enable funds to operate across the region based upon authorization 
from one state regulator. UCITS IV, which came into effect in July 
2011, included requirements for a new Key Investor Information 
Document (KIID), an easy-to-read annual factsheet that replaces 
the Simplified Prospectus. Every UCITS fund that is promoted to 
retail investors is now required to produce a KIID and issue an 
updated copy each year. We use our data and production capabili-
ties to help fund companies produce and distribute these documents.

In Australia, the government has introduced a series of Future of 
Financial Advice reforms. Mandatory implementation of these 
reforms began in July 2013. Many of these related to fiduciary stan-
dards and compensation structures for financial advisors.

In the United States, President Obama signed the Dodd-Frank Wall 
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd-Frank) into law 
in July 2010. Dodd-Frank creates a number of new regulatory, super-
visory, and advisory bodies and touches on the regulation of virtually 
every aspect of U.S. financial markets and activities. Dodd-Frank 
also left numerous matters to be addressed through rulemaking and 
other regulatory action, giving the regulators significant discretion 
in many areas. As a result, the final shape and effect of the legisla-
tion are continuing to emerge.

In 2013, various regulatory agencies approved provisions of the 
“Volcker Rule,” which would prevent banks from engaging in some 
types of proprietary trading and more speculative investments. The 
Volcker Rule is scheduled to go into effect in April 2014.

Dodd-Frank included a number of corporate governance and disclo-
sure requirements that apply to publicly traded companies generally. 
It also included changes to the regulatory framework for credit rat-
ing agencies granting the SEC more oversight over Nationally 
Recognized Statistical Rating Organizations (NRSROs), including 
our Morningstar Credit Ratings subsidiary. While we believe Dodd-
Frank and related regulations will not have a significant effect on 
other areas of Morningstar, we continue to monitor the potential 
impact on our clients.

The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission has been considering 
rules that would impose a fiduciary standard for financial advisors, 
which would require them to act in the best interest of clients when 
making investment recommendations instead of the looser “suit-
ability” standards currently in place. The Department of Labor has 
proposed a similar plan that would only apply to advisors working 
with defined contribution plans and individual retirement accounts. 
We believe the increase regulatory scrutiny of advisors may lead 
to an expanding need for independent advice, tools, and solutions.

In July 2013, the United States Department of Labor (DOL) revised 
the definition of “Rating Agency” in its amended requirements for 
the Exemption From Certain Prohibited Transaction Restrictions of 
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) to 
eliminate any specific reference to a particular credit rating agency. 
The amended exemption increases the ability of employee benefit 
plans to invest in structured credit securities that carry ratings issued 
by Morningstar Credit Ratings.

Despite generally positive market trends, we believe the business 
environment for the financial services industry remains challenging. 
Asset management firms have been facing increasing regulatory 
burdens, which are leading to higher costs and more cautious  
spending in other areas. Further, the historically low interest rate 
environment has put significant pressure on the margins of  
many firms, most notably those in the variable annuity space. As a 
result, we expect there will be further pressure on revenue from 
clients in this area.
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Supplemental Operating Metrics

The tables below summarize our key product metrics and other supplemental data.

As of December 31,

Our business 2013 2012 2011 2013 change 2012 change

Morningstar.com Premium Membership subscriptions (U.S.)  124,027  123,899  130,354  0.1%  (5.0)%
Registered users for Morningstar.com (U.S.)   7,848,057  7,521,043  6,891,458  4.3%  9.1%
U.S. Advisor Workstation and Morningstar Office licenses  169,592  162,904  160,287  4.1%  1.6%
Principia subscriptions   19,206  26,807  31,270  (28.4)%  (14.3)%
Morningstar Direct licenses (3)   8,514  7,388  6,134  15.2%  20.4%
Assets under advisement and  
 management (approximate) ($bil)
 Investment Advisory services (1)  $ 83.5 $ 94.3 $ 137.5  (11.5)%  (31.4)%
 Retirement Solutions
  Managed retirement accounts (2)  $ 31.7 $ 25.1 $ 19.9  26.3%  26.1%
  Other assets  $ 33.9 $ 22.1 $ 17.5  53.4%  26.3%

 Total for Retirement Solutions  $ 65.6 $ 47.2 $ 37.4  39.0%  26.2%
 Morningstar Managed Portfolios  $ 7.3 $ 4.7 $ 3.1  55.3%  51.6%
 Ibbotson Australia  $ 3.0 $ 3.3 $ 2.9  (9.1)%  13.8%
Number of commercial mortgage-backed securities  
 (CMBS) new-issue ratings completed   38  19  13  100.0%  46.2%
Rated balance for CMBS new-issue ratings ($bil)  $ 24.5 $ 15.4 $ 13.3  59.1%  15.8%

Our employees

Worldwide headcount (approximate)   3,565  3,495  3,465  2.0%  0.9%
Number of worldwide equity and    165  155  140  6.5%  10.7% 
 credit analysts (approximate)
Number of worldwide fund analysts (approximate)   105  110  105  (4.5)%  4.8%

Key product revenue ($000) 2013 2012 2011 2013 change 2012 change

Morningstar Data (3) $ 129,262 $ 115,273 $ 103,996  12.1%  10.8%
Morningstar Advisor Workstation (3)   93,059  86,048  79,664  8.1%  8.0%
Morningstar Direct (3)   79,358  65,279  52,185  21.6%  25.1%
Investment Advisory (3)   59,187  66,369  71,465  (10.8)%  (7.1)%
Morningstar.com   55,637  53,671  56,352  3.7% (4.8)%

(1) The decline in assets under advisement in 2012 and 2013 reflects difficult market conditions for companies that offer variable annuities. Some of our clients have been managing their 
funds-of-funds portfolios in-house instead of using outside subadvisors. Because of this trend, assets under advisement were down $10.8 billion in 2013 and $43.2 billion in 2012. The 
asset change in 2012 reflects both the loss of business from a large client and a change in the scope of services provided to another client.

The asset totals include relationships for which we receive basis-point fees, including consulting arrangements and other agreements where we act as a portfolio construction manager 
for a mutual fund or variable annuity. We also provide Investment Advisory services for some assets for which we receive a flat fee; we do not include these assets in the total reported above.

Excluding changes related to new contracts and cancellations, changes in the value of assets under advisement can come from two primary sources: gains or losses related to overall 
trends in market performance, and net inflows or outflows caused when investors add to or redeem shares from these portfolios.

We cannot separately quantify cash inflows and outflows for these portfolios because we do not have custody of the assets in the majority of our investment management businesses. 
The information we receive from many of our clients does not separately identify the effect of cash inflows and outflows on asset balances for each period. We also cannot precisely 
quantify the effect of market appreciation or depreciation because the majority of our clients have discretionary authority to implement their own portfolio allocations.
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(2) We cannot separately quantify the factors affecting assets under management and advisement for our managed retirement accounts. These factors primarily consist of employer and 
employee contributions, plan administrative fees, market movements, and participant loans and hardship withdrawals. We cannot quantify the impact of these other factors because the 
information we receive from the plan providers does not separately identify these transactions or the changes in balances caused by market movement.

(3) Beginning with the third quarter of 2013, we revised our segment structure to reflect our shift to a more centralized organizational structure. In addition, we took this opportunity to 
revise our revenue by product structure to better represent how management internally reviews and evaluates product revenue and performance. The most significant revision is that 
Morningstar Data now excludes Morningstar Commodity Data. We have reclassified the prior-year information to reflect these changes. We also made minor corrections to the total 
number of licenses for Morningstar Direct in 2012 and 2011.

Consolidated Results
Key Metrics ($000) 2013 2012 2011 2013 Change 2012 Change

Revenue  $ 698,266 $ 658,288  631,400  6.1%  4.3%
Operating income  $ 170,654 $ 150,668  138,415  13.3%  8.9%
Operating margin   24.4%  22.9%  21.9%  1.5pp  1.0pp

Cash provided by (used for) investing activities  $ (14,861) $ 80,192  (110,767)  NMF  NMF
Cash used for financing activities  $ (166,372) $ (265,176)  (32,596)  (37.3)%  713.5%

Cash provided by operating activities  $ 186,658 $ 145,996  164,976  27.9%  (11.5)%
Capital expenditures   (33,583)  (30,039)  (23,322)  11.8%  28.8%

Free cash flow  $ 153,075 $ 115,957 $ 141,654  32.0%  (18.1)%

pp—percentage points
NMF—Not meaningful

We define free cash flow as cash provided by or used for operating activities less capital expenditures. Please refer to the discussion in How We Evaluate our Business for more detail.

Consolidated Revenue
($000)  2013 2012 2011 2013 Change 2012 Change

Revenue
Investment information   555,642  526,147  498,265  5.6%  5.6%

 Investment management   142,624  132,141  133,135  7.9%  (0.7%)

 Consolidated revenue  $ 698,266 $ 658,288 $ 631,400  6.1%  4.3%
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In 2013, our consolidated revenue rose 6.1% compared with the 
previous year. Although our Investment Advisory revenue was down 
about $7.2 million compared with 2012, most of our other major 
products performed well. Morningstar Direct, Morningstar Data, 
Morningstar Managed Portfolios, and Morningstar Retirement 
Solutions were some of our major growth drivers in 2013.

In 2012, our consolidated revenue increased 4.3%. Morningstar Direct 
was the main contributor to revenue growth, followed by Morningstar 
Data. Morningstar Advisor Workstation and Integrated Web Tools 
also made positive contributions, although to a lesser extent. These 
factors helped offset the loss of business from a large variable 
annuity client in our Investment Advisory business. Because this 
client began managing several fund-of-funds portfolios in-house in 
April 2012, we recognized $3.8 million in associated revenue in 2012, 
down from $12.4 million in 2011.

Investment information revenue

Investment information products, which make up about 80% of our 
consolidated revenue, rose $29.5 million, or 5.6%, in 2013 and $27.9 
million, or 5.6%, in 2012. Morningstar Direct was the biggest con-
tributor to growth in this product group in both 2013 and 2012, with 
revenue increasing by $14.1 million in 2013 and $13.1 million in 2012. 
The number of licenses for Morningstar Direct increased to about 
8,500 worldwide in 2013, compared with about 7,400 at the end of 
2012 and 6,100 at the end of 2011, with strong growth in both the 
United States and internationally. Growth in Morningstar Direct 
reflects additional licenses for both new and existing clients, and, 
to a lesser extent, client migrations from both Institutional 
Workstation and Morningstar EnCorr to Morningstar Direct.

Morningstar Data was the second-biggest contributor to growth in 
this product group in both 2013 and 2012, reflecting strong renewal 
rates and new client contracts for managed products data. 
Morningstar Data gives institutions access to a full range of pro-
prietary investment data spanning numerous investment databases, 
including real-time pricing data, fundamental equity data, and man-
aged investment product data. The data packages we offer include 
proprietary statistics, such as the Morningstar Style Box and 
Morningstar Rating, and a wide range of other data, including infor-
mation on investment performance, risk, portfolios, operations data, 
fees and expenses, cash flows, and ownership.

Morningstar Advisor Workstation (mainly Morningstar Office) had 
moderately positive revenue growth in both 2013 and 2012. The 
number of U.S. licenses for Morningstar Advisor Workstation increased 
to about 170,000 in 2013, compared with 163,000 at the end of 2012 
and 160,000 at the end of 2011. These positive growth trends were 

partially offset by lower revenue for Principia, which was down $4.8 
million in 2013 and $1.8 million in 2012. During the first quarter of 
2013, we announced that we are no longer selling new subscriptions 
to Principia, and we’ve begun migrating Principia clients to 
Morningstar Advisor Workstation and other Morningstar products 
that meet their needs. We expect to continue supporting clients on 
Principia until the end of 2014. Morningstar.com was up slightly in 
2013, but declined by $2.7 million in 2012. Revenue was down in 
2012 because of declining paid Premium Membership subscriptions 
(mainly in the United States) and a difficult advertising sales market.

Investment management revenue

Investment management revenue, which represents about 20% of 
consolidated revenue, was up $10.5 million, or 7.9%, in 2013, as 
positive trends in assets under management for Retirement Solutions 
and Morningstar Managed Portfolios more than offset lower rev-
enue for Investment Advisory services. Companies that offer variable 
annuities have continued to face difficult market conditions, which 
has prompted some of our clients to begin managing their fund-of-
funds portfolios in-house instead of using outside subadvisors. 
Because of this trend, our Investment Advisory revenue was about 
$7.2 million lower in 2013 versus 2012, and assets under advisement 
for these services were down $10.8 billion over the same period.

Investment management revenue decreased $1.0 million, or 0.7%, 
in 2012. The loss of some business from a large client in the variable 
annuity industry was the main reason for this decline. Excluding the 
loss of this business, Investment Advisory revenue was up $3.4 
million in 2012. Revenue for Morningstar Managed Portfolios, and 
to a lesser extent, Retirement Solutions, also rose in 2012, partially 
offsetting negative trends in Investment Advisory.

The asset-based fees we earn are primarily based on average asset 
levels during each quarter. Average assets under advisement and 
management (calculated based on available average quarterly or 
monthly data) were approximately $161.6 million in 2013, compared 
with $181.0 million in 2012 and $165.3 million in 2011. We had  
$88.6 million in revenue from asset-based fees in 2013, an increase 
of $7.2 million compared with $81.4 million in 2012. In 2011, revenue 
from asset-based fees was $81.7 million. Revenue from asset-based 
fees made up approximately 12.7% of consolidated revenue in 2013, 
up slightly from 12.4% in 2012.

The variable annuity industry, which accounted for approximately 
2% and 3% of consolidated revenue in 2013 and 2012, respectively, 
continues to face challenges. Accordingly, we expect there will be 
further pressure on revenue from variable annuity clients.
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Organic revenue

To allow for more meaningful comparisons of our results in different 
periods, we provide information about organic revenue, which 
reflects our underlying business excluding acquisitions, divestitures, 
and the effect of foreign currency translations. During the second 
quarter of 2013, we acquired an additional 76% interest in 
Morningstar Sweden AB to become the sole owner. We divested 
several smaller business lines during 2012.

We exclude revenue from businesses acquired or divested from 
organic revenue for a period of 12 months after we complete the 
acquisition or divestiture.

In 2013, the net effect of acquisitions and divestitures was essentially 
neutral, as we had $3.7 million in incremental revenue from our 
acquisition of the remaining ownership interest in Morningstar 
Sweden, which was offset by the loss of $4.1 million in revenue 
from business lines we divested in 2012. In addition, currency trans-
lations reduced revenue by about $3.6 million in 2013, mainly  
because of the weaker Australian dollar. Excluding acquisitions, 
divestitures, and foreign currency translations, organic revenue was 
up 6.7% in 2013.

In 2012, currency translations reduced revenue by about $4.6 million. 
The euro, and to a lesser extent, the British pound, were the primary 
reasons for the negative currency effect. Divestitures reduced revenue 
by an additional $1.1 million in 2012, and we had no incremental 
revenue from acquisitions. Excluding acquisitions, divestitures, and 
foreign currency translations, organic revenue was up 5.2% in 2012.

Contributors to Revenue Growth

(4.7%)

15.9%
13.7%

4.3% 6.1%

    2009  2010  2011  2012  2013

   Acquisitions/  5.9%  10.0%  2.8%  (0.2)%  (0.1%) 
divestitures

   Foreign currency  (1.8)%  0.9%  1.8%  (0.7)%  (0.5%) 
translations

  Organic growth  (8.8)%  5.0%  9.1%  5.2%  6.7%

 Total  (4.7)%  15.9%  13.7%  4.3%  6.1%

The tables below reconcile consolidated revenue with organic  
revenue (revenue excluding acquisitions, divestitures, and the effect 
of foreign currency translations):

2013 vs. 2012 ($000) 2013 2012 Change

Consolidated revenue $ 698,266 $ 658,288 6.1%
Less: acquisitions (3,746) — NMF
Less: divestitures — (4,144) NMF
Unfavorable effect of 3,575 — NMF
foreign currency translations

Organic revenue $ 698,095 $ 654,144 6.7%

2012 vs. 2011 ($000) 2012 2011 Change

Consolidated revenue $ 658,288 $ 631,400 4.3%
Less: acquisitions — — NMF
Less: divestitures — (1,057) NMF
Unfavorable effect of 4,620 — NMF
foreign currency translations

Organic revenue $ 662,908 $ 630,343 5.2%

Organic revenue (revenue excluding acquisitions, divestitures, and 
the effect of foreign currency translations) is considered a non-GAAP 
financial measure. The definition of organic revenue we use may 
not be the same as similarly titled measures used by other compa-
nies. Organic revenue should not be considered an alternative to 
any measure of performance as promulgated under GAAP.

Revenue by region

 As of December 31

          2013  2012 
($000)  2013  2012  2011  Change  Change

U.S. $ 500,730 $ 466,947 $ 446,470  7.2%  4.6%

U.K.  56,298  56,794  53,427  (0.9)%  6.3%
Continental  57,580  49,844  49,507  15.5%  0.7% 
Europe
Australia  35,289  38,229  39,761  (7.7)%  (3.9)%
Canada  31,845  30,664  27,808  3.9%  10.3%
Asia  13,860  13,765  13,188  0.7%  4.4%
Other  2,664  2,045  1,239  30.3%  65.1%

Total  197,536  191,341  184,930  3.2%  3.5% 
international

Consolidated $ 698,266 $ 658,288 $ 631,400  6.1%  4.3% 
revenue
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International revenue made up about 28% of our consolidated rev-
enue in 2013, 2012, and 2011. About 60% of our international rev-
enue is from Continental Europe and the United Kingdom. We also 
have a fairly large revenue base in Australia and Canada.

Revenue from international operations rose 3.2% in 2013, as our 
operations in Continental Europe enjoyed stronger product sales, 
but this growth was partly offset by the negative effect of foreign 
currency translations (mainly the weaker Australian dollar).

In 2012, international revenue was up 3.5%, mainly because of 
stronger product sales in Europe and Canada, partially offset by 
lower revenue in Australia. Divestitures had a slight negative effect 
on international revenue in 2012, while foreign currency translations 
decreased revenue by $4.6 million, mainly because of the euro, and 
to a lesser extent, the British pound.

The tables below present a reconciliation from international  
revenue to international organic revenue (international revenue 
excluding acquisitions, divestitures, and the impact of foreign  
currency translations):

($000) 2013 2012 Change

International revenue $ 197,536 $ 191,341 3.2%
Less: acquisitions (3,746) — NMF
Less: divestitures — (3,814) NMF
Unfavorable effect of 3,575 — NMF
foreign currency translations

International organic revenue $ 197,365 $ 187,527 5.2%

($000) 2012 2011 Change

International revenue $ 191,341 $ 184,930 3.5%
Less: acquisitions — — NMF
Less: divestitures — (982) NMF
Unfavorable effect of 4,620 — NMF
foreign currency translations

International organic revenue $ 195,961 $ 183,948 6.5%

International organic revenue (international revenue excluding 
acquisitions, divestitures, and the effect of foreign currency trans-
lations) is considered a non-GAAP financial measure. The definition 
of international organic revenue we use may not be the same as 
similarly titled measures used by other companies. International 
organic revenue should not be considered an alternative to any 
measure of performance as promulgated under GAAP.

Retention and Renewal Rates

As discussed in How We Evaluate Our Business, we calculate reten-
tion and renewal rates to help measure how successful we’ve been 
in maintaining existing business for products and services that have 
renewable revenue. The following graph illustrates these two  
metrics over the past five years:

Renewal
(contract-based products)

Retention
(subscription-based products)

55–
60%

2009 20092010

90–
95%

80–
85%

2010

65–
70%

2011

90–
95%

2011

65–
70%

2012

90–
95%

2012

65–
70%

2013

90–
95%

2013

65–
70%

For contract-based products and services (such as Morningstar Data, 
Investment Advisory services, Morningstar Direct, and Morningstar 
Advisor Workstation), we estimate that our weighted average annual 
renewal rate was between 90% and 95% in 2013, within the same 
range as 2012. The figure for contract-based products includes the 
effect of price changes and changes to the contract value upon 
renewal, as well as changes in the value of variable-fee contracts.

In 2013, we estimate that our annual retention rate for subscription-
based products, such as Principia, Morningstar.com’s Premium 
Membership service, and print and online newsletters, was between 
65% and 70%, within the same range as 2012.
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In 2013, our operating expense was up $20.0 million, or 3.9%, mainly 
because of higher salary expense, depreciation expense, professional 
fees, and bonus expense. Salary expense rose $6.3 million for the 
year, primarily because of pay raises made in July 2013. In addition, 
while headcount was down in the first nine months of the year, we 
hired about 75 net new employees during the fourth quarter. By the 
end of 2013, we had about 3,565 employees worldwide, compared 
with 3,495 at the end of 2012 and 3,465 at the end of 2011.

Depreciation increased $5.1 million, mainly reflecting additional 
capitalized software development and computer software purchases 
for our U.S. operations.

Professional fees were up $5.0 million in 2013, mainly reflecting 
higher legal expense.

Bonus expense rose $4.6 million in 2013. We review our estimates 
for the size of the bonus pool quarterly and make adjustments based 
on our expectations for full-year revenue and operating income 
relative to internal targets.

Consolidated Operating Expense
($000) 2013 2012 2011 2013 Change 2012 Change

Cost of revenue (1) $ 271,437 $ 246,783 $ 235,289 10.0% 4.9%
% of revenue 38.9% 37.5% 37.3% 1.4pp 0.2pp

Sales and marketing 103,614 108,884 106,699 (4.8)% 2.0%
% of revenue 14.8% 16.5% 16.9% (1.7)pp (0.4)pp

General and administrative 106,868 108,857 108,084 (1.8)% 0.7%
% of revenue 15.3% 16.5% 17.1% (1.2)pp (0.6)pp

Depreciation and amortization 45,693 43,096 42,913 6.0% 0.4%
% of revenue 6.5% 6.5% 6.8% 0.0pp (0.3)pp

Total operating expense (2) (3) $ 527,612 $ 507,620 $ 492,985 3.9% 3.0%

% of revenue 75.6% 77.1% 78.1% (1.5)pp (1.0)pp

(1) We now include development expense in the cost of revenue category, which we previously referred to as cost of goods sold. We have reclassified development expense to include 
it in cost of revenue for all periods presented. We previously reported development expense as a separate operating expense category.

Separately, as a result of our recent reorganization (including new positions created, changes in focus for some existing roles, and the refinement of employee cost categorizations as 
we moved to a more centralized structure), approximately 180 net positions shifted from the general and administrative and sales and marketing categories to cost of revenue. For the 
year ended December 31, 2013 as compared with 2012 and 2011, changes related to our more centralized organizational structure added approximately $14 million of compensation 
expense to cost of revenue, and reduced the compensation expense in our sales and marketing and general and administrative expense categories by approximately $8 million and $6 
million, respectively. These changes did not affect our total operating expense or operating income for any of the periods presented.

(2) Includes stock-based compensation expense of:

($000)    2013 2012 2011

Stock-based compensation expense $ 15,043 $ 18,905 $ 15,303
% of revenue 2.2% 2.9% 2.4%

(3) Includes bonus expense of:

($000)    2013 2012 2011

Bonus expense      $ 40,930 $ 36,241 $ 42,621
% of revenue       5.9%  5.5%  6.8%
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In 2012, operating expense rose $14.6 million or 3.0%, mainly because 
of a $14.0 million increase in salary expense. Salary expense was 
up because of the full-year effect of regular pay raises and market 
adjustments made in July 2011, as well as regular pay raises made 
in July 2012. New hires in 2011 and 2012 also contributed to the 
growth in salary expense.

Higher professional fees, production expense, company-sponsored 
benefits (including matching contributions to our 401(k) plan for U.S. 
employees), and stock-based compensation expense also added to 
our expense base in 2012, although to a lesser extent than the sal-
ary costs discussed above. Stock-based compensation expense in 
2012 included $3.2 million for accelerated vesting of restricted stock 
issued to a former executive in our structured credit research unit 
when we acquired the business. Additional data purchases contrib-
uted to the $3.8 million growth in production expense.

Operating expense as a percentage of revenue was down 1.5 per-
centage points in 2013 and 1.0 percentage point in 2012.

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue (which we previously referred to as cost of goods 
sold) is our largest category of operating expense, representing 
about one-half of our total operating expense. Our business relies 
heavily on human capital, and we include compensation costs for 
the employees who produce our products and services in cost of 
revenue. We now include development expense in this category 
and have reclassified development expense to include it in cost of 
revenue for all periods presented.

Cost of revenue was up $24.7 million, or 10.0%, in 2013. Higher 
compensation expense of $14.0 million (mainly because of the shift 
in expense categories discussed above) was the main contributor 
to the increase. We included compensation expense in this category 
for approximately 2,880 employees as of December 31, 2013 (about 
80% of our total employees), compared with approximately 2,585 
as of December 31, 2012 (about 75% of our total employees).

We capitalized $8.1 million of compensation expense related to 
software development activities in 2013, reducing cost of revenue. 
For comparison, we capitalized $8.5 million of expense in this cat-
egory in 2012.

Cost of revenue rose $11.5 million in 2012. Higher salary expense 
contributed about $10.4 million of this increase, mainly because of 
additional headcount. We also had higher production expense of 
$3.8 million because of additional data purchases for our operations 
in the United States and Europe. Other compensation-related 
expense (mainly for employee benefits) was another factor behind 
higher cost of revenue in 2012. We capitalized $8.5 million of oper-
ating expense in 2012 compared with $5.3 million in 2011 for software 
development, reducing the expense that we would otherwise report 
in this category.

Our gross margin declined by about 1.4 percentage points and 0.2 
percentage points in 2013 and 2012, respectively. In 2013, about 2 
percentage points of the decline resulted from the shift in expense 
categories discussed above.

Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing expense was down $5.3 million in 2013. Lower 
salary-related and bonus expense of $6.4 million (including approx-
imately $8 million from the shift in expense categories as a result 
of our recent reorganization), was the main reason for the decline. 
We included compensation expense in this category for approxi-
mately 290 employees as of December 31, 2013, compared with 
approximately 350 as of December 31, 2012. Higher sales commis-
sions of $2.6 million partly offset this decrease.

Sales and marketing expense rose $2.2 million in 2012. Salary 
expense increased $4.1 million and bonus expense was up $1.5 
million, but these were partially offset by lower costs for advertis-
ing, marketing, and commissions. Full-year bonus expense included 
in this category was flat in 2012; however, in the first quarter of  
2012, we paid a greater portion of the 2011 bonus to employees in 
this category compared with our initial estimate, contributing $1.0 
million to the bonus expense recorded in 2012.

As a percentage of revenue, sales and marketing expense was down 
1.7 percentage points in 2013 and 0.4 percentage points in 2012, 
mainly because of lower salary expense as a percentage of revenue 
in both years. In 2012, advertising and marketing and commissions 
also declined as a percentage of revenue. In 2013, 1.1 percentage 
points of the decline was driven by the shift in expense categories 
discussed above.
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General and administrative

General and administrative (G&A) expense was down $2.0 million 
in 2013. There were three main items that contributed to the decline 
in G&A expense in 2013. First, G&A expense in 2012 included $3.2 
million for accelerated vesting of restricted stock issued to a former 
executive in the structured credit research unit when we acquired 
the business. This expense did not recur in 2013. Second, we had 
an additional $1.6 million of combined expense in 2012 for an impair-
ment charge for one of our smaller products and a litigation settle-
ment. This expense did not recur in 2013, either. Third, salary expense 
was down about $0.9 million (including a reduction of approximately 
$6 million from the shift in expense categories as a result of our 
recent reorganization). We included compensation expense in this 
category for approximately 395 employees as of December 31, 2013, 
compared with approximately 560 as of December 31, 2012.

Higher professional fees of $3.6 million partially offset the decline 
in G&A expense in 2013. In addition, our 2012 results included a 
benefit of approximately $1.0 million for the resolution of a prior-year 
business tax expense matter. This benefit did not recur in 2013.

G&A expense rose $0.8 million in 2012. Higher professional fees 
and higher stock-based compensation expense contributed to the 
total increase in G&A. As mentioned above, stock-based compensa-
tion expense in 2012 included $3.2 million for accelerated vesting 
of restricted stock. Lower bonus expense of $5.7 million in 2012 
partially offset the increase. Current-year bonus expense was down 
$2.8 million. In addition, in the first quarter of 2011, we paid a greater 
portion of the 2010 bonus to employees in this category compared 
with our initial estimate, contributing $2.6 million to the bonus 
expense recorded in 2011.

G&A expense in 2012 included about $1.6 million of expense for a 
litigation settlement and an impairment charge for one of our smaller 
products. However, as mentioned above, our 2012 results included 
a benefit of approximately $1.0 million from the resolution of a 
prior-year business tax expense matter. Conversely, our results for 
2011 included $1.4 million of expense related to this business tax. 
G&A expense in 2011 also included $3.2 million for the separation 
agreement with our former chief operating officer. This expense did 
not recur in 2012.

G&A expense as a percentage of revenue was down 1.2 percentage 
points in 2013 and 0.6 percentage points in 2012. In 2013, 0.9 per-
centage points of the decline was driven by the shift in expense 
categories discussed above.

Depreciation and amortization

Intangible amortization expense decreased $2.5 million in 2013 and 
$3.3 million in 2012, mainly because some of the intangible assets 
from some of our previous acquisitions are now fully amortized. 
Amortization expense was also down in 2012 because of a favorable 
comparison with 2011, when our results included $1.6 million of 
expense for the accelerated amortization of certain trade names 
and the impairment of one trade name. However, depreciation 
expense rose $5.1 million in 2013, mainly because of additions to 
capitalized software development and purchases of computer  
software for our U.S. operations. Depreciation expense rose $3.5 
million in 2012, mainly driven by an increase in capital spending for 
our U.S. operations.

We expect that amortization of intangible assets will be an ongoing 
cost for the remaining lives of the assets. We estimate that total 
amortization expense for intangible assets will be approximately 
$20.5 million in 2014. Our estimates of future amortization expense 
for intangible assets may be affected by additional acquisitions, 
dispositions, changes in the estimated average useful lives, and 
currency translations.

Overall, depreciation and amortization was unchanged in 2013 and 
decreased slightly as a percentage of revenue in 2012.

Consolidated Operating Income

($000)      2013  2012  2011

Operating income     $ 170,654 $ 150,668 $ 138,415
% change      13.3%  8.9%  14.3%

Operating margin      24.4%  22.9%  21.9%
Change      1.5pp  1.0pp  0.1pp

Consolidated operating income increased $20.0 million in 2013 as 
our revenue increased $40.0 million and operating expense rose by 
$20.0 million. Operating margin was 24.4%, an increase of 1.5 per-
centage points compared with 2012, mainly reflecting higher oper-
ating margins for the first three quarters of the year.
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Lower salary expense as a percentage of revenue contributed 
approximately 1.0 percentage points to the margin improvement in 
2013; lower stock-based compensation expense and amortization 
expense as a percentage of revenue also had favorable effects of 
0.7 percentage points and 0.5 percentage points, respectively.  
On the negative side, professional fees and depreciation  
expense as a percentage of revenue were both up 0.6 percentage 
points, and bonus expense as a percentage of revenue rose  
0.4 percentage points.

In 2012, consolidated operating income rose $12.3 million, and our 
margin was up 1.0 percentage points. Our revenue growth of $26.9 
million outpaced the increase in our costs of $14.6 million.

Lower bonus expense contributed 1.3 percentage points to our  
margin growth in 2012. In addition, capitalized operating expense 
for software development contributed 0.5 percentage points to our 
margin growth in 2012. Higher salaries and other compensation-
related expense as a percentage of revenue partially offset  
these increases, and acquisitions also had a slight negative effect 
on the margin.

Consolidated Revenue and Operating Income ($000)

Consolidated
revenue

Operating 
income 

$478,996

$124,673

$555,351

$121,059

$631,400

$138,415

$698,266

$170,654

$658,288

$150,668

   2009  2010  2011  2012  2013

Revenue % change  (4.7)%  15.9%  13.7%  4.3%  6.1%
Operating income   (10.2)%  (2.9)%  14.3%  8.9%  13.3% 
% change

Operating margin %  26.0%  21.8%  21.9%  22.9%  24.4%
Change   (1.6)pp  (4.2)pp  0.1pp  1.0pp  1.5pp

Equity in Net Income of Unconsolidated  
Entities, Non-Operating Income (Expense),  
and Income Tax Expense

Equity in Net Income of Unconsolidated Entities

($000) 2013 2012 2011

Equity in net income $ 1,428 $ 2,027 $ 1,848
of unconsolidated entities

Equity in net income of unconsolidated entities mainly consists of 
our portion of the net income (loss) of Morningstar Japan K.K. (MJKK). 
Beginning in the fourth quarters of 2011 and 2012, it also includes 
our portion of the net income (loss) of YCharts, Inc. (YCharts) and 
Inquiry Financial Europe AB, respectively. In September 2012, we 
acquired a 34% minority equity stake in Inquiry Financial Europe 
AB for $3.6 million, paid in cash. In November 2011, we acquired a 
22% minority equity stake in YCharts for $2.5 million, paid in cash.

In 2012, 2011, and the first four months of 2013, this category also 
included our portion of the net income (loss) of Morningstar Sweden. 
In May 2013, we acquired the remaining 76% interest in Morningstar 
Sweden for $14.6 million in cash, increasing our ownership interest 
to become the sole owner. Because Morningstar Sweden is now a 
wholly owned subsidiary, we no longer account for our investment 
using the equity method.

We describe our investments in unconsolidated entities in more detail 
in Note 8 of the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Non-Operating Income (Expense)

The following table presents the components of net non-operating 
income (expense):

($000)      2013  2012  2011

Interest income     $ 2,940 $ 5,464 $ 3,679
Interest expense      (228)  (311)  (1,318)
Gain on sale of investments, net   4,207  538  260
Holding gain upon acquisition     3,635  —  —  
of additional ownership of  
equity-method investments
Other expense, net      (3,198)  (2,734)  (912)

Non-operating income, net    $ 7,356 $ 2,957 $ 1,709

Interest income mainly reflects interest from our investment port-
folio. The decrease in interest income in 2013 reflects lower balances 
of cash equivalents and investments. Interest income in 2012 also 
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included approximately $0.7 million of interest income related to 
the business tax refund for prior years recorded in 2012, as discussed 
above in the section, Consolidated Results. In 2011, interest expense 
included $0.9 million related to the $1.4 million of business tax 
expense for prior years recorded in 2011, as discussed above in the 
section Consolidated Results.

Other expense, net includes foreign currency exchange gains and 
losses arising from the ordinary course of business related to our 
U.S. and non-U.S. operations and royalty income from MJKK. In 
2012, other expense, net included the loss on the sale of our invest-
ment in Bundle Corporation of $2.0 million.

Income Tax Expense

The following table summarizes the components of our effective  
tax rate:

($000)      2013  2012  2011

Income before income taxes    $ 178,010 $ 153,625 $ 140,124  
and equity in net income  
of unconsolidated entities
Equity in net income      1,428  2,027  1,848  
of unconsolidated entities
Net (income) loss attributable     122  117  43  
to the noncontrolling interest

Total     $ 179,560 $ 155,769 $ 142,015

Income tax expense    $ 56,031 $ 52,878 $ 43,658
Effective tax rate      31.2%  33.9%  30.7%

For a reconciliation of the U.S. federal tax rate to our effective 
income tax rate, refer to Note 14 of the Notes to our Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

Our effective tax rate in 2013 was 31.2%, a decrease of 2.7 percent-
age points compared with 33.9% in 2012. The decrease mainly 
reflects adjustments to certain deferred income tax benefits and 
the recognition of additional tax credits and incentives.

Our effective tax rate in 2012 was 33.9%, an increase of 3.2 percent-
age points compared with 2011. The higher tax rate in 2012 reflects 
lower tax credits and incentives in the current year, as well as 
certain deferred income tax benefits recorded in 2011.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We believe our available cash balances and investments, along 
with cash generated from operations and outside sources, will be 
sufficient to meet our operating and other cash needs for at least 
the next 12 months. We invest our cash reserves in cash equivalents 
and investments, consisting primarily of fixed-income securities. 
We maintain a conservative investment policy for our investments 
and invest a portion of these assets in municipal securities with 
high-quality stand-alone credit ratings. Investments in our portfolio 
have a maximum maturity of two years; the weighted average matu-
rity is approximately one year. We also invest a portion of our invest-
ments balance (approximately $19.7 million, or 15%, of our total 
investment balance as of December 31, 2013) in proprietary 
Morningstar portfolios. These portfolios may consist of stocks, bonds, 
options, mutual funds, or ETFs.

Approximately 51% of our cash, cash equivalents, and investments 
as of December 31, 2013 was held by our operations in the United 
States, down from about 58% as of December 31, 2012. Given our 
strong liquidity in the United States, we do not expect to repatriate 
earnings from our foreign subsidiaries in the foreseeable future. 
We have not recognized deferred tax liabilities for the portion of 
the outside basis differences (including unremitted earnings) relat-
ing to foreign subsidiaries because the investment in these subsid-
iaries is considered to be permanent in duration. Quantification of 
the deferred tax liability associated with these outside basis differ-
ences is not practicable.

We intend to use our cash, cash equivalents, and investments for 
general corporate purposes, including working capital and funding 
future growth. To date, we have not needed to access any significant 
commercial credit and have not borrowed under any lines of credit.

In 2013, we paid dividends of $17.4 million. We made only three 
dividend payments in 2013 because we opted to pay the dividend 
originally scheduled for January 2013 in December 2012. In February 
2014, our board of directors declared a quarterly dividend of 17 cents 
per share. The dividend is payable on April 30, 2014 to shareholders 
of record as of April 11, 2014. We expect to make regular quarterly 
dividend payments of 17 cents per share in 2014.

In December 2013, our board of directors approved a $200 million 
increase to our share repurchase program, bringing the total amount 
authorized under the program to $700 million. We may repurchase 
shares of our outstanding common stock from time to time at pre-
vailing market prices on the open market or in private transactions 
in amounts that we deem appropriate. In 2013, we repurchased a 
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total of approximately 2.0 million shares for $153.5 million. As of 
December 31, 2013, we had repurchased a total of approximately 
7.1 million shares for $449.8 million under this program since we 
originally announced it in October 2010.

Cash provided by operating activities is our main source of cash.  
In 2013, cash provided by operating activities was $186.7 million, 
driven by $123.4 million of net income, adjusted for non-cash items 
and $15.6 million in positive changes from our net operating assets 
and liabilities.

As of December 31, 2013, we had cash, cash equivalents, and invest-
ments of $298.6 million, a decrease of $22.9 million compared  
with $321.4 million as of December 31, 2012. The change reflects 
cash provided by operating activities partially offset by $153.5 mil-
lion used to repurchase common stock, bonus payments of $36.6 
million made during the first quarter of 2013 related to the 2012 
bonus, and $33.6 million of capital expenditures. In addition, we 
used approximately $14.6 million in cash to acquire the remaining 
76% of Morningstar Sweden to become sole owner.

We expect to continue making significant capital expenditures in 
2014, mainly for computer hardware and software, leasehold 
improvements for new and existing office locations, and capitalized 
software. In addition, we expect to make further investments in 
network and systems security in an amount that may be material.

We also expect to use a portion of our cash and investments bal-
ances in the first quarter of 2014 to make annual bonus payments 
of approximately $40 million related to the 2013 bonus.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments ($000 as of Dec. 31)

$342,553 
$365,416

$470,192

$321,418
$298,567

    2009  2010  2011  2012  2013

% change  15.1%  6.7%  28.7%  (31.6%)  (7.1%)

Consolidated Free Cash Flow

As described in more detail above, we define free cash flow as cash 
provided by or used for operating activities less capital expenditures. 
We present free cash flow solely as supplemental disclosure to help 
investors better understand how much cash is available after we 
spend money to operate our business. Our management team uses 
free cash flow to evaluate our business. Free cash flow is not a 
measure of performance set forth under GAAP. Also, the free cash 
flow definition we use may not be comparable to similarly titled 
measures used by other companies.

We generated positive free cash flow in 2013, 2012, and 2011 as our 
cash provided by operating activities has consistently exceeded 
capital expenditures, as shown below:

          2013  2012 
($000)  2013  2012  2011  Change  Change

Cash provided  $ 186,658 $ 145,996 $ 164,976  27.9%  (11.5)% 
by operating  
activities
Capital   (33,583)  (30,039)  (23,322)  11.8%  28.8% 
expenditures

Free cash flow $ 153,075 $ 115,957 $ 141,654  32.0%  (18.1)%

We generated positive free cash flow of $153.1 million in 2013,  
an increase of $37.1 million versus 2012. In 2012, free cash flow  
was down $25.7 million from 2011, reflecting lower cash provided 
by operating activities and higher capital expenditures compared 
with 2011.
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Cash Provided by Operating Activities ($000)

$101,256

$123,416

$164,976

$145,996

$186,658

    2009  2010  2011  2012  2013

% change  (32.2)%  21.9%  33.7%  (11.5)%  27.9%

Acquisitions

In May 2013, we acquired an additional 76% interest in Morningstar 
Sweden AB (Morningstar Sweden), increasing our ownership to 
100% from 24%. We did not complete any acquisitions in 2012 or 
2011. We invested a total of $10.8 million, less cash acquired, related 
to acquisitions over the past three years. We describe these acqui-
sitions, including purchase price and product offerings, in Note 6 
of the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Divestitures

We sold two businesses in 2012 and received a total of $6.7 million 
related to these sales. For more information, please see Note 7 of 
the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Subsequent Events

See Note 17 in the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements 
for information on events subsequent to December 31, 2013.

Application of Critical Accounting  
Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results 
of operations are based on our Consolidated Financial Statements, 
which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. We discuss 
our significant accounting policies in Note 2 of the Notes to our 
Consolidated Financial Statements. The preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with GAAP requires our management 
team to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expense, and related dis-
closures included in our Consolidated Financial Statements.

We evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis. We base our esti-
mates on historical experience and various other assumptions that 
we believe are reasonable. Based on these assumptions and esti-
mates, we make judgments about the carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Our actual 
results could vary from these estimates and assumptions. If actual 
amounts are different from previous estimates, we include revisions 
in our results of operations for the period in which the actual amounts 
become known.

We believe the following critical accounting policies reflect the 
significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our 
Consolidated Financial Statements:

Revenue Recognition

Much of our revenue comes from the sale of subscriptions or licenses 
for print publications, software, and Internet-based products and 
services. We recognize this revenue in equal amounts over the  
term of the subscription or license, which generally ranges from 
one to three years. We also provide analysis, consulting, retirement 
advice, and other services. We recognize this revenue when the 
service is provided or during the service obligation period defined 
in the contract.

We make significant judgments related to revenue recognition, 
including whether fees are fixed or determinable and whether the 
collection of payment is probable. For contracts that combine mul-
tiple products and services, we make judgments regarding the value 
of each element in the arrangement based on selling prices of the 
items when sold separately. Delivery of our products and services 
is a prerequisite to the recognition of revenue. If arrangements 
include an acceptance provision, we begin recognizing revenue upon 
the receipt of customer acceptance.

Morningstar, Inc. 2013 Annual Report 61

 PMSCG11
 Angle@53

 PMS632
 Angle@53

 PMSCG11
 Angle@53

 PMS632
 Angle@53

137847BDY_12_102_r1_13AR_140314_01.indd   61 3/18/14   8:46 AM



We make judgments at the beginning of an arrangement regarding 
whether or not collection is probable. Probability of collection is 
assessed on a case-by-case basis. We typically sell to institutional 
customers with whom we have a history of successful collections.

Deferred revenue is the amount invoiced or collected in advance 
for subscriptions, licenses, or services that has not yet been recog-
nized as revenue. As of December 31, 2013, our deferred revenue 
was $149.2 million. We expect to recognize this deferred revenue 
in future periods as we fulfill our service obligations. The amount 
of deferred revenue may increase or decrease primarily based on 
the mix of contracted products and services and the volume of new 
and renewal subscriptions. The timing of future revenue recognition 
may change depending on the terms of the license agreements and 
the timing of fulfilling our service obligations. We believe that the 
estimate related to revenue recognition is a critical accounting 
estimate, and to the extent that there are material differences 
between our determination of deferred revenue and actual results, 
our financial condition or results of operations may be affected.

Acquisitions, Goodwill, and Other Intangible Assets

Our financial statements reflect the operations of an acquired busi-
ness starting from the completion of the transaction. In addition, 
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at the date 
of acquisition at their respective estimated fair values.

Allocating the purchase price to the acquired assets and liabilities 
involves management judgment. Accordingly, we typically obtain 
the assistance of third-party valuation experts for significant assets. 
The fair value estimates are based on available historical informa-
tion and on future expectations and assumptions deemed reasonable 
by management, but are inherently uncertain.

The determination of the fair values of intangible assets requires 
significant management judgment in each of the following areas:

UU Identify the acquired intangible assets: For each acquisition, we 
identify the intangible assets acquired. These intangible assets 
generally consist of customer relationships, trademarks and trade 
names, technology-related intangibles including internally devel-
oped software and databases, and non-compete agreements.

UU Estimate the fair value of these intangible assets: We consider 
various approaches to value the intangible assets. These valua-
tion approaches include the cost approach, which measures the  

  value of an asset based on the cost to reproduce it or replace it 
with another asset of like utility; the market approach, which 
values the asset through an analysis of sales and offerings of 
comparable assets; and the income approach, which measures 
the value of an asset based by measuring the present worth of 
the economic benefits it is expected to produce.  

UU Estimate the remaining useful life of the assets: For each intan-
gible asset, we use judgment and assumptions to establish the 
remaining useful life of the asset. For example, for customer 
relationships, we determine the estimated useful life with refer-
ence to observed customer attrition rates. For technology-related 
assets such as databases, we make judgments about the demand 
for current data and historical metrics in establishing the remain-
ing useful life. For internally developed software, we estimate 
an obsolescence factor associated with the software.

Any excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of 
the net assets acquired is recorded as Goodwill which is not amor-
tized. Instead, it is subject to an impairment test annually, or when-
ever indicators of impairment exist, based on a discounted cash-flow 
model. We review the carrying value of goodwill for impairment at 
least annually based upon the estimated fair value of our reporting 
units. Should the review indicate that goodwill is impaired, the 
goodwill balance would be reduced by the difference between the 
carrying value of goodwill and its fair value.

For purposes of performing the impairment test, fair values are 
determined using a discounted cash flow methodology. This requires 
significant judgments including estimation of future cash flows, 
which, among other factors, is dependent on internal forecasts, 
estimation of the long-term rate of growth for businesses and deter-
mination of weighted average cost of capital.

We believe that the accounting estimates related to purchase price 
allocations in connection with acquisitions and subsequent goodwill 
impairment testing are critical accounting estimates because 
changes in these assumptions could materially affect the amounts 
and classifications of assets and liabilities presented in our 
Consolidated Balance Sheets, as well as the amount of amortization 
and depreciation expense, if any, recorded in our Consolidated 
Statements of Income.
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Stock-Based Compensation

We include stock-based compensation expense in each of our oper-
ating expense categories. Our stock-based compensation expense 
primarily reflects grants of restricted stock units and restricted stock.

Under FASB ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation, we 
measure stock-based compensation expense at the grant date based 
on the fair value of the award and recognize the cost as expense 
ratably over the award’s vesting period. We measure the fair value 
of our restricted stock units on the date of grant based on the mar-
ket price of the underlying common stock as of the close of trading 
on the day before the grant. We estimate expected forfeitures of 
stock-based awards at the grant date and recognize compensation 
cost only for those awards expected to vest. We ultimately adjust 
this forfeiture assumption to the actual forfeiture rate. Therefore, 
changes in the forfeiture assumptions do not change the total amount 
of expense ultimately recognized over the vesting period. Instead, 
different forfeiture assumptions would only affect the timing of 
expense recognition over the vesting period.

We adjust the stock-based compensation expense during the third 
quarter to reflect those awards that ultimately vested. In addition, 
we update our estimate of the forfeiture rate that will be applied 
to awards not yet vested.

We believe that the estimates related to stock-based compensation 
expense are critical accounting estimates because the assumptions 
used could significantly impact the timing and amount of  
stock-based compensation expense recorded in our Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate is based on the mix of income and losses in 
our U.S. and non-U.S. operations, statutory tax rates, and tax-
planning opportunities available to us in the various jurisdictions 
in which we operate. Significant judgment is required to evaluate 
our tax positions.

Tax law requires us to include items in our tax return at different 
times from when these items are reflected in our Consolidated 
Statements of Income. As a result, the effective tax rate reflected 
in our Consolidated Financial Statements is different from the  
tax rate reported on our tax return (our cash tax rate). Some of  
these differences, such as expenses that are not deductible in our  

tax return, are permanent. Other differences, such as depreciation 
expense, reverse over time. These timing differences create deferred 
tax assets and liabilities. We determine our deferred tax assets and 
liabilities based on temporary differences between the financial 
reporting and the tax basis of assets and liabilities. The excess tax 
benefits associated with stock-option exercises and vesting of 
restricted stock units also create a difference between our cash tax 
rate and the effective tax rate in our Consolidated Income Statement.

As of December 31, 2013, we had gross deferred tax assets of $33.2 
million and gross deferred tax liabilities of $45.6 million. The deferred 
tax assets include $9.2 million of deferred tax assets related to 
$45.4 million of net operating losses (NOLs) of our non-U.S. opera-
tions. In assessing the realizability of our deferred tax assets, we 
consider whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all 
of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. We have recorded a 
valuation allowance against all but approximately $8.8 million of 
the non-U.S. NOLs, reflecting the likelihood that the benefit of the 
NOLs will not be realized.

In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, we consider both 
positive and negative evidence, including tax-planning strategies, 
projected future taxable income, and recent financial performance. 
If we determine a lesser allowance is required at some point in the 
future, we would record a reduction to our tax expense and valuation 
allowance. These adjustments would be made in the same period 
we determined the change in the valuation allowance was needed. 
This would cause our income tax expense, effective tax rate, and 
net income to fluctuate.

We assess uncertain tax positions in accordance with FASB ASC 
740, Income Taxes. We use judgment to identify, recognize, and 
measure the amounts to be recorded in the financial statements 
related to tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. 
We recognize liabilities to represent our potential future obligations 
to taxing authorities for the benefits taken in our tax returns. We 
adjust these liabilities, including any impact of the related interest 
and penalties, in light of changing facts and circumstances such as 
the progress of a tax audit. A number of years may elapse before a 
particular matter for which we have established a reserve is audited 
and finally resolved. The number of years with open tax audits var-
ies depending on the tax jurisdiction.
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We use judgment to classify unrecognized tax benefits as either 
current or noncurrent liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
Settlement of any particular issue would usually require the use of 
cash. We generally classify liabilities associated with unrecognized 
tax benefits as noncurrent liabilities. It typically takes several years 
between our initial tax return filing and the final resolution of any 
uncertain tax positions with the tax authority. We recognize favor-
able resolutions of tax matters for which we have previously estab-
lished reserves as a reduction to our income tax expense when the 
amounts involved become known.

Assessing the future tax consequences of events that have been 
recognized in our Consolidated Financial Statements or tax returns 
requires judgment. Variations in the actual outcome of these future 
tax consequences could materially impact our financial position, 
results of operations, or cash flows.

Contingencies

We are subject to various claims and contingencies related to legal 
proceedings and investigations, which we describe in Note 15 of 
the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements. These legal 
proceedings involve inherent uncertainties including, but not limited 
to, court rulings, negotiations between affected parties, and  
government actions. Assessing the probability of loss for such  
contingencies and determining how to accrue the appropriate lia-
bilities requires judgment. If actual results differ from our assess-
ments, our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows 
would be affected.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013-05, Foreign Currency 
Matters (Topic 830): Parent’s Accounting for the Cumulative 
Translation Adjustment upon Derecognition of Certain Subsidiaries 
or Groups of Assets within a Foreign Entity or an Investment in a 
Foreign Entity. ASU No. 2013-05 specifies that when a reporting 
entity (parent) ceases to have a controlling financial interest in a 
subsidiary or group of assets that is a business within a foreign 
entity, the parent is required to apply the guidance in Subtopic 
830-30 to release any related cumulative translation adjustment 
into net income. Accordingly, the cumulative translation adjustment 
should be released into net income only if the sale or transfer results 
in the complete or substantially complete liquidation of the foreign 
entity in which the subsidiary or group of assets had resided. 
Additionally, the amendments in this update clarify that the sale  
of an investment in a foreign entity includes both (1) events that 
result in the loss of a controlling financial interest in a foreign entity 
and (2) events that results in an acquirer obtaining control of an 
acquiree in which it held an equity interest immediately before the 
acquisition date (sometimes referred to as a step acquisition). The 
currency translation adjustment should be released into net income 
upon the occurrence of those events. For Morningstar, ASU No. 
2013-05 is effective prospectively for events occurring on or after 
January 1, 2014.

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013-11, Presentation of an 
Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, 
a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists (a consensus 
of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force). This update requires an 
entity to present an unrecognized tax benefit as a reduction of a 
deferred tax asset for a net operating loss (NOL) carryforward,  
or similar tax loss or tax credit carryforward, rather than as a liabil-
ity when (1) the uncertain tax position would reduce the NOL or  
other carryforward under the tax law of the applicable jurisdiction 
and (2) the entity intends to use the deferred tax asset for that 
purpose. The update does not require new recurring disclosures. 
For Morningstar, ASU No. 2013-11 is effective prospectively as of 
January 1, 2014.

We do not expect the provisions of ASU No. 2013-05 and ASU  
No. 2013-11 to have a material effect on our consolidated  
financial statements.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures 
about Market Risk

Our investment portfolio is actively managed and may suffer losses 
from fluctuating interest rates, market prices, or adverse security 
selection. We invest our investment portfolio mainly in high- 
quality fixed-income securities. As of December 31, 2013, our cash, 
cash equivalents, and investments balance was $298.6 million. 
Based on our estimates, a 100 basis-point change in interest  
rates would change the fair value of our investment portfolio by 
approximately $0.5 million.

As our non-U.S. revenue increases as a percentage of our cons-
olidated revenue, fluctuations in foreign currencies present a greater 
potential risk. Our operations are subject to currency risk related  
to the British pound, the euro, and the Australian and Canadian 
dollars, among other currencies. To date, we have not engaged in 
currency hedging, and we do not currently have any positions  
in derivative instruments to hedge our currency risk. Our results 
could suffer if certain foreign currencies decline relative to the U.S. 
dollar. In addition, because we use the local currency of our  
subsidiaries as the functional currency, we are affected by the 
translation of foreign currencies into U.S. dollars.

Contractual Obligations

The table below shows our known contractual obligations as of December 31, 2013 and the expected timing of cash payments related to 
these contractual obligations:

($000)   2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter Total

Minimum commitments on non-cancelable    $ 18,987 $ 17,656 $ 16,918 $ 16,001 $ 13,908 $ 42,592 $ 126,062 
operating lease obligations (1)
Unrecognized tax benefits (2)    6,211  —  —  —  —  —  6,211

Total    $ 25,198 $ 17,656 $ 16,918 $ 16,001 $ 13,908 $ 42,592 $ 132,273

(1) The non-cancelable operating lease obligations are mainly for lease commitments for office space.

(2) Represents unrecognized tax benefits (including penalties and interest, less the impact of any associated tax benefits) recorded in accordance with FASB ASC 740, Income Taxes.  
The amount included in the table represents items that may be resolved through settlement of tax audits or for which the statutes of limitations are expected to lapse during 2014.  
The table excludes $6.0 million of unrecognized tax benefits, included as a long-term liability in our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2013, for which we cannot make  
a reasonably reliable estimate of the period of payment.
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Item 8. Financial Statements  
and Supplementary Data

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Morningstar, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets 
of Morningstar, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company’s) as of December 
31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of income, 
comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows for each of the years 
in the three-year period ended December 31, 2013. These consoli-
dated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a 
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We 
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to 
above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Morningstar, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 
2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for 
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2013, 
in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
Morningstar Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as  
of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control —Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO),  
and our report dated February 28, 2014 expressed an unqualified 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Chicago, Illinois
February 28, 2014

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Morningstar, Inc.:

We have audited Morningstar Inc.’s (the Company) internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (1992) issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO). Morningstar, Inc.’s management is responsible 
for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting 
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over 
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibil-
ity is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over 
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit 
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over finan-
cial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, 
and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness 
of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included 
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in 
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process 
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted account-
ing principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting 
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the main-
tenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; 
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as 
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accor-
dance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that 
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention 
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition 
of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial 
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections 
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to 
the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes 
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or 
procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Morningstar, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, 
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 
31, 2013, based on criteria established in Internal Control— 
Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
consolidated balance sheets of Morningstar, Inc. and subsidiaries 
as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated 
statements of income, comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows 
for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 
2013, and our report dated February 28, 2014 expressed an unqual-
ified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Chicago, Illinois
February 28, 2014
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Year ended December 31 (in thousands except per share amounts)      2013 2012 2011

Revenue           $ 698,266 $ 658,288 $ 631,400
Operating expense (1):
 Cost of revenue            271,437  246,783  235,289
 Sales and marketing            103,614  108,884  106,699
 General and administrative            106,868  108,857  108,084
 Depreciation and amortization            45,693  43,096  42,913

  Total operating expense            527,612  507,620  492,985

Operating income            170,654  150,668  138,415
Non-operating income (expense):
 Interest income, net            2,712  5,153  2,361
 Gain on sale of investments, reclassified from other comprehensive income       4,207  538  260
 Holding gain upon acquisition of additional ownership of equity method investments       3,635  —  —
 Other expense, net            (3,198)  (2,734)  (912)

 Non-operating income, net            7,356  2,957  1,709

Income before income taxes and equity in net income of unconsolidated entities       178,010  153,625  140,124
Equity in net income of unconsolidated entities            1,428  2,027  1,848
Income tax expense            56,031  52,878  43,658

Consolidated net income from continuing operations           123,407  102,774  98,314
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax           —  5,188  —

Consolidated net income            123,407  107,962  98,314
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest            122  117  43

 Net income attributable to Morningstar, Inc.           $ 123,529 $ 108,079 $ 98,357

Amounts attributable to Morningstar, Inc.:
Net income from continuing operations, net of tax          $ 123,529 $ 102,891 $ 98,357
Net income from discontinued operations, net of tax           —  5,188  —

 Net income attributable to Morningstar, Inc.           $ 123,529 $ 108,079 $ 98,357

Net income per share attributable to Morningstar, Inc.:
Basic:
 Continuing operations           $ 2.68 $ 2.12 $ 1.96
 Discontinued operations            —  0.11  —

             $ 2.68 $ 2.23 $ 1.96

Diluted:
 Continuing operations           $ 2.66 $ 2.10 $ 1.92
 Discontinued operations            —  0.10  —

             $ 2.66 $ 2.20 $ 1.92

Dividends per common share:
Dividends declared per common share           $ 0.545 $ 0.425 $ 0.25
Dividends paid per common share           $ 0.375 $ 0.525 $ 0.20

Weighted average shares outstanding:
 Basic            46,158  48,497  50,032
 Diluted            46,491  49,148  50,988

Morningstar, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Income
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Morningstar, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Income 
(continued)

(in thousands except per share amounts)      2013 2012 2011

(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense of:
Cost of revenue           $ 6,870 $ 6,416 $ 6,236
Sales and marketing            1,975  1,937  1,871
General and administrative            6,198  10,552  7,196

Total stock-based compensation expense           $ 15,043 $ 18,905 $ 15,303

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Morningstar, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 

Year ended December 31 (in thousands)      2013 2012 2011

Consolidated net income           $ 123,407 $ 107,962 $ 98,314
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
 Foreign currency translation adjustment            (4,539)  6,838  (2,345)
 Unrealized gains (losses) on securities:
 Unrealized holding gains (losses) arising during period           2,408  1,455  (773)
 Reclassification of gains included in net income           (2,631)  (344)  (166)

  Other comprehensive income (loss)            (4,762)  7,949  (3,284)

Comprehensive income            118,645  115,911  95,030
Comprehensive (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interest         345  268  (179)

Comprehensive income attributable to Morningstar, Inc.          $ 118,990 $ 116,179 $ 94,851

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Morningstar, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Balance Sheets

As of December 31 (in thousands except share amounts)       2013 2012

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents             $ 168,160 $ 163,889
 Investments              130,407  157,529
 Accounts receivable, less allowance of $1,089 and $569, respectively           114,131  114,361
 Deferred tax asset, net              3,892  3,741
 Income tax receivable, net              3,942  14,267
 Other              26,361  20,823

  Total current assets              446,893  474,610

 Property, equipment, and capitalized software, net             104,986  84,022
 Investments in unconsolidated entities              38,714  35,305
 Goodwill              326,450  320,845
 Intangible assets, net              103,909  116,732
 Other assets              9,716  10,438

  Total assets             $ 1,030,668 $ 1,041,952

Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities:
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities             $ 52,877 $ 43,777
 Accrued compensation              71,403  67,317
 Deferred revenue              149,225  146,015
 Other current liabilities              6,786  256

  Total current liabilities              280,291  257,365

 Accrued compensation              8,193  8,281
 Deferred tax liability, net              23,755  21,583
 Deferred rent              13,192  15,368
 Other long-term liabilities              13,947  12,460

  Total liabilities              339,378  315,057

Equity:
Morningstar, Inc. shareholders’ equity:
  Common stock, no par value, 200,000,000 shares authorized, of which 44,967,423 and 46,541,571 shares  

were outstanding as of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively         5  5
 Treasury stock at cost, 7,202,896 shares as of December 31, 2013 and 5,214,070 shares as of December 31, 2012     (449,054)  (301,839)
 Additional paid-in capital              539,507  521,285
 Retained earnings              594,626  496,354
 Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):
  Currency translation adjustment              4,609  8,925
  Unrealized gain on available-for-sale investments             564  787

  Total accumulated other comprehensive income             5,173  9,712

 Total Morningstar, Inc. shareholders’ equity              690,257  725,517
 Noncontrolling interest              1,033  1,378

  Total equity              691,290  726,895

  Total liabilities and equity             $ 1,030,668 $ 1,041,952

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Morningstar, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statement of Equity

   Morningstar, Inc. Shareholders’ Equity

   Common Common    Accumulated 
   Stock Stock  Additional  Other Non 
   Shares  Par Treasury Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Controlling Total  
(in thousands except share amounts) Outstanding Value Stock Capital Earnings Income (Loss) Interests Equity 

Balance as of December 31, 2010  49,874,392 $ 5 $ (6,641) $ 458,426 $ 323,408 $ 5,118 $ 1,109 $ 781,425

Net income (loss)    —  —  —  98,357  —  (43)  98,314
Other comprehensive income (loss):
 Unrealized gain on available-for-sale  
  investments, net of tax of $447    —  —  —  —  (773)  —  (773)
 Reclassification of adjustments  
  for gains included in net income,  
  net of income tax of $94    —  —  —  —  (166)  —  (166)
 Foreign currency translation  
  adjustment, net    —  —  —  —  (2,567)  222  (2,345)

  Other comprehensive income (loss), net    —  —  —  —  (3,506)  222  (3,284)

Issuance of common stock related to   931,667  —  612  8,090  —  —  —  8,702
 stock-option exercises and vesting  
 of restricted stock units, net
Stock-based compensation—    —  —  12,765  —  —  —  12,765 
 restricted stock units
Stock-based compensation—    —  —  2,196  —  —  —  2,196 
 restricted stock
Stock-based compensation—    —  —  342  —  —  —  342 
 stock options
Excess tax benefit derived from     —  —  9,525  —  —  —  9,525 
 stock-option exercises and vesting  
 of restricted stock units
Common shares repurchased  (722,119)  —  (40,672)  —  —  —  —  (40,672)
Dividends declared—    —  —  —  (12,550)  —  —  (12,550) 
 common shares outstanding
Dividends declared—    —  —  184  (193)  —  —  (9) 
 restricted stock units
Adjustment to noncontrolling interest    —  —  (96)  —  —  358  262

Balance as of December 31, 2011  50,083,940  5  (46,701)  491,432  409,022  1,612  1,646  857,016

Net income (loss)    —  —  —  108,079  —  (117)  107,962
Other comprehensive income (loss):
 Unrealized gain on available-for-sale     —  —  —  —  1,455  —  1,455 
  investments, net of tax of $614
 Reclassification of adjustments     —  —  —  —  (344)  —  (344) 
  for gains included in net income,  
  net of income tax of $194
 Foreign currency translation     —  —  —  —  6,989  (151)  6,838
  adjustment, net

  Other comprehensive income (loss), net    —  —  —  —  8,100  (151)  7,949
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Morningstar, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statement of Equity

   Morningstar, Inc. Shareholders’ Equity

   Common Common    Accumulated 
   Stock Stock  Additional  Other Non 
   Shares  Par Treasury Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Controlling Total  
(in thousands except share amounts) Outstanding Value Stock Capital Earnings Income (Loss) Interests Equity 

Issuance of common stock related to   715,888  —  1,342  3,467  —  —  —  4,809
 stock-option exercises and vesting  
 of restricted stock units, net
Stock-based compensation—    —  —  13,451  —  —  —  13,451
 restricted stock units
Stock-based compensation—    —  —  5,013  —  —  —  5,013
 restricted stock
Stock-based compensation—    —  —  441  —  —  —  441
 stock-options
Excess tax benefit derived from     —  —  7,210  —  —  —  7,210
 stock-option exercises and vesting  
 of restricted stock units
Common shares repurchased  (4,258,257)  —  (256,480)  —  —  —  —  (256,480)
Dividends declared—    —  —  —  (20,420)  —  —  (20,420) 
 common shares outstanding
Dividends declared—    —  —  271  (327)  —  —  (56) 
 restricted stock units

Balance as of December 31, 2012  46,541,571  5  (301,839)  521,285  496,354  9,712  1,378  726,895

Net income (loss)    —  —  —  123,529  —  (122)  123,407
Other comprehensive income (loss):
 Unrealized loss on available-for-sale     —  —  —  —  2,408  —  2,408
  investments, net of income tax of $1,469
 Reclassification of adjustments     —  —  —  —  (2,631)  —  (2,631) 
  for gains included in net income,  
  net of income tax of $1,576
 Foreign currency translation     —  —  —  —  (4,316)  (223)  (4,539) 
  adjustment, net

Other comprehensive income (loss), net    —  —  —  —  (4,539)  (223)  (4,762)

Issuance of common stock related to   437,263  —  1,633  (2,908)  —  —  —  (1,275) 
 stock-option exercises and vesting of  
 restricted stock units, net
Stock-based compensation—    —  —  14,163  —  —  —  14,163
 restricted stock units
Stock-based compensation—    —  —  388  —  —  —  388
 restricted stock
Stock-based compensation—    —  —  492  —  —  —  492
 stock-options
Excess tax benefit derived from     —  —  5,898  —  —  —  5,898
 stock-option exercises and vesting  
 of restricted stock units
Common shares repurchased  (2,011,411)  —  (148,848)  —  —  —  —  (148,848)
Dividends declared—    —  —  —  (24,977)  —  —  (24,977) 
 common shares outstanding
Dividends declared—    —  —  189  (280)  —  —  (91) 
 restricted stock units

Balance as of December 31, 2013  44,967,423 $ 5 $ (449,054) $ 539,507 $ 594,626 $ 5,173 $ 1,033 $ 691,290

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Morningstar, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31 (in thousands)      2013 2012 2011

Operating activities
Consolidated net income           $ 123,407 $ 107,962 $ 98,314
Adjustments to reconcile consolidated net income to net cash flows from operating activities:
 Depreciation and amortization            45,693  43,096  42,913
 Deferred income taxes            (1,133)  6,316  (4,436)
 Stock-based compensation expense            15,043  18,905  15,303
 Provision for bad debt            825  1,016  1,237
 Equity in net income of unconsolidated entities           (1,428)  (2,027)  (1,848)
 Excess tax benefits from stock-option exercises and vesting of restricted stock units       (5,898)  (7,210)  (9,525)
 Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax           —  (5,188)  —
 Loss on sale of cost-method investment            —  2,034  —
 Holding gain upon acquisition of additional ownership of equity-method investments       (3,635)  —  —
 Other, net            (1,830)  142  592
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:
 Accounts receivable            (1,593)  (17,124)  (3,858)
 Other assets            (2,302)  223  2,728
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities            (1,244)  1,173  (4,821)
 Accrued compensation            3,153  (8,861)  10,176
 Income taxes—current            16,794  (1,205)  10,751
 Deferred revenue            3,658  7,769  9,578
 Deferred rent            (1,484)  407  (1,030)
 Other liabilities            (1,368)  (1,432)  (1,098)

  Cash provided by operating activities            186,658  145,996  164,976

Investing activities
Purchases of investments            (140,051)  (145,491)  (383,281)
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments           171,243  260,317  297,956
Capital expenditures            (33,583)  (30,039)  (23,322)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired            (11,079)  —  300
Proceeds from sale of a business, net            957  5,734
Purchases of equity- and cost-method investments           (2,751)  (10,304)  (2,450)
Other, net            403  (25)  30

  Cash provided by (used for) investing activities           (14,861)  80,192  (110,767)

Financing activities
Proceeds from stock-option exercises            4,532  9,101  12,866
Employee taxes withheld for restricted stock units           (5,807)  (4,292)  (4,164)
Excess tax benefits from stock-option exercises and vesting of restricted stock units       5,898  7,210  9,525
Common shares repurchased            (153,514)  (251,813)  (40,672)
Dividends paid            (17,425)  (25,487)  (10,041)
Other, net            (56)  105  (110)

  Cash used for financing activities            (166,372)  (265,176)  (32,596)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents          (1,154)  2,440  (1,352)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents           4,271  (36,548)  20,261
Cash and cash equivalents—beginning of period           163,889  200,437  180,176

  Cash and cash equivalents—end of period          $ 168,160 $ 163,889 $ 200,437

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for income taxes           $ 40,364 $ 47,355 $ 38,054
Supplemental information of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale investments          $ (328) $ 1,723 $ (1,480)
Equipment obtained under long-term financing arrangement         $ 4,860 $ 4,551 $ —

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Morningstar, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Description of Business

Morningstar, Inc. and its subsidiaries (Morningstar, we, our), is a 
provider of independent investment research to investors around the 
world. We offer an extensive line of products and services for indi-
vidual investors, financial advisors, asset managers, and retirement 
plan providers and sponsors. We have operations in 27 countries.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The acronyms that appear in these Notes to our Consolidated 
Financial Statements refer to the following:

ASC Accounting Standards Codification
ASU Accounting Standards Update
EITF Emerging Issues Task Force
FASB Financial Accounting Standards Board
SEC Securities and Exchange Commission

Principles of Consolidation. We conduct our business operations 
through wholly owned or majority-owned operating subsidiaries. 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the 
accounts of Morningstar, Inc. and our subsidiaries. The assets, 
liabilities, and results of operations of subsidiaries in which we 
have a controlling interest have been consolidated. All significant 
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

We account and report the noncontrolling (minority) interest in  
our Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with FASB 
ASC 810, Consolidation. A noncontrolling interest is the portion of 
equity (net assets) in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or  
indirectly, to the parent company. We report the noncontrolling 
interest in our Consolidated Balance Sheet within equity separate 
from the shareholders’ equity attributable to Morningstar, Inc.  
In addition, we present the net income (loss) and comprehensive 
income (loss) attributable to Morningstar, Inc.’s shareholders  
and the noncontrolling interest in our Consolidated Statements of 
Income, Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, and 
Consolidated Statements of Equity.

We account for investments in entities in which we exercise  
significant influence, but do not control, using the equity method.

As part of our investment management operations, we manage 
certain funds outside of the United States that are considered  
variable interest entities. For the majority of these variable interest 
entities, we do not have a variable interest in them. In cases  
where we do have a variable interest, we are not the primary ben-
eficiary. Accordingly, we do not consolidate any of these variable 
interest entities.

Comprehensive Income. In accordance with ASU No. 2011-05, 
Presentation of Comprehensive Income, we present the total of 
comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the 
components of other comprehensive income (OCI) in two separate 
but consecutive statements, our Consolidated Statements of Income 
and separately, our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive 
Income. In addition, effective January 1, 2013, we adopted FASB 
ASU No. 2013-2, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220). We show the 
effects of items reclassified out of each component of accumulated 
other comprehensive income to net income on the face of the finan-
cial statement where net income is presented.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in  
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States requires us to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and 
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates.

Reclassifications. Certain amounts reported in previous years have 
been reclassified to conform to the 2013 presentation. We now 
include development expense in the cost of revenue category, which 
we previously referred to as cost of goods sold. We previously 
reported development expense as a separate operating expense 
category. We have reclassified development expense to include it 
in cost of revenue for all periods presented.

Separately, as a result of our recent reorganization (including new 
positions created, changes in focus for some existing roles, and the 
refinement of employee cost categorizations as we moved to a more 
centralized structure), approximately 180 net positions shifted from 
the general and administrative and sales and marketing categories 
to cost of revenue. For 2013 as compared with both 2012 and 2011, 
changes related to our more centralized organizational structure 
added approximately $14 million of compensation expense to cost 
of revenue, and reduced the compensation expense in our sales and 
marketing and general and administrative expense categories by 
approximately $8 million and $6 million, respectively. These changes 
did not affect our total operating expense or operating income for 
any of the periods presented.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consist of 
cash and investments with original maturities of three months or 
less. We state them at cost, which approximates fair value. We 
state at fair value the portion of our cash equivalents that are 
invested in money market funds, which are actively traded and have 
quoted market prices.

Investments. We account for our investments in accordance with 
FASB ASC 320, Investments—Debt and Equity Securities. We clas-
sify our investments into three categories: held-to-maturity, trading, 
and available-for-sale.

UU Held-to-maturity: We classify certain investments, primarily cer-
tificates of deposit, as held-to-maturity securities, based on our 
intent and ability to hold these securities to maturity. We record 
held-to-maturity investments at amortized cost in our Consolidated 
Balance Sheets.

UU Trading: We classify certain other investments, primarily equity 
securities, as trading securities, primarily to satisfy the require-
ments of one of our wholly owned subsidiaries, which is a reg-
istered broker-dealer. We include realized and unrealized gains 
and losses associated with these investments as a component 
of our operating income in our Consolidated Statements of Income. 
We record these securities at their fair value in our Consolidated 
Balance Sheets.

UU Available-for-sale: Investments not considered held-to-maturity 
or trading securities are classified as available-for-sale securities. 
Available-for-sale securities primarily consist of fixed-income 
securities. We report unrealized gains and losses for available-
for-sale securities as other comprehensive income (loss), net of 
related income taxes. We record these securities at their fair 
value in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Fair Value Measurements. We follow FASB ASC 820, Fair Value 
Measurements. FASB ASC 820 defines fair value, establishes a 
framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about 
fair value measurements. Under FASB ASC 820, fair value is defined 
as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market par-
ticipants at the measurement date. The standard applies whenever 
other standards require (or permit) assets or liabilities to be mea-
sured at fair value. The standard does not expand the use of fair 
value in any new circumstances and does not require any new fair 
value measurements.

Effective January 1, 2012, we adopted FASB ASU No. 2011-04, Fair 
Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments to Achieve Common 
Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP 
and IFRS. ASU No. 2011-04 clarifies existing fair value measurement 
and disclosure requirements, amends certain fair value measurement 
principles, and requires additional disclosures about fair value mea-
surements. The adoption of ASU No. 2011-04 did not have a material 
impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

FASB ASC 820 uses a fair value hierarchy based on three broad 
levels of valuation inputs as described below:

UU Level 1: Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets  
for identical assets or liabilities that the company has the ability 
to access.
UU Level 2: Valuations based on quoted prices in markets that are 
not active or for which all significant inputs are observable, either 
directly or indirectly.
UU Level 3: Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and 
significant to the overall fair value measurement.

We provide additional information about our cash equivalents and 
investments that are subject to valuation under FASB ASC 820 in 
Note 5 in these Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. 
FASB ASC 825, Financial Instruments, permits entities the option 
to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at 
fair value with changes in fair value recognized in earnings each 
period. FASB ASC 825 allows the fair value option to be elected on 
an instrument-by-instrument basis when the asset or liability is 
initially recognized or when there’s an event that gives rise to a new 
basis of accounting for that instrument. We do not apply this fair 
value option to any of our eligible assets.
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Concentration of Credit Risk. No single customer is large enough to 
pose a significant credit risk to our operations or financial condition. 
For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, no single 
customer represented 5% or more of our consolidated revenue. If 
receivables from our customers become delinquent, we begin a 
collections process. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts 
based on our estimate of the probable losses of accounts receivable.

Property, Equipment, and Depreciation. We state property and equip-
ment at historical cost, net of accumulated depreciation. We depre-
ciate property and equipment primarily using the straight-line method 
based on the useful life of the asset, which ranges from three to 
seven years. We amortize leasehold improvements over the lease 
term or their useful lives, whichever is shorter.

Computer Software and Internal Product Development Costs.  
We capitalize certain costs in accordance with FASB ASC 350-40, 
Internal-Use Software, FASB ASC 350-50, Website Development 
Costs, and FASB ASC 985, Software. Internal product development 
costs mainly consist of employee costs for developing new web-
based products and certain major enhancements of existing products. 
We amortize these costs on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
economic life, which is generally three years. Capitalized software 
development costs related to projects that have not been placed 
into service yet are included in our construction in progress balance.

The table below summarizes our capitalized software development 
costs for the past three years:

($000)      2013  2012  2011

Capitalized software development costs  $ 8,142 $ 8,527 $ 5,315

Business Combinations. Over the past several years, we have 
acquired companies that complement our business operations. For 
each acquisition, we allocate the purchase price to the assets 
acquired, liabilities assumed, and goodwill. We follow FASB ASC 
805, Business Combinations. We recognize and measure the  
fair value of the acquired operation as a whole, and the assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed at their full fair values as of the 
date control is obtained, regardless of the percentage ownership 
in the acquired operation or how the acquisition was achieved.  
We expense direct costs related to the business combination, such 
as advisory, accounting, legal, valuation, and other professional  

fees, as incurred. We recognize restructuring costs, including  
severance and relocation for employees of the acquired entity,  
as post-combination expenses unless the target entity meets the  
criteria of FASB ASC 420, Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations on the 
acquisition date.

As part of the purchase price allocation, we follow the requirements 
of FASB ASC 740, Income Taxes. This includes establishing deferred 
tax assets or liabilities reflecting the difference between the values 
assigned for financial statement purposes and values applicable for 
income tax purposes. In certain acquisitions, the goodwill resulting 
from the purchase price allocation may not be deductible for income 
tax purposes. FASB ASC 740 prohibits recognition of a deferred tax 
asset or liability for temporary differences in goodwill if goodwill 
is not amortizable and deductible for tax purposes.

Goodwill. Changes in the carrying amount of our recorded goodwill 
are mainly the result of business acquisitions and divestitures. In 
accordance with FASB ASC 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other, 
we do not amortize goodwill; instead, goodwill is subject to an 
impairment test annually, or whenever indicators of impairment 
exist. An impairment would occur if the carrying amount of a report-
ing unit exceeded the fair value of that reporting unit. We performed 
annual impairment reviews in the fourth quarter of 2013, 2012, and 
2011. We did not record any significant impairment losses in 2013, 
2012, and 2011.

Intangible Assets. We amortize intangible assets using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives, which range from one 
to 25 years. We have no intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives. In accordance with FASB ASC 360-10-35, Subsequent 
Measurement—Impairment or Disposal of Long Lived Assets, we 
review intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recov-
erable. If the value of future undiscounted cash flows is less than 
the carrying amount of an asset group, we record an impairment 
loss based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value 
of the asset group. We recorded an impairment loss of approximately 
$800,000 in 2011. We did not record any impairment losses in 2013 
or 2012. The impairment charge is included in our amortization 
expense on our Consolidated Statements of Income.

Revenue Recognition. We recognize revenue in accordance with 
SEC SAB Topic 13, Revenue Recognition, ASC 605-25, Revenue 
Recognition: Multiple Element Arrangements, and ASC 985-605, 
Software: Revenue Recognition.
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We recognize revenue when all of the following conditions are met:

UU There is persuasive evidence of an arrangement, as evidenced 
by a signed contract;
UU Delivery of our products and services is a prerequisite for 
recognition of revenue. If arrangements include an acceptance 
provision, we generally begin recognizing revenue upon the 
receipt of customer acceptance;
UU The amount of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed  
or determinable; and
UU The collectibility of the fees is reasonably assured.

We generate revenue through sales of Morningstar Data, Morningstar 
Advisor Workstation (including Morningstar Office), Morningstar 
Direct, Morningstar Equity Research, Premium Membership fees 
for Morningstar.com, our structured credit research and ratings 
offerings, and a variety of other investment-related products and 
services. We generally structure the revenue agreements for these 
offerings as licenses or subscriptions. We recognize revenue from 
licenses and subscription sales ratably as we deliver the product or 
service and over the service obligation period defined by the terms 
of the customer contract. For new-issue ratings and analysis for 
CMBS, we charge asset-based fees that are paid by the issuer on 
the rated balance of the transaction and recognize the revenue 
immediately upon issuance of the transaction.

We also generate revenue from Internet advertising, primarily from 
“impression-based” contracts. For advertisers who use our cost-per-
impression pricing, we charge fees each time we display their ads 
on our site.

Our Investment Advisory business includes a broad range of services. 
Pricing for consulting services is based on the scope of work and 
the level of service provided, and includes asset-based fees for work 
we perform that involves investment management or acting as a 
subadvisor to investment portfolios. In arrangements that involve 
asset-based fees, we generally invoice clients quarterly in arrears 
based on average assets for the quarter. We recognize asset-based 
fees once the fees are fixed and determinable assuming all other 
revenue recognition criteria are met.

Our Retirement Solutions offerings help retirement plan participants 
plan and invest for retirement. We offer these services both through 
retirement plan providers (typically third-party asset management  
companies that offer proprietary mutual funds) and directly to plan 
sponsors (employers that offer retirement plans to their employees). 
For our Retirement Solutions offerings, we provide both a hosted 
solution as well as proprietary installed software advice solution. 
Clients can integrate the installed customized software into their 
existing systems to help investors accumulate wealth, transition 
into retirement, and manage income during retirement. The revenue 
arrangements for Retirement Solutions generally extend over mul-
tiple years. Our contracts may include one-time setup fees, imple-
mentation fees, technology licensing and maintenance fees, 
asset-based fees for managed retirement accounts, fixed and vari-
able fees for advice and guidance, or a combination of these fee 
structures. Upon customer acceptance, we recognize revenue ratably 
over the term of the agreement. We recognize asset-based fees 
and variable fees in excess of any minimum once the value is fixed 
and determinable.

Some of our revenue arrangements with our customers combine 
multiple products and services. These products and services may 
be provided at different points in time or over different time periods 
within the same arrangement. We allocate fees to the separate 
deliverables based on the deliverables’ relative selling price, which 
is generally based on the price we charge when the same deliverable 
is sold separately.

We record taxes imposed on revenue-producing transactions (such 
as sales, use, value-added, and some excise taxes) on a net basis; 
therefore, we exclude such taxes from revenue in our Consolidated 
Statements of Income.

Deferred revenue represents the portion of licenses or subscriptions 
billed or collected in advance of the service being provided, which 
we expect to recognize as revenue in future periods. Certain arrange-
ments may have cancellation or refund provisions. If we make a 
refund, it typically reflects the amount collected from a customer 
for which we have not yet provided services. The refund therefore 
results in a reduction of deferred revenue.

Advertising Costs. Advertising costs include expenses incurred for 
various print and Internet ads, search engine fees, and direct mail 
campaigns. We expense advertising costs as incurred. The table 
below summarizes our advertising expense for the past three years:

($000) 2013 2012 2011

Advertising expense $ 6,939 $ 6,306 $ 8,210

Morningstar, Inc. 2013 Annual Report 77

 PMSCG11
 Angle@53

 PMS632
 Angle@53

 PMSCG11
 Angle@53

 PMS632
 Angle@53

137847BDY_12_102_r1_13AR_140314_01.indd   77 3/18/14   8:46 AM



Stock-Based Compensation Expense. We account for our stock-based 
compensation expense in accordance with FASB ASC 718, 
Compensation—Stock Compensation. Our stock-based compensa-
tion expense reflects grants of restricted stock units, restricted stock, 
and stock options. We measure the fair value of our restricted stock 
units and restricted stock on the date of grant based on the closing 
market price of Morningstar’s common stock on the day prior to 
grant. For stock options granted in 2011, we estimated the fair value 
of our stock options on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model. We amortize the fair values to stock-based 
compensation expense, net of estimated forfeitures, ratably over 
the vesting period.

We estimate expected forfeitures of all employee stock-based 
awards and recognize compensation cost only for those awards 
expected to vest. We determine forfeiture rates based on historical 
experience and adjust the estimated forfeitures to actual forfeiture 
experience as needed.

Liability for Sabbatical Leave. In certain of our operations, we offer 
employees a sabbatical leave. Although the sabbatical policy varies 
by region, in general, Morningstar’s full-time employees are eligible 
for six weeks of paid time off after four years of continuous service. 
We account for our sabbatical liability in accordance with FASB 
ASC 710-10-25, Compensated Absences. We record a liability for 
employees’ sabbatical benefits over the period employees earn the 
right for sabbatical leave which is included in Accrued Compensation 
in our Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Income Taxes. We record deferred income taxes for the temporary 
differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
for financial statement purposes and the amounts used for income 
tax purposes in accordance with FASB ASC 740, Income Taxes. FASB 
ASC 740 prescribes the minimum recognition threshold a tax position 
is required to meet before being recognized in the financial state-
ments, and also provides guidance on derecognition, measurement, 
classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, 
and disclosure for uncertain tax positions.

We recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax 
benefits as part of income tax expense in our Consolidated Statements 
of Income. We classify liabilities related to unrecognized tax benefits 
as either current or long-term liabilities in our Consolidated Balance 
Sheet, depending on when we expect to make payment.

Income per Share. We compute and present income per share in 
accordance with FASB ASC 260, Earnings Per Share. The difference 
between weighted average shares outstanding and diluted shares 
outstanding primarily reflects the dilutive effect associated with 
our stock-based compensation plans. We further compute income 
per share in accordance with FASB ASC 260-10-45-59A, Participating 
Securities and the Two Class Method. Under the two-class method, 
we allocate earnings between common stock and participating 
securities. The two-class method includes an earnings allocation 
formula that determines earnings per share for each class of com-
mon stock according to dividends declared and undistributed earn-
ings for the period. For purposes of calculating earnings per share, 
we reduce our reported net earnings by the amount allocated to 
participating securities to arrive at the earnings allocated to common 
stock shareholders.

ASC 260-10-45-59A requires the dilutive effect of participating 
securities to be calculated using the more dilutive of the  
treasury stock or the two-class method. We have determined the 
two-class method to be the more dilutive. As such, we adjusted  
the earnings allocated to common stock shareholders in the  
basic earnings per share calculation for the reallocation of undis-
tributed earnings to participating securities to calculate diluted 
earnings per share.

Foreign Currency. We translate the financial statements of non-U.S. 
subsidiaries to U.S. dollars using the period-end exchange  
rate for assets and liabilities and an average exchange rate for 
revenue and expense. We use the local currency as the functional 
currency for all of our non-U.S. subsidiaries. We record translation  
adjustments for non-U.S. subsidiaries as a component of “Other 
comprehensive income (loss)” in our Consolidated Statements  
of Comprehensive Income. We include exchange gains and losses 
arising from transactions denominated in currencies other than  
the functional currency in “Other income (expense), net” in our 
Consolidated Statements of Income.
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3. Income Per Share

The following table shows how we reconcile our net income and 
the number of shares used in computing basic and diluted income 
per share:

(in thousands, except per share amounts)   2013  2012  2011

Basic net income per share  
attributable to Morningstar, Inc.:
Net income attributable     $ 123,529 $ 108,079 $ 98,357 
to Morningstar, Inc.:
Less: Distributed earnings available    (10)  (41)  (40) 
to participating securities
Less: Undistributed earnings available    (36)  (47)  (259) 
to participating securities

Numerator for basic net income   $ 123,483 $ 107,991 $ 98,058 
per share—undistributed and  
distributed earnings available to  
common shareholders

Weighted average common      46,158  48,497  50,032 
shares outstanding 

Basic net income per share  
attributable to Morningstar, Inc.:
Continuing operations    $ 2.68 $ 2.12 $ 1.96
Discontinued operations     —  0.11  —

Total     $ 2.68 $ 2.23 $ 1.96

(in thousands, except per share amounts)   2013  2012  2011

Diluted net income per share  
attributable to Morningstar, Inc.:
Numerator for basic net income   $ 123,483 $ 107,991 $ 98,058 
per share—undistributed and  
distributed earnings available to  
common shareholders
Add: Undistributed earnings allocated  
to participating securities     36  47  259
Less: Undistributed earnings  
reallocated to participating securities   (36)  (46)  (254)

Numerator for diluted net income   $ 123,483 $ 107,992 $ 98,063 
per share—undistributed and  
distributed earnings available to  
common shareholders

Weighted average common      46,158  48,497  50,032 
shares outstanding 

Net effect of dilutive stock options    333  651  956 
and restricted stock units

Weighted average common shares    46,491  49,148  50,988 
outstanding for computing diluted  
income per share

Diluted net income per share  
attributable to Morningstar, Inc.:
Continuing operations    $ 2.66 $ 2.10 $ 1.92
Discontinued operations     —  0.10  —

Total     $ 2.66 $ 2.20 $ 1.92

The following table shows the number of weighted average stock 
options, restricted stock units, and restricted stock excluded from 
our calculation of diluted earnings per share from both continuing 
operations and net earnings because their inclusion would have 
been anti-dilutive:

(in thousands)      2013  2012  2011

Weighted average stock options   —  83  55
Weighted average restricted stock units   17  7  —
Weighted average restricted stock   —  —  —

Total      17  90  55

These stock options and restricted stock units could be included in 
the calculation in the future.
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4. Segment, Enterprise-Wide, and  
Geographical Area Information

Segment Information

In the third quarter of 2013, we revised our segment structure to 
reflect our shift to a more centralized organizational structure. We 
now report our results in a single reportable segment, which reflects 
how our chief operating decision maker allocates resources and 
evaluates our financial results. We have revised our historical finan-
cial results to reflect this change.

Because we have a single reportable segment, all required financial 
segment information can be found directly in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

The accounting policies for our reportable segment are the same as 
those described in “Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies”. We evaluate the performance of our reporting segment 
based on revenue and operating income.

Products and Services Information

We derive revenue from two product groups. The investment infor-
mation product group includes all of our data, software, and research 
products and services. These products are typically sold through 
subscriptions or license agreements. The investment management 
product group includes all of our asset management operations, 
which earn the majority of their revenue from asset-based fees. The 
table below summarizes our revenue by product group:

External revenue by product group  
($000) 2013 2012 2011

Investment information 555,642 526,147 498,265
Investment management 142,624 132,141 133,135

Consolidated revenue $ 698,266 $ 658,288 $ 631,400

Geographical Area Information

The tables below summarize our revenue and long-lived assets by 
geographical area:

External revenue by geographical area  

 Year ended December 31

($000)      2013  2012  2011

United States     $ 500,730 $ 466,947 $ 446,470

United Kingdom      56,298  56,794  53,427
Continental Europe      57,580  49,844  49,507
Australia      35,289  38,229  39,761
Canada      31,845  30,664  27,808
Asia      13,860  13,765  13,188
Other      2,664  2,045  1,239

Total International      197,536  191,341  184,930

Consolidated revenue    $ 698,266 $ 658,288 $ 631,400

Long-lived assets by geographical area 

 As of December 31

($000)        2013  2012

United States $ 84,321 $ 60,371

United Kingdom 6,873 7,435
Continental Europe 1,873 2,356
Australia 1,051 1,402
Canada 1,275 1,773
Asia 9,479 10,529
Other 114 156

Total International 20,665 23,651

Consolidated property, equipment, $ 104,986 $ 84,022
and capitalized software, net

5. Investments and Fair Value Measurements

We account for our investments in accordance with FASB ASC 320, 
Investments—Debt and Equity Securities. We classify our invest-
ments in three categories: available-for-sale, held-to-maturity, and 
trading. We monitor the concentration, diversification, maturity, and 
liquidity of our investment portfolio, which is primarily invested in 
fixed-income securities, and classify our investment portfolio as 
shown below:

 As of December 31

($000)        2013  2012

Available-for-sale       $ 91,461 $ 125,786
Held-to-maturity        31,214 $ 26,357
Trading securities        7,732 $ 5,386

Total       $ 130,407 $ 157,529
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The following table shows the cost, unrealized gains (losses), and 
fair values related to investments classified as available-for-sale 
and held-to-maturity:

Unrealized Unrealized Fair
($000)    Cost  Gain  Loss  Value

As of December 31, 2013
Available-for-sale:

Government obligations $ 19,693 $ 8 $ (3) $ 19,698
Corporate bonds 49,913 22 (124) 49,811
Foreign obligations 505 — (2) 503
Commercial paper 9,482 7 — 9,489
Equity securities and 8,872 1,011 (141) 9,742
exchange-traded funds
Mutual funds 2,095 221 (98) 2,218

Total $ 90,560 $ 1,269 $ (368) 91,461

Held-to-maturity:       
 Certificates of deposit  $ 31,214 $ — $ — $ 31,214

As of December 31, 2012 
Available-for-sale:       
 Government obligations  $ 40,669 $ 29 $ (608) $ 40,090
 Corporate bonds    49,339  36  (292)  49,083
 Foreign obligations   2,437  1  (19)  2,419
 Commercial paper   2,000  —  —  2,000
 Equity securities and    19,613  1,359  (323)  20,649 
 exchange-traded funds
 Mutual funds    10,499  1,092  (46)  11,545

Total   $ 124,557 $ 2,517 $ (1,288) $ 125,786

Held-to-maturity:       
 Certificates of deposit  $ 26,357 $ — $ — $ 26,357

As of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, investments with 
unrealized losses for greater than a 12-month period were not mate-
rial to the Consolidated Balance Sheets and were not deemed to 
have other than temporary declines in value.

The table below shows the cost and fair value of investments clas-
sified as available-for-sale and held-to-maturity based on their 
contractual maturities as of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 
2012. The expected maturities of certain fixed-income securities 
may differ from their contractual maturities because some of these 
holdings have call features that allow the issuers the right to prepay 
obligations without penalties.

($000) Cost Fair Value

As of December 31, 2013
Available-for-sale:

Due in one year or less $ 45,486 $ 45,402
Due in one to two years 34,107 34,099
Equity securities, exchange-traded funds, 10,967 11,960
and mutual funds

Total $ 90,560 $ 91,461

Held-to-maturity:
 Due in one year or less      $ 31,210 $ 31,210
 Due in one to three years       4  4

Total       $ 31,214 $ 31,214

As of December 31, 2012
Available-for-sale:
 Due in one year or less      $ 87,599 $ 86,784
 Due in one to two years       6,846  6,808
  Equity securities, exchange-traded funds,     30,112  32,194 

and mutual funds

Total       $ 124,557 $ 125,786

   
Held-to-maturity:
 Due in one year or less      $ 26,352 $ 26,352
 Due in one to three years       5  5

Total       $ 26,357 $ 26,357

As of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, held-to-maturity 
investments included a $1,500,000 certificate of deposit, held pri-
marily as collateral against bank guarantees for our office leases, 
primarily in Australia.
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The following table shows the realized gains and losses arising from 
sales of our investments classified as available-for-sale recorded 
in our Consolidated Statements of Income:

($000) 2013 2012 2011

Realized gains $ 5,550 $ 1,671 $ 761
Realized losses (1,343) (1,133) (501)

Realized gains, net $ 4,207 $ 538 $ 260

We determine realized gains and losses using the specific identifi-
cation method.

The following table shows the net unrealized gains (losses) on trad-
ing securities as recorded in our Consolidated Statements of Income:

($000)      2013  2012  2011

Unrealized gains (losses), net   $ 827 $ 269 $ (387)

The fair value of our assets subject to fair value measurements and 
that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis using the fair 
value hierarchy and the necessary disclosures under FASB ASC 820, 
Fair Value Measurement, are as follows:

         Fair Value Measurements 
         Using Fair Value Hierarchy

($000)    Fair Value  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3

December 31, 2013
Available-for-sale 
investments

Government obligations $ 19,698 $ — $ 19,698 $ —
Corporate bonds 49,811 — 49,811 —
Foreign obligations 503 — 503 —
Commercial paper 9,489 — 9,489 —
Equity securities and 9,742 9,742 — —
exchange-traded funds
Mutual funds 2,218 2,218 — —
Trading securities 7,732 7,732 — —
Cash equivalents 925 925 — —

Total $ 100,118 $ 20,617 $ 79,501 $ —

         Fair Value Measurements 
         Using Fair Value Hierarchy

($000)    Fair Value  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3

December 31, 2012 
Available-for-sale  
investments   
 Government obligations  $ 40,090 $ — $ 40,090 $ —
 Corporate bonds    49,083  —  49,083  —
 Foreign obligations   2,419  —  2,419  —
 Commercial paper   2,000  —  2,000  —
  Equity securities and    20,649  20,649  —  — 

exchange-traded funds
 Mutual funds    11,545  11,545  —  —
 Trading securities   5,386  5,386  —  —
 Cash equivalents    398  398  —  —

Total   $ 131,570 $ 37,978 $ 93,592 $ —

Level 1: Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities that we have the ability 
to access.

Level 2:  Valuations based on quoted prices in markets that are not 
active or for which all significant inputs are observable, 
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3:  Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and 
significant to the overall fair value measurement.

Based on our analysis of the nature and risks of our investments  
in equity securities and mutual funds, we have determined that 
presenting these investment categories each in the aggregate  
is appropriate.

There were no transfers between levels one and two during the year 
ended December 31, 2013.

We measure the fair value of money market funds, equity securities, 
and ETFs based on quoted prices in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities. All other financial instruments were valued 
either based on recent trades of securities in inactive markets or 
based on quoted market prices of similar instruments and other 
significant inputs derived from observable market data. We did not 
hold any securities categorized as Level 3 as of December 31, 2013 
and December 31, 2012.
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6. Acquisitions, Goodwill, and Other Intangible Assets

2013 Acquisitions

Increased Ownership Interest in Morningstar Sweden AB

In May 2013, we acquired an additional 76% interest in Morningstar 
Sweden AB (Morningstar Sweden), increasing our ownership to 
100% from 24%. Morningstar’s main offerings in Sweden include 
Morningstar Direct, Morningstar Data, Integrated Web Tools, and 
Morningstar.se, a website for individual investors that provides fund 
and ETF data, portfolio tools, and market analysis. We began con-
solidating the financial results of this acquisition in our Consolidated 
Financial Statements on May 2, 2013.

Morningstar Sweden’s total estimated fair value of $18,513,000 
included $14,554,000 in cash paid to acquire the remaining 76% 
interest in Morningstar Sweden and $3,959,000 related to the 24% 
of Morningstar Sweden we previously held. We determined the fair 
value of the previously held 24% investment independent of the 
acquired controlling interest by applying a minority interest discount 
based on analysis of comparable transactions. Accordingly, we 
recorded a non-cash holding gain of $3,635,000, which is classified 
as “Holding gain upon acquisition of additional ownership of equity-
method investments” in our Consolidated Statement of Income for 
the year ended December 31, 2013.

The following table summarizes our allocation of the estimated fair 
values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date  
of acquisition:

            ($000)

Cash and cash equivalents        $ 3,472
Accounts receivable and other current assets     519
Other non-current assets         244
Intangible assets          9,700
Goodwill          8,911
Deferred revenue          (1,191)
Deferred tax liability         (2,272)
Other current and non-current liabilities       (870)

Total fair value of Morningstar Sweden      $ 18,513

The allocation included acquired intangible assets, as follows:

Weighted
Average

Useful Life
          ($000) (years)

Customer-related assets $ 9,700 14

Total intangible assets $ 9,700 14

We recognized a deferred tax liability of $2,272,000 mainly because 
the amortization expense related to certain intangible assets is not 
deductible for income tax purposes.

Goodwill of $8,911,000 represents the premium over the fair value 
of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired with this acquisi-
tion. We paid this premium for a number of reasons, including the 
opportunity to offer Morningstar’s full suite of products and services 
to investors in Sweden and further leverage Morningstar’s global 
reach, investment databases, and technology expertise.

2012 and 2011 Acquisitions

We did not complete any acquisitions in 2012 and 2011.

Goodwill

The following table shows the changes in our goodwill balances 
from January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2013:

($000)

Balance as of January 1, 2012 $ 318,492
Sale of Morningstar Investor Relations and other businesses (937)
Other, primarily currency translation 3,290

Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 320,845
Acquisition of remaining ownership in Morningstar Sweden 8,911
Other, primarily currency translation (3,306)

Balance as of December 31, 2013 $ 326,450

We did not record any significant impairment losses in 2013, 2012, 
or 2011, as the estimated fair values of our reporting units exceeded 
their carrying values. We perform our annual impairment testing 
during the fourth quarter of each year.
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Intangible Assets

The following table summarizes our intangible assets:

          Weighted 
          Average 
          Useful  
       Accumulated   Life 
($000)    Gross Amortization  Net (years)

As of December 31, 2013 
Intellectual property  $ 29,477 $ (23,128) $ 6,349  9
Customer-related assets   141,833  (74,311)  67,522  12
Supplier relationships   240  (108)  132  20
Technology-based assets   80,489  (50,673)  29,816  9
Non-competition    1,661  (1,571)  90  4 
agreement

Total intangible assets  $ 253,700 $ (149,791) $ 103,909  10 

As of December 31, 2012
Intellectual property  $ 30,621 $ (21,527) $ 9,094  9
Customer-related assets   132,798  (63,005)  69,793  12
Supplier relationships   240  (96)  144  20
Technology-based assets   81,333  (43,809)  37,524  9
Non-competition    1,765  (1,588)  177  4 
agreement

Total intangible assets  $ 246,757 $ (130,025) $ 116,732  10

The following table summarizes our amortization expense related 
to intangible assets:

($000)      2013  2012  2011

Amortization expense    $ 21,454 $ 23,944 $ 27,267

In 2011, we recorded an impairment loss of approximately $800,000 
for an acquired intangible asset. We did not record any significant 
impairment losses in 2013 or 2012.

We amortize intangible assets using the straight-line method over 
their expected economic useful lives.

Based on acquisitions and divestitures completed through December 
31, 2013, we expect intangible amortization expense for 2014 and 
subsequent years to be as follows:

($000)

2014 $ 20,485
2015 19,659
2016 15,101
2017 10,565
2018 8,568

Our estimates of future amortization expense for intangible assets 
may be affected by additional acquisitions, divestitures, changes 
in the estimated average useful life, and currency translations.

7. Discontinued Operations

In October 2012, we sold Morningstar Investor Relations Services 
to UK-based Investis, a leading specialist in digital corporate com-
munications for public companies. In October 2012, we also sold 
the Morningstar Australasia trade publishing assets to Sterling 
Publishing Pty Ltd. We have not reclassified the operating results 
of these businesses to discontinued operations, nor have we reclas-
sified the related assets and liabilities to held for disposition, 
because these amounts are not significant to our consolidated state-
ments or segment disclosures.

The following table summarizes the amounts included in our 
Consolidated Statements of Income for discontinued operations for 
the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011:

($000)      2013  2012  2011

Gain on sales of businesses    $ — $ 6,193 $ —
Income tax expense     —  1,005  —

Earnings from discontinued     $ — $ 5,188 $ — 
operations, net of tax

8. Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

Our investments in unconsolidated entities consist primarily of  
the following:
          As of December 31

($000)        2013  2012

Investment in MJKK      $ 21,782 $ 20,540
Other equity method investments     6,166  6,288
Investments accounted for using the cost method   10,766  8,477

Total investments in unconsolidated entities   $ 38,714 $ 35,305
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Morningstar Japan K.K. Morningstar Japan K.K. (MJKK) develops 
and markets products and services customized for the Japanese 
market. MJKK’s shares are traded on the Osaka Stock Exchange, 

“Hercules Market,” using the ticker 4765. We account for our invest-
ment in MJKK using the equity method. The following table sum-
marizes our ownership percentage in MJKK and the market value 
of this investment based on MJKK’s publicly quoted share price:

As of December 31

          2013  2012

Morningstar’s approximate ownership of MJKK   34%  34%
Approximate market value of  
Morningstar’s ownership in MJKK: 
Japanese yen (¥000)      ¥9,824,068 ¥3,109,579
Equivalent U.S. dollars ($000)      $ 94,999  $ 36,227

Other Equity Method Investments. As of December 31, 2013 and 
2012, other equity method investments include our investments in 
Inquiry Financial Europe AB (Inquiry Financial) and YCharts, Inc. 
(YCharts). Inquiry Financial is a provider of sell-side consensus 
estimate data. Our ownership interest in Inquiry Financial was 
approximately 34% as of December 31, 2013 and 2012. YCharts is 
a technology company that provides stock research and analysis. 
Our ownership interest in YCharts was approximately 22% as of 
December 31, 2013 and 2012.

As of December 31, 2012, other equity-method investments also 
included our investment in Morningstar Sweden. Our ownership 
interest and profit-and-loss sharing interest in Morningstar Sweden 
was 24% at that date. In May 2013, we acquired the remaining 76% 
interest in Morningstar Sweden, increasing our ownership to 100%. 
See Note 6 for additional information concerning our acquisition of 
Morningstar Sweden.

We did not record any impairment losses on our equity method 
investments in 2013, 2012, or 2011.

Cost Method Investments. As of December 31, 2013 and December 
31, 2012, our cost method investments consist mainly of minority 
investments in HelloWallet LLC (HelloWallet) Pitchbook Data, Inc. 
(Pitchbook). HelloWallet is a provider of personalized financial guid-
ance to employees of Fortune 1000 companies. Pitchbook offers 
detailed data and information about private equity transactions, 
investors, companies, limited partners, and service providers.

We did not record any impairment losses on our cost method invest-
ments in 2013, 2012, or 2011.

9. Property, Equipment, and Capitalized Software

The following table shows our property, equipment, and capitalized 
software summarized by major category:

          As of December 31

($000)        2013  2012

Computer equipment      $ 47,830 $ 42,312
Capitalized software       50,360  39,643
Furniture and fixtures       23,259  22,804
Leasehold improvements       52,512  51,333
Telephone equipment       2,032  1,951
Construction in progress       35,159  13,489

Property, equipment, and capitalized software, at cost  211,152  171,532
Less accumulated depreciation      (106,166)  (87,510)

Property, equipment, and capitalized software, net  $ 104,986 $ 84,022

The following table shows the amount of capitalized software devel-
opment costs included in construction in progress:

          As of December 31

($000)        2013  2012

Capitalized software development costs     $ 11,345  $ 6,478 
not yet placed into service

The following table summarizes our depreciation expense:

($000)      2013  2012  2011

Depreciation expense    $ 24,239 $ 19,152 $ 15,646
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10. Operating Leases

The following table shows our minimum future rental commitments 
due in each of the next five years and thereafter for all non-cancel-
able operating leases, consisting primarily of leases for office space:

Minimum Future Rental Commitments       ($000)

2014         $ 18,987
2015          17,656
2016          16,918
2017          16,001
2018          13,908
Thereafter          42,592

Total         $ 126,062

The following table summarizes our rent expense including taxes, 
insurance, and other operating costs:

($000)      2013  2012  2011

Rent expense     $ 22,169 $ 20,736 $ 20,122

Deferred rent includes build-out and rent abatement allowances 
received, which are amortized over the remaining portion of  
the original term of the lease as a reduction in office lease  
expense. We include deferred rent, as appropriate, in “Accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities” and “Deferred rent, noncurrent” on 
our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

          As of December 31

($000)        2013  2012

Deferred rent       $ 26,157 $ 27,783

Liability for Vacant Office Space

We include our liability for vacant office space in “Accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities” and “Other long-term liabilities,” as appro-
priate, on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The following table 
shows the change in our liability for vacant office space from 
December 31, 2011 to December 31, 2013:

Liability for Vacant Office Space         ($000)

Balance as of December 31, 2011      $ 919
Reduction of liability for lease and other related payments   (774)

Balance as of December 31, 2012       145
Reduction of liability for lease and other related payments   (14)

Balance as of December 31, 2013      $ 131

11. Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Our shareholders approved the Morningstar 2011 Stock Incentive 
Plan (the 2011 Plan) on May 17, 2011. As of that date we stopped 
granting awards under the Morningstar 2004 Stock Incentive Plan 
(the 2004 Plan). The 2004 Plan amended and restated the Morningstar 
1993 Stock Option Plan, the Morningstar 2000 Stock Option Plan, 
and the Morningstar 2001 Stock Option Plan.

The 2011 Plan provides for a variety of stock-based awards, includ-
ing, among other things, stock options, restricted stock units, and 
restricted stock. We granted stock options, restricted stock units, 
and restricted stock under the 2004 Plan.

All of our employees and our non-employee directors are eligible 
for awards under the 2011 Plan.

Grants awarded under the 2011 Plan or the 2004 Plan that are for-
feited, canceled, settled, or otherwise terminated without a distri-
bution of shares, or shares withheld by us in connection with the 
exercise of options, will be available for awards under the 2011 Plan. 
Any shares subject to awards under the 2011 Plan, but not under  
the 2004 Plan, that are withheld by us in connection with the pay-
ment of any required income tax withholding will be available for 
awards under the 2011 Plan.

The following table summarizes the number of shares available for 
future grants under our 2011 Plan:
          As of December 31

(000)          2013

Shares available for future grants       4,501

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Awards

The following table summarizes our stock-based compensation 
expense and the related income tax benefit we recorded in the past 
three years:

($000)      2013  2012  2011

Restricted stock units    $ 14,163 $ 13,451 $ 12,765
Restricted stock      388  5,013  2,196
Stock options      492  441  342

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 15,043 $ 18,905 $ 15,303

Income tax benefit related to the   $ 4,027 $ 3,686 $ 3,535 
stock-based compensation expense
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The following table summarizes the amount of unrecognized  
stock-based compensation expense as of December 31, 2013  
and the expected number of months over which the expense will 
be recognized:

      Unrecognized  
      stock-based  Expected 
      compensation  amortization 
      expense ($000) period (months)

Restricted stock units    $ 31,306    33
Restricted stock      517    16
Stock options      585    16

Total unrecognized stock-based    $ 32,408    32 
compensation expense

In accordance with FASB ASC 718, Compensation—Stock 
Compensation, we estimate forfeitures of employee stock-based 
awards and recognize compensation cost only for those awards 
expected to vest. We adjust the stock-based compensation expense 
during the third quarter to reflect those awards that ultimately vested 
and update our estimate of the forfeiture rate that will be applied 
to awards not yet vested.

Restricted Stock Units

Restricted stock units represent the right to receive a share of 
Morningstar common stock when that unit vests. Restricted stock 
units granted to employees generally vest ratably over a four-year 
period. Restricted stock units granted to non-employee directors 
vest ratably over a three-year period. For restricted stock units 
granted through December 31, 2008, employees could elect to defer 
receipt of the Morningstar common stock issued upon vesting of 
the restricted stock unit.

We measure the fair value of our restricted stock units on the date 
of grant based on the closing market price of the underlying common 
stock on the day prior to grant. We amortize that value to stock-based 
compensation expense, net of estimated forfeitures, ratably over 
the vesting period.

The following table summarizes restricted stock unit activity during 
the past three years:

           Weighted 
           Average 
           Grant Date 
        Vested but   Value 
Restricted Stock Units (RSUs)   Unvested  Deferred  Total per RSU

RSUs Outstanding—   777,666  45,189  822,855 $ 47.14 
January 1, 2011
Granted    292,398  —  292,398  57.36
Dividend equivalents   2,673  —  2,673  48.57
Vested    (256,623)  —  (256,623)  48.28
Vested but deferred   (1,753)  1,753  —  —
Issued    —  (26,866)  (26,866)  46.69
Forfeited    (73,318)  —  (73,318)  47.59

RSUs Outstanding—   741,043  20,076  761,119  50.66 
December 31, 2011
Granted    341,282  —  341,282  56.26
Dividend equivalents   6,405  130  6,535  52.02
Vested    (270,695)  —  (270,695)  50.12
Vested but deferred   (892)  892  —  —
Issued    —  (2,316)  (2,316)  73.28
Forfeited    (89,998)  —  (89,998)  50.84

RSUs Outstanding—   727,145  18,782  745,927  53.37 
December 31, 2012 
Granted    287,848  —  287,848  72.04
Dividend equivalents   2,773  157  2,930  57.39
Vested    (278,549)  —  (278,549)  50.41
Issued    —  (2,257)  (2,257)  49.40
Forfeited    (59,215)  —  (59,215)  57.58

RSUs Outstanding—   680,002  16,682  696,684  62.02 
December 31, 2013

Restricted Stock

In conjunction with the Realpoint acquisition in May 2010, we issued 
199,174 shares of restricted stock to the selling employee-share-
holders under the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan. The restricted stock 
vests ratably over a five-year period from the acquisition date and 
may be subject to forfeiture if the holder terminates his or her 
employment during the vesting period.

Because of the terms of the restricted share agreements prepared 
in conjunction with the Realpoint acquisition, we account for the 
grant of restricted shares as stock-based compensation expense 
and not as part of the acquisition consideration.
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We measured the fair value of the restricted stock on the date of 
grant based on the closing market price of our common stock on 
the day prior to the grant. We amortize the fair value of $9,363,000 
to stock-based compensation expense over the vesting period. The 
stock-based compensation expense recorded in 2012 and 2011 includes 
approximately $3,238,000 and $396,000, respectively, of expense 
recognized upon the accelerated vesting of restricted stock. We 
have assumed that all of the remaining restricted stock will ultimately 
vest, and therefore we have not incorporated a forfeiture rate for 
purposes of determining the stock-based compensation expense.

Stock Options

Stock options granted to employees vest ratably over a four-year 
period. Grants to our non-employee directors vest ratably over a 
three-year period. All grants expire 10 years after the date of grant. 
Almost all of the outstanding options granted under the 2004 Stock 
Incentive Plan have a premium price feature in which the exercise 
price increases over the term of the option at a rate equal to the 
10-year Treasury bond yield as of the date of grant. Options granted 
under the 2011 Plan have an exercise price equal to the fair market 
value on the grant date.

In May 2011, we granted 86,106 stock options under the 2004 Stock 
Incentive Plan. In November 2011, we granted 6,095 stock options 
under the 2011 Plan. We estimated the fair value of the options on 
the grant date using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The 
weighted average fair value of options granted during 2011 was 
$23.81 per share, based on the following assumptions:

Assumptions for Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model

Expected life (years):         7.4
Volatility factor:          35.1%
Dividend yield:          0.35%
Interest rate:          2.87%

The following tables summarize stock option activity in the past 
three years for our various stock option grants. The first table includes 
activity for options granted at an exercise price below the fair value 
per share of our common stock on the grant date; the second table 
includes activity for all other option grants.

Stock-Option Activity

      2013  2012  2011

      Weighted  Weighted  Weighted 
      Average  Average  Average 
     Underlying Exercise Underlying Exercise Underlying Exercise 
     Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Options Granted At an Exercise Price Below  
the Fair Value Per Share on the Grant Date
Options outstanding—beginning of year      282,695 $ 20.55  398,859 $ 19.72  648,885 $ 18.91
Granted      —  —  —  —  —  —
Canceled      (250)  21.48  (650)  14.70  —  —
Exercised      (102,886)  21.09  (115,514)  20.19  (250,026)  19.25

Options outstanding—end of year      179,559 $ 21.47  282,695 $ 20.55  398,859  19.72

Options exercisable—end of year      179,559 $ 21.47  282,695 $ 20.55  398,859 $ 19.72

All Other Option Grants,  
Excluding Activity Shown Above
Options outstanding—beginning of year      391,784 $ 28.98  818,552 $ 22.76  1,207,540 $ 17.09
Granted      —  —  —  —  92,201  57.42
Canceled      (1,352)  16.19  (22,330)  39.75  (1,960)  16.04
Exercised      (136,460)  16.84  (404,438)  16.60  (479,229)  16.17

Options outstanding—end of year      253,972 $ 36.48  391,784 $ 28.98  818,552  22.76

Options exercisable—end of year      219,449 $ 33.18  337,684 $ 24.42  726,351 $ 18.36
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The following table summarizes the total intrinsic value (difference 
between the market value of our stock on the date of exercise and 
the exercise price of the option) of options exercised:

($000) 2013 2012 2011

Intrinsic value of options exercised $ 12,801 $ 22,526 $ 29,899

The table below shows additional information for options outstand-
ing and exercisable as of December 31, 2013:

        Options Outstanding

      Weighted 
      Average Weighted Aggregate 
      Remaining Average Intrinsic 
     Number of Contractual Exercise Value 
Range of Exercise Prices  Options Life (years) Price ($000)

$14.70    285  0.93 $ 14.70 $ 18
$21.40 - $48.90    361,571  1.17  24.88  19,238
$57.28 - $59.35    71,675  7.52  57.46  1,479

$14.70 - $59.35    433,531  2.22 $ 30.26 $ 20,735

Vested or Expected to Vest
$14.70 - $59.35    433,531  2.22 $ 30.26 $ 20,735

        Options Exercisable

      Weighted 
      Average Weighted Aggregate 
      Remaining Average Intrinsic 
     Exercisable Contractual Exercise Value 
Range of Exercise Prices  Shares Life (years) Price ($000)

$14.70    285  0.93 $ 14.70 $ 18
$21.40 - $48.90    361,571  1.17  24.88  19,238
$57.28 - $59.35    37,152  7.52  57.45  710

$14.70 - $59.35    399,008  1.76 $ 27.91 $ 19,966

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total 
pretax intrinsic value all option holders would have received if  
they had exercised all outstanding options on December 31, 2013. 
The intrinsic value is based on our closing stock price of $78.09  
on that date.

Excess Tax Benefits Related to Stock-Based Compensation

FASB ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation, requires that 
we classify the cash flows that result from excess tax benefits as 
financing cash flows. Excess tax benefits correspond to the portion 
of the tax deduction taken on our income tax return that exceeds 
the amount of tax benefit related to the compensation cost recog-
nized in our Statement of Income. The following table summarizes 
our excess tax benefits for the past three years:

($000)      2013  2012  2011

Excess tax benefits related to    $ 5,898 $ 7,210 $ 9,525 
stock-based compensation

12. Defined Contribution Plan

We sponsor a defined contribution 401(k) plan, which allows our 
U.S.-based employees to voluntarily contribute pre-tax dollars up 
to a maximum amount allowable by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service. 
In 2013, 2012, and 2011, we made matching contributions to our 
401(k) plan in the United States in an amount equal to 75 cents for 
every dollar of an employee’s contribution, up to a maximum of 7% 
of the employee’s compensation in the pay period.

The following table summarizes our matching contributions:

($000)      2013  2012  2011

401(k) matching contributions   $ 6,879 $ 6,642 $ 5,601

13. Non-Operating Income

The following table presents the components of our net non-oper-
ating income:

($000)      2013  2012  2011

Interest income     $ 2,940 $ 5,464 $ 3,679
Interest expense      (228)  (311)  (1,318)
Gain on sale of investments, net   4,207  538  260
Holding gain upon acquisition     3,635  —  — 
of additional ownership of  
equity-method investments
Other expense, net      (3,198)  (2,734)  (912)

Non-operating income, net    $ 7,356 $ 2,957 $ 1,709
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Interest income primarily reflects interest from our investment port-
folio. Interest income in 2012 included approximately $700,000 of 
interest income related to a $1,000,000 of business tax refund for 
prior years recorded in 2012. In 2011, interest expense included 
approximately $900,000 related to $1,400,000 of business tax 
expense for prior years recorded in 2011.

Other expense, net includes foreign currency exchange gains and 
losses arising from the ordinary course of business related to our 
U.S. and non-U.S. operations and royalty income from MJKK. In 
2012, other expense, net included the loss on the sale of our invest-
ment in Bundle Corporation of $2,034,000.

14. Income Taxes

Income Tax Expense and Effective Tax Rate

The following table shows our income tax expense and our effective 
tax rate for the years ending December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011:

($000)      2013  2012  2011

Income before income taxes    $ 178,010 $ 153,625 $ 140,124 
and equity in net income  
of unconsolidated entities
Equity in net income of      1,428  2,027  1,848 
unconsolidated entities
Net (income) loss attributable     122  117  43 
to the noncontrolling interest

Total     $ 179,560 $ 155,769 $ 142,015

Income tax expense    $ 56,031 $ 52,878 $ 43,658
Effective tax rate      31.2%  33.9%  30.7%

The following table reconciles our income tax expense at the U.S. 
federal income tax rate of 35% to income tax expense as recorded:

Income tax expense consists of the following:

($000)      2013  2012  2011

Current tax expense:
U.S.
 Federal     $ 42,808 $ 38,821 $ 41,520
 State      3,882  1,997  1,808
Non-U.S.      10,456  5,719  5,756

Current tax expense     57,146  46,537  49,084

Deferred tax expense (benefit):
U.S.
 Federal      2,630  6,287  (1,011)
 State      814  334  (242)
Non-U.S.      (4,559)  (280)  (4,173)

Deferred tax expense (benefit), net   (1,115)  6,341  (5,426)

Income tax expense    $ 56,031 $ 52,878 $ 43,658

The following table provides our income before income taxes and 
equity in net income of unconsolidated entities, generated by our 
U.S. and non-U.S. operations:

($000) 2013 2012 2011

U.S. $ 144,065 $ 128,920 $ 123,390
Non-U.S. 33,945 24,705 16,734

Income before income taxes $ 178,010 $ 153,625 $ 140,124
and equity in net income 
of unconsolidated entities

      2013  2012  2011

($000, except percentages)   Amount % Amount % Amount %

Income tax expense at U.S. federal rate     $ 62,845  35.0% $ 54,519  35.0% $ 49,705  35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit     3,029  1.7  1,510  1.0  1,376  1.0
Stock-based compensation activity      254  0.1  516  0.3  440  0.3
Non-U.S. withholding taxes, net of federal income tax effect,     310  0.2  307  0.2  346  0.2 
and foreign tax credits
Net change in valuation allowance related to non-U.S.      (1,842)  (1.0)  (630)  (0.4)  394  0.3 
deferred tax assets, primarily net operating losses
Difference between U.S. federal statutory and foreign tax rates   (2,513)  (1.4)  (2,777)  (1.8)  (2,393)  (1.7)
Change in unrecognized tax benefits      (211)  (0.1)  967  0.6  3,126  2.2
Credits and incentives      (4,374)  (2.5)  (1,494)  (1.0)  (7,734)  (5.4)
Recognition of deferred tax assets      (1,448)  (0.8)  —  —  (1,778)  (1.3)
Other—net      (19)  —  (40)  —  176  0.1

Total income tax expense     $ 56,031  31.2% $ 52,878  33.9% $ 43,658  30.7%
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Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

We recognize deferred income taxes for the temporary differences 
between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial 
statement purposes and their tax basis. The tax effects of the tem-
porary differences that give rise to the deferred income tax assets 
and liabilities are shown in the table above.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented in our 
Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows:

As of December 31

($000)        2013  2012

Deferred tax asset, net - current     $ 3,892 $ 3,741
Deferred tax liability, net - non-current     (23,755)  (21,583)

Net deferred tax liability      $ (19,863) $ (17,842)

The following table summarizes our U.S. net operating loss (NOL) 
carryforwards:

          As of December 31

($000)        2013  2012

Expiration Date      12/31/2023 12/31/2023
U.S. federal NOLs subject to expiration dates $ 2,136 $ 2,362 

Our U.S. federal NOL carryforward as of December 31, 2013 of 
$2,136,000 is subject to limitations on the use of the NOL imposed 
by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code, and therefore is limited to 
approximately $225,000 per year.

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

         As of December 31

($000)        2013 2012

Deferred tax assets:
Stock-based compensation expense             $ 3,479 $ 4,019
Accrued liabilities              9,805  8,402
Net operating loss carryforwards - U.S. federal and state             851  930
Net operating loss carryforwards - Non-U.S.              9,229  12,386
Research and development              —  246
Deferred royalty revenue              366  383
Allowance for doubtful accounts              758  515
Deferred rent              8,673  9,031
Other               —  846

Total deferred tax assets              33,161  36,758

Deferred tax liabilities: 
Acquired intangible assets              (12,967)  (14,535)
Property, equipment, and capitalized software              (15,525)  (14,615)
Unrealized exchange gains, net              (395)  (444)
Prepaid expenses              (4,299)  (3,694)
Investments in unconsolidated entities              (12,009)  (9,905)
Other               (373)  —

Total deferred tax liabilities              (45,568)  (43,193)

Net deferred tax asset (liability) before valuation allowance            (12,407)  (6,435)
Valuation allowance              (7,456)  (11,407)

Net deferred tax liability             $ (19,863) $ (17,842)
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The following table summarizes our NOL carryforwards for our  
non-U.S. operations:

          As of December 31

($000)        2013  2012

Non-U.S. NOLs subject to expiration dates $ 5,314 $ 6,064
from 2014 through 2032
Non-U.S. NOLs with no expiration date 40,054 44,504

Total $ 45,368 $ 50,568

Non-U.S. NOLs not subject to valuation allowances  $ 8,759 $ 4,031

The decrease in non-U.S. NOL carryforwards as of December 31, 
2013 compared with 2013 primarily reflects the utilization of NOL 
carryforwards in our non-U.S. operations.

We have not provided federal and state income taxes on accumulated 
undistributed earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries aggregating 
approximately $112,600,000 as of December 31, 2013, because these 
earnings have been permanently reinvested. It is not practicable to 
determine the amount of the unrecognized deferred tax liability 
related to the undistributed earnings.

In assessing the realizability of our deferred tax assets, we consider 
whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the 
deferred tax assets will not be realized. We have recorded a valu-
ation allowance against all but approximately $8,759,000 of the 
non-U.S. NOLs, reflecting the likelihood that the benefit of these 
NOLs will not be realized.

Uncertain Tax Positions

We conduct business globally and as a result, we file income tax 
returns in U.S. federal, state, local, and foreign jurisdictions. In the 
normal course of business we are subject to examination by tax 
authorities throughout the world. The open tax years for our U.S. 
Federal tax returns and most state tax returns include the years 
2008 to the present. In non-U.S. jurisdictions, the statute of limita-
tions generally extends to years prior to 2005.

We are currently under audit by federal, state and local tax author-
ities in the United States as well as tax authorities in certain non-U.S. 
jurisdictions. It is likely that the examination phase of some of these 
U.S. federal, state, local, and non-U.S. audits will conclude in 2014. 
It is not possible to estimate the effect of current audits on previ-
ously recorded unrecognized tax benefits.

As of December 31, 2013, our Consolidated Balance Sheet included 
a current liability of $6,211,000 and a non-current liability of 
$6,012,000 for unrecognized tax benefits. These amounts include 
interest and penalties, less any associated tax benefits.

The table below reconciles the beginning and ending amount of the 
gross unrecognized tax benefits as follows:

($000)        2013  2012

Gross unrecognized tax benefits—    $ 12,699 $ 12,189 
beginning of the year
Increases as a result of tax positions      791  445 
taken during a prior-year period 
Decreases as a result of tax positions      (146)  (1,153) 
taken during a prior-year period
Increases as a result of tax positions      2,887  2,008 
taken during the current period 
Decreases relating to settlements      (2,779)  (299) 
with tax authorities
Reductions as a result of lapse of      (494)  (491) 
the applicable statute of limitations

Gross unrecognized tax benefits—end of the year  $ 12,958 $ 12,699

In 2013, we recorded a net increase of $3,532,000 of gross unrec-
ognized tax benefits before settlements and lapses of statutes  
of limitations, of which $3,227,000 increased our income tax  
expense by $2,690,000. In addition, we reduced our unrecognized 
tax benefits by $3,275,000 for settlements and lapses of statutes 
of limitations, of which $2,785,000 decreased our income tax 
expense by $2,301,000.

As of December 31, 2013, we had $12,958,000 of gross unrecognized 
tax benefits, of which $10,557,000, if recognized, would reduce  
our effective income tax rate and decrease our income tax expense 
by $9,262,000.

We record interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions 
as part of our income tax expense. The following table summarizes 
our gross liability for interest and penalties:

          As of December 31

($000)        2013  2012

Liabilities for interest and penalties    $ 1,865 $ 2,232

We recorded the decrease in the liability, net of any tax benefits, 
to income tax expense in our Consolidated Statement of Income  
in 2013.
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15. Contingencies

Life’s Good S.T.A.B.L. Hedge Fund

In September 2011, three individual investors in Life’s Good S.T.A.B.L. 
Mortgage hedge fund (LG), Marta Klass, Gregory Martin, and Richard 
Roellig, filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the 
Eastern District of Pennsylvania against LG, its principal Robert 
Stinson, and several other parties, including Morningstar, Inc. (the 
Klass Matter). The plaintiffs claim that Morningstar committed fraud 
and aided and abetted the other defendants’ breach of fiduciary 
duty through the 5-star rating LG obtained from Morningstar. The 
plaintiffs seek unspecified damages. Hedge fund managers self-
report their performance data to Morningstar. More than a year 
before the Klass Matter, in June 2010, the SEC filed suit against LG 
and other entities claiming they were part of a Ponzi scheme oper-
ated by Stinson. As a result, LG and the other entities were placed 
in court-appointed receivership. Morningstar was not part of the 
SEC suit or receivership. Since that time, the Receiver, as part of 
his duties, has been investigating whether to assert claims against 
third parties. Morningstar is aware of 14 lawsuits filed by the 
Receiver seeking to recover money for the fund.

In November 2011, Morningstar filed a motion to dismiss the Klass 
Matter. On behalf of the entities in receivership, the Receiver filed 
a motion to stay the proceedings because the Receivership Order 
does not permit suits against the entities in receivership without 
court permission. The court granted the Receiver’s motion and stayed 
the Klass Matter. In April 2012, the Receiver filed a complaint against 
Morningstar, in which the Receiver claims that Morningstar is liable 
for contribution and aiding and abetting Stinson’s breach of fiduciary 
duty and fraud through the 5-star rating LG obtained from Morningstar. 
The same day the Receiver filed his complaint, Morningstar sought 
leave from the court to file a counter suit against Stinson and two 
of his entities-Keystone State Capital Corporation and LG for, among 
other things, fraud, misrepresentation, and breach of user agree-
ments. In June 2012, the court denied Morningstar’s motion for  
leave to file suit. The court took no position on the merits of 
Morningstar’s claims, and did not preclude us from renewing our 
motion to file a complaint at a later time, but deferred to the 
Receiver’s request not to subject the receivership estate to additional 
litigation at this early point in the receivership. A bench trial related 
to the Receiver’s claims against Morningstar was held between 
January 13 and January 28, 2014. At trial, the Receiver claimed that 
Morningstar is liable under a contribution theory for all or part of a 
$14.5 million disgorgement judgment that the SEC obtained against 
the entities and individuals in receivership. Morningstar contested  

liability and damages at trial and believes it is not liable for any 
amount. The parties will file post-trial proposed findings of fact and 
conclusions of law in early March 2014. It is not known when the 
court will issue its decision.

We believe the allegations against Morningstar by the Klass plain-
tiffs and the Receiver have no legal or factual basis and we plan to 
continue to vigorously contest the claims. We also intend to refile 
our affirmative claims against Stinson, Keystone, and LG at a later 
time consistent with the court’s order. We cannot predict the outcome 
of the proceedings.

We have not provided an estimate of loss or range of loss in connection 
with this matter because no such estimate can reasonably be made.

Business Logic Holding Corporation

In November 2009, Business Logic Holding Corporation filed a com-
plaint in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois against Ibbotson 
Associates, Inc. and Morningstar, Inc. relating to Ibbotson’s prior 
commercial relationship with Business Logic. Business Logic is 
alleging breach of contract and trade secret misappropriation in 
connection with Ibbotson’s development of a proprietary web-service 
software and user interface that connects plan participant data with 
the Ibbotson Wealth Forecasting Engine. Ibbotson and Morningstar 
answered the complaint, and Ibbotson asserted a counterclaim 
against Business Logic alleging trade secret misappropriation and 
breach of contract, also seeking damages and injunctive relief. 
Business Logic filed a motion for summary judgment on its breach 
of contract claim, which was denied on October 1, 2013.

Business Logic’s complaint seeks, among other things, compensatory 
damages, punitive damages, attorneys’ fees, and injunctive relief. 
With regard to compensatory damages, based on the analysis of 
Ibbotson’s retained damages expert (who has assumed, solely for 
purposes of his analysis, that Business Logic will prevail with regard 
to the issue of liability), and recognizing the uncertainty inherent in 
litigation and our intention to continue to vigorously defend the 
claims made by Business Logic, our best estimate of the range of 
possible loss is between $0 and $5.4 million, excluding punitive 
damages or attorneys’ fees, both of which are recoverable in certain 
circumstances under the Illinois Trade Secrets Act. Business Logic’s 
retained damages expert (who has also assumed for purposes of 
her estimate that Business Logic will prevail with regard to the 
issue of liability) has, however, estimated compensatory damages 
of $84 million, excluding punitive damages or attorneys’ fees.  
We dispute the conclusions reached and the methods employed by 
Business Logic’s expert.
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With regard to Business Logic’s claim for injunctive relief, no reason-
able estimate of loss or range of loss is possible.

Morningstar and Ibbotson continue to vigorously contest all the 
claims against them in this matter. We cannot, however, predict the 
outcome of the proceeding.

We record accrued liabilities for litigation and regulatory matters 
when those matters represent loss contingencies that are both prob-
able and estimable. In such cases, there may be an exposure to loss 
in excess of any amounts accrued. When a loss contingency is not 
both probable and estimable, we do not establish an accrued liabil-
ity. As a litigation or regulatory matter develops, we evaluate on 
an ongoing basis whether such matter presents a loss contingency 
that is probable and estimable.

In addition to these proceedings, we are involved in legal proceed-
ings and litigation that have arisen in the normal course of our 
business. Although the outcome of a particular proceeding can never 
be predicted, we do not believe that the result of any of these other 
matters will have a material adverse effect on our business, operat-
ing results, or financial position.

16. Share Repurchase Program

In September 2010, the board of directors approved a share repur-
chase program that authorizes the repurchase shares of our  
outstanding common stock. We may repurchase shares from  
time to time at prevailing market prices on the open market or  
in private transactions in amounts that we deem appropriate.  
As of December 31, 2013, we had repurchased a total of 7,068,006  
shares for $449,784,000 under this authorization. As of February  
21, 2014, we had repurchased a total of approximately 7,350,000 
shares, and approximately $230,000,000 remained available  
for future repurchases.

The following table summarizes the board approvals for increases 
to the program and the total available under the program:

Date      Increase   Total program

September 2010    $ 100 million $ 100 million
December 2011    $ 200 million $ 300 million
December 2012    $ 200 million $ 500 million
December 2013    $ 200 million $ 700 million

17. Subsequent Events

In February 2014, our board of directors declared a quarterly dividend 
of 17 cents per share. The dividend is payable on April 30, 2014 to 
shareholders of record as of April 11, 2014.

18. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013-05, Foreign Currency 
Matters (Topic 830): Parent’s Accounting for the Cumulative 
Translation Adjustment upon Derecognition of Certain Subsidiaries 
or Groups of Assets within a Foreign Entity or an Investment in a 
Foreign Entity. ASU No. 2013-05 specifies that when a reporting 
entity (parent) ceases to have a controlling financial interest in a 
subsidiary or group of assets that is a business within a foreign 
entity, the parent is required to apply the guidance in Subtopic 
830-30 to release any related cumulative translation adjustment 
into net income. Accordingly, the cumulative translation adjustment 
should be released into net income only if the sale or transfer results 
in the complete or substantially complete liquidation of the foreign 
entity in which the subsidiary or group of assets had resided. 
Additionally, the amendments in this update clarify that the sale  
of an investment in a foreign entity includes both (1) events that 
result in the loss of a controlling financial interest in a foreign entity 
and (2) events that results in an acquirer obtaining control of an 
acquire in which it held an equity interest immediately before the 
acquisition date (sometimes referred to as a step acquisition). The 
currency translation adjustment should be released into net income 
upon the occurrence of those events. For Morningstar, ASU  
No. 2013-05 is effective prospectively for events occurring on or 
after January 1, 2014.

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013-11, Presentation of an 
Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, 
a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists (a consensus 
of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force). This update requires an 
entity to present an unrecognized tax benefit as a reduction of a 
deferred tax asset for an net operating loss (NOL) carryforward, or 
similar tax loss or tax credit carryforward, rather than as a liability 
when (1) the uncertain tax position would reduce the NOL or other 
carryforward under the tax law of the applicable jurisdiction and 
(2) the entity intends to use the deferred tax asset for that purpose. 
The update does not require new recurring disclosures. For Morningstar, 
ASU No. 2013-11 is effective prospectively as of January 1, 2014.

We do not expect the provisions of ASU No. 2013-05 and  
ASU No. 2013-11 to have a material impact on our consolidated 
financial statements.
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19. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

      2012    2013

(in thousands except per share amounts) Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Revenue $ 160,759 $ 165,968 $ 160,952 $ 170,609 $ 168,856 $ 175,428 $ 173,482 $ 180,500
Total operating expense (1)  130,360  124,832  121,088  131,340  128,296  131,844  128,869  138,603

Operating income  30,399  41,136  39,864  39,269  40,560  43,584  44,613  41,897
Non-operating income (expense), net  659  995  1,880  (577)  945  3,111  771  2,529

Income before income taxes   31,058  42,131  41,744  38,692  41,505  46,695  45,384  44,426 
 and equity in net income of 
 unconsolidated entities
Income tax expense  11,511  14,744  15,186  11,437  12,427  15,955  14,265  13,384
Equity in net income (loss) of   566  497  478  486  497  360  315  256
 unconsolidated entities

Consolidated net income from   20,113  27,884  27,036  27,741  29,575  31,100  31,434  31,298
 continuing operations
Gain on sale of discontinued   —  —  —  5,188  —  —  —  — 
 operations, net of tax

Consolidated net income  20,113  27,884  27,036  32,929  29,575  31,100  31,434  31,298
Net (income) loss attributable to   24  4  34  55  43  21  29  29
 the noncontrolling interests

Net income attributable to Morningstar, Inc. $ 20,137 $ 27,888 $ 27,070 $ 32,984 $ 29,618 $ 31,121 $ 31,463 $ 31,327

Net income per share attributable  
 to Morningstar, Inc.        
 Basic:        
  Continuing operations $ 0.40 $ 0.57 $ 0.56 $ 0.59 $ 0.64 $ 0.67 $ 0.68 $ 0.68
  Discontinued operations  —  —  —  0.11  —  —  —  —

   $ 0.40 $ 0.57 $ 0.56 $ 0.70 $ 0.64 $ 0.67 $ 0.68 $ 0.68

 Diluted:        
  Continuing operations $ 0.40 $ 0.56 $ 0.56 $ 0.58 $ 0.63 $ 0.66 $ 0.68 $ 0.68
  Discontinued operations  —  —  —  0.11  —  —  —  —

   $ 0.40 $ 0.56 $ 0.56 $ 0.69 $ 0.63 $ 0.66 $ 0.68 $ 0.68

Dividends per common share:        
 Dividends declared per common share $ 0.10 $ 0.10 $ 0.10 $ 0.125 $ 0.125 $ 0.125 $ — $ 0.295
 Dividends paid per common share $ 0.10 $ 0.10 $ 0.10 $ 0.225 $ — $ 0.125 $ 0.125 $ 0.125

Weighted average shares outstanding:        
 Basic  49,938  49,195  47,975  46,913  46,406  46,400  46,080  45,756
 Diluted  50,758  49,856  48,481  47,511  46,814  46,853  46,519  46,211

(1) Includes stock-based compensation $ 3,866 $ 3,734 $ 3,994 $ 7,311 $ 3,783 $ 3,954 $ 3,416 $ 3,890 
 expense of:
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements  
with Accountants on Accounting  
and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to reasonably 
assure that information required to be disclosed in the reports filed 
or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, sum-
marized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s 
rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, with-
out limitation, controls and procedures designed to reasonably assure 
that information required to be disclosed in the reports filed under 
the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, 
including the chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as 
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the 
participation of our management, including our chief executive 
officer and chief financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design 
and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined 
in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as of December 31, 2013. Based on that evaluation, our chief 
executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that our dis-
closure controls and procedures are effective to provide reasonable 
assurance that information required to be disclosed in the reports 
we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, 
summarized, and reported as and when required and is accumulated 
and communicated to management, including the chief executive 
officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely 
decisions regarding required disclosure.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control  
Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our internal con-
trol over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reason-
able assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the 
participation of our management, including our chief executive 
officer and chief financial officer, of the effectiveness of our internal 
control over financial reporting based on the framework set forth 
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Based on that evaluation, our management concluded that our inter-
nal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 
31, 2013. KPMG LLP, our independent registered public accounting 
firm, has issued its report on the effectiveness of our internal con-
trol over financial reporting, which is included in Part II, Item 8 of 
this Form 10-K under the caption “Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data” and incorporated herein by reference.

(c) Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal controls over financial report-
ing during our fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2013 that have 
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our 
internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

There is no information that was required to be disclosed in a report 
on Form 8-K during the fourth quarter of the year covered by this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K that was not reported.
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Part III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers,  
and Corporate Governance

The information contained under the headings Proposal 1—Election 
of Directors, Board of Directors and Corporate Governance—
Independent Directors, Board of Directors and Corporate 
Governance—Board Committees and Charters, and Section 16(a) 
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance in the definitive proxy 
statement for our 2014 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the Proxy 
Statement) and the information contained under the heading 
Executive Officers in Part I of this report is incorporated herein by 
reference in response to this item.

We have adopted a code of ethics, which is posted in the Investor 
Relations section of our website at http://corporate.morningstar.com. 
We intend to include on our website any amendments to, or waivers 
from, a provision of the code of ethics that apply to our principal 
executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting 
officer, or controller that relates to any element of the code of  
ethics definition contained in Item 406(b) of SEC Regulation S-K. 
Shareholders may request a free copy of these documents by send-
ing an e-mail to investors@morningstar.com.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information contained under the headings Board of Directors 
and Corporate Governance—Directors’ Compensation, Compensation 
Discussion and Analysis, Compensation Committee Report, 
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation, and 
Executive Compensation in the Proxy Statement is incorporated 
herein by reference in response to this item.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain  
Beneficial Owners and Management and  
Related Stockholder Matters

The information contained under the headings Security Ownership 
of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Equity 
Compensation Plan Information in the Proxy Statement is incorpo-
rated herein by reference in response to this item.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related 
Transactions, and Director Independence

The information contained under the headings Certain Relationships 
and Related Party Transactions and Board of Directors and Corporate 
Governance—Independent Directors in the Proxy Statement is 
incorporated herein by reference in response to this item.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information contained under the headings Audit Committee 
Report and Principal Accounting Firm Fees in the Proxy Statement 
is incorporated herein by reference in response to this item.

Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial  
Statement Schedules

(a)

1. Consolidated Financial Statements

The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 
10-K under Item 8—Financial Statements and Supplementary Data:

Report of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Financial Statements:
  Consolidated Statements of Income—Years ended  

December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011

  Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income— 
Years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011

 Consolidated Balance Sheets—December 31, 2013 and 2012

  Consolidated Statements of Equity—Years ended  
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011

  Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows—Years ended 
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011

 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. Financial Statement Schedules

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The report of KPMG LLP dated February 28, 2014 concerning the 
Financial Statement Schedule II, Morningstar, Inc., and subsidiaries 
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts, is included at the beginning of 
Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the years ended 
December 31, 2013, December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011.

The following financial statement schedule is filed as part of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Schedule II: Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules have been omitted as they are not required, not 
applicable, or the required information is otherwise included.

       Additions  
      Charged (Deductions)   
     Balance at (Credited) to Including Balance 
     Beginning Costs & Currency at End 
($000)   of Year Expenses Translation of Year

Allowance for doubtful accounts:   
Year ended December 31,   
2013   $ 569 $ 825 $ (305) $ 1,089
2012    835  1,016  (1,282)  569
2011    1,056  1,237  (1,458)  835

3. Exhibits
Exhibit Description

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Morningstar 
are incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Registration 
Statement on Form S-1, as amended, Registration No. 333-
115209 (the Registration Statement).

3.2 By-laws of Morningstar, as in effect on July 28, 2006, are 
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our Current Report 
on Form 8-K that we filed with the SEC on July 31, 2006.

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate is incorporated by  
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registration Statement.

10.1* Form of Indemnification Agreement is incorporated by refer-
ence to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registration Statement.

10.2*† Morningstar Incentive Plan, as amended and restated  
effective January 1, 2014.

10.3* Morningstar 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and 
restated effective as of July 24, 2009, is incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 
10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2009.

10.4* Morningstar 2011 Stock Incentive Plan is incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K 
that we filed with the SEC on May 18, 2011.

10.5* Form of Morningstar 2004 Stock Incentive Plan Stock  
Option Agreement is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.5 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2005.

10.6* Form of Morningstar 2004 Stock Incentive Plan Restricted 
Stock Unit Award Agreement for awards made prior to 
November 15, 2007 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter 
ended March 31, 2006 (the March 2006 10-Q).

10.7* Form of Morningstar 2004 Stock Incentive Plan Restricted 
Stock Unit Award Agreement for awards made on and after 
November 15, 2007 and prior to January 1, 2009 is incorpo-
rated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to our Annual Report Form 
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 (the 2007 10-K).

10.8* Form of Morningstar 2004 Stock Incentive Plan Restricted 
Stock Unit Award Agreement for awards made on and after 
January 1, 2009 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 
to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2008 (the 2008 10-K).

10.9* Form of Morningstar 2004 Stock Incentive Plan Stock  
Option Agreement for awards made on May 15, 2011 is 
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2011 
(the June 2011 10-Q).
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10.10* Form of Morningstar 2004 Stock Incentive Plan Director  
Stock Option Agreement for awards made on May 15,  
2011 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the June 
2011 10-Q.

10.11* Form of Morningstar 2004 Stock Incentive Plan Deferral 
Election Form is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 
to the March 2006 10-Q.

10.12* Form of Morningstar 2011 Stock Incentive Plan Restricted 
Stock Unit Award Agreement for awards made prior to  
May 15, 2013 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to 
our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2011 (the September 2011 10-Q).

10.13* Form of Morningstar 2011 Stock Incentive Plan Director 
Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for awards made 
prior to May 15, 2013 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.1 to the September 2011 10-Q.

10.14* Form of Morningstar 2011 Stock Incentive Plan Stock Option 
Agreement is incorporate by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to 
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 
31, 2011 (the 2011 10-K)

10.15* Form of Morningstar 2011 Stock Incentive Plan Director Stock 
Option Agreement is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.19 to the 2011 10-K.

10.16* Form of Morningstar 2011 Stock Incentive Plan Restricted 
Stock Award Agreement for awards made on and after May 
15, 2013 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 
30, 2013 (the June 2013 10-Q).

10.17* Form of Morningstar 2011 Stock Incentive Plan Director 
Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for awards made 
on and after May 15, 2013 is incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.2 to the June 2013 10-Q.

10.18* Separation Agreement dated as of January 27, 2011 between 
Morningstar and Tao Huang is incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K that we filed 
with the SEC on January 28, 2011.

10.19*† Letter Agreement dated as of January 27, 2014 between 
Morningstar and Scott Cooley.

21.1† Subsidiaries of Morningstar.
23.1† Consent of KPMG LLP.
31.1† Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 

13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended.

31.2† Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 
13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended.

32.1† Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2† Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

101† The following financial information from Morningstar Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, 
filed with the SEC on February 28, 2014, formatted in XBRL: 
(i) Consolidated Statements of Income, (ii) Consolidated 
Statements of Comprehensive Income, (iii) Consolidated 
Balance Sheets, (iv) Consolidated Statement of Equity, (v) 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and (vi) the Notes 
to Consolidated Financial Statements.

* Management contract with a director or executive officer or a compensatory plan or 
arrangement in which directors or executive officers are eligible to participate.

 †  Filed herewith.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to 
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized on February 28, 2014.

MORNINGSTAR, INC.
By: /s/ Joe Mansueto

Joe Mansueto
Title: Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf 
of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Joe Mansueto Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive February 28, 2014 
Joe Mansueto Officer (principal executive officer)

/s/ Stéphane Biehler Chief Financial Officer (principal February 28, 2014 
Stéphane Biehler accounting and financial officer)

/s/ Donald J. Phillips II Director February 28, 2014 
Donald J. Phillips II

/s/ Cheryl Francis Director February 28, 2014 
Cheryl Francis

/s/ Steven Kaplan Director February 28, 2014 
Steven Kaplan

/s/ Gail Landis Director February 28, 2014 
Gail Landis

/s/ Bill Lyons Director February 28, 2014 
Bill Lyons

/s/ Jack Noonan Director February 28, 2014 
Jack Noonan

/s/ Paul Sturm Director February 28, 2014 
Paul Sturm

/s/ Hugh Zentmyer Director February 28, 2014 
Hugh Zentmyer
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Stock Price Performance Graph

The graph below shows a comparison of cumulative total return for 
our common stock, the Morningstar U.S. Market Index, and a group 
of peer companies, which are listed below the graph. The graph 
assumes an investment of $100 beginning on January 1, 2009, in our

common stock, the Morningstar U.S. Market Index, and the peer 
group, including reinvestment of dividends. The returns shown  
are based on historical results and are not intended to suggest 
future performance.

Dec. 31

$100.00
$100.00
$100.00

Dec. 31

$136.17
$128.45
$128.26

Dec. 31

$149.66
$150.02
$152.29

Dec. 31

$223.74
$235.89
$248.38

20132009

Dec. 31

$168.05
$152.40
$139.58

2010

Dec. 31

$179.16
$177.19
$170.47

2011 20122008

100

150

50

200

250

$300

Morningstar, Inc.
Morningstar U.S. Market Index  
Peer Group

(1) Our peer group consists of the following companies: Advent Software, Inc., FactSet Research Systems Inc., Financial Engines, McGraw Hill Financial, Moody’s Corporation, MSCI,  
SEI Investments Company, Thomson Reuters, and Value Line, Inc. We added Financial Engines to the peer group with share price data beginning in March 2010.
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Corporate Headquarters
Morningstar, Inc., 22 West Washington Street, Chicago,  
Illinois 60602, +1 312 696-6000

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Computershare Investor Services LLC, 2 North LaSalle Street, 
Chicago, Illinois 60602, +1 866 303-0659 (toll free)

Ethics Hotline
Morningstar has established a confidential Ethics Hotline  
that anyone may use to report complaints or concerns about  
ethics violations, including accounting irregularities,  
financial misstatements, problems with internal accounting  
controls, or non-compliance with external rules and regulations.

The Morningstar Ethics Hotline is operated by Global  
Compliance, an independent company that is not affiliated 
with Morningstar. The hotline is available 24 hours a day,  
seven days a week.

Anyone may make a confidential, anonymous report by calling  
the hotline toll free at: +1 800 555-8316.

Annual Meeting
Morningstar’s annual meeting of shareholders will be held at  
9 a.m. on Tuesday, May 13, 2014 at our corporate headquarters,  
22 West Washington Street, Chicago, Illinois 60602.

Investor Questions
We encourage all interested parties—including securities  
analysts, potential shareholders, and others—to submit questions  
to us in writing. We publish responses to these questions on our 
website and in Form 8-Ks furnished to the SEC, generally on the first 
Friday of every month. If you have a question about our business, 
please send it to investors@morningstar.com.

 Board of Directors

1p  Cheryl Francis 
Co-Chairman, Corporate  
Leadership Center

ip  Steve Kaplan 
Neubauer Family Professor  
of Entrepreneurship and Finance, 
University of Chicago 
Booth School of Business

1p  Gail Landis 
Former Managing Principal, 
Evercore Asset Management, LLC

ip  William Lyons 
Former President and Chief 
Executive Officer,  
American Century Companies, Inc.

  Joe Mansueto 
Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer, Morningstar, Inc.

1p  Jack Noonan 
Former Chairman, President  
and Chief Executive Officer,  
SPSS Inc.

  Don Phillips 
Managing Director, 
Morningstar, Inc. 

i1  Paul Sturm 
Private Investor

i1  Hugh Zentmyer 
Former Executive Vice President, 
Illinois Tool Works Inc.

1 Member of audit committee

p Member of compensation committee

i  Member of nominating/ 
governance committee

Executive Officers

Stéphane Biehler
Chief Financial Officer

Bevin Desmond
Head of Global Markets  
and Human Resources

Catherine Gillis Odelbo
Head of Corporate Strategy  
and Partnerships

Greg Goff
Chief Technology Officer

Thomas Idzorek
President, Morningstar  
Investment Management

Kunal Kapoor
Head of Information Products 
and Client Solutions

Haywood Kelly 
Head of Global Research

Joe Mansueto
Chairman and Chief  
Executive Officer

Richard E. Robbins
General Counsel and  
Corporate Secretary

James Tanner
Head of Global Business  
Development and Sales

David W. Williams
Head of Design and Marketing
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